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Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates

(Residential Mortgage Loans)
Principal and Interest payable on the 25th day of each month

The Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates ("Certificates”) are issued and guaran-
teed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation” or “Fannie Mae™), a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States, under the authority
contained in Section 304(d) of the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act (12 US.C.
1716 et seq.).

Each Certificate offered hereby and by the Supplement related hereto will represent an
undivided 1nterest in a pool of mortgage loans (a ‘"Pool”) to be formed by the Corporation. Each
Pool will consist of residential mortgage loans {“"Mortgage Loans”) either previously owned by
the Corporation or purchased by it in connection with thie formation of the Pool. Each Pool will

California Mortgage Loans, (v} other adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans, and (vi) fixed-rate
Mortgage Loans secured by muitifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling units, some of
which muitifamily Mortgage Loans may have balloon payments or other irregular features or
characteristies

Interests in each Pool will be evidenced by a separate issue of Certificates. Information
regarding the aggregate principal amount and characteristics of the related Pool (inciuding the
type of Mortgage Loans in the Pool} will be furnished in a Supplement to this Prospectus at the
time of the identification of the Pool.

Unless the related Supplement to this Prospectus provides otherwise, Certificates evidencing
undivided interests in Pools formed on or after May 1, 1985, and containing Mortgage Loans of
the type described in (i), (ii), (iv), or (v) above, will be available in book-entry form only.

The Corporation will have certain contractual servicing responsibilities with respect to each
Pool. In addition, the Corporation will be obligated to distribute scheduled monthly installments
of principal and interest (adjusted to reflect the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee) to

The date of this Prospectus is November 12, 1987
Retain this Prospectus for future reference This Prospectus may not be used to consummate sales of
Certificates unless accompanied by a Prospectus Supplement.



No salesman, dealer, bank or other person has been authorized to give any information or to
make any representation other than those contained in this Prospectus and, if given or made, such
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
Corporation. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy
any securities other than the Certificates offered hereby and by the related Supplement nor an offer
of the Certificates to any person in any state or other jurisdiction in which such offer would be

unlawful.
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS

The following summary of certain pertinent information is qualified 1n its entirety by
reference to the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus and by reference to
the information with respect to each pool of residential mortgage loans (“Mortgage Loans”)
contained in the supplement to this Prospectus (a “Prospectus Supplement™) to be prepared 1n
connection with the issue of Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates (the “Certifi-
cates”) evideneing undivided interests in such pool of Mortgage Loans ("Pool™).

Title of Security Guaranteed Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates,

Issuer and Guarantor Federal National Mortgage Association (the "Corporation”), a corpo-
ration organized and existing under the laws of the United States.
See "Federal Nationz] Mortgage Association” and the remainder of
the Prospectus following that section. The obligations of the
Corporation under its guaranty are obhgations solely of the Corpo-
ration and are not backed by, nor entitled to, the full faith and
credit of the United States,

Description of Security Each Certificate will represent a fractional undivided interest in a
Pool of Mortgage Loans to be formed by the Corporation. A
Certificate in definitive form will initially represent at least $25,000
unpaid prinecipal amount of Mortgage Loans. A Certificate in book -
entry form will initially represent at least $1,000 unpaid principal
amount of Mortgage Loans. Unless the related Supplement to this
Prospectus provides otherwise, Certificates evidencing undivided
interests in Pools formed on or after May 1, 1985, and containing
Mortgage Loans of the type described in (i), (ii), ( iv) or (v) under
“The Mortgage Pools” below, will be available in book-entry form
only and will not be convertible to definitive form,

Interest Interest on each Mortgage Loan will be passed through monthly to
Certificateholders, commencing on the 25th day of the month
following the month of initial issuance of the related Certificates.
For all Pools containing fixed-rate Mortgage Loans ("Fixed-Rate
Pools”), interest will he passed through at a uniform Pass- Through
Rate (or Accrual Rate in the case of Fixed-Rate Pools containing
graduated payment mortgage loans), which will be specified in the
Prospectus Supplement and, will not be greater than the lowest
annual interest rate borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related
Pool, less a specified mimmum annual percentage representing
compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty and
less, in the case of Fixed-Rate Pools containing graduated payment
Mortgage Loans, deferred interest, which is added to the principal
balances of the underlying Mortgage Loans. For Pools contaming
variable-rate Mortgage Loans ("VRM Pools”), interest will be
passed through on the basis of a Weighted Average Pass-Through
Rate, which is equal at any time to the then-current weighted
average of the Mortgage Interest Rates of all Mortgage Loans in
the related VRM Pool, less a specified fixed annual percentage
representing compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s
guaranty For Pools containing adjustable-rate Mortgage Loans
("ARM Pools”), interest will be passed through on each Mortgage
Loan at the interest rate at the time applicable thereto less (i) the
Corporation’s fixed servicing and guaranty fee applicable to such
Mortgage Loan and (11) any deferred interest that is added to the
principal balance of such Mortgage Loan pursuant to 1ts terms. See
“Yieid Considerations,”

Principal (including

prepayments) Passed through monthly, commencing on the 25th day of the month
following the month of initial issuance of the related Certificates.
See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions” and "Description of
Certificates ”’

Guaranty The Corporation is obligated to distrbute scheduled monthiy in-
stallments of principal and interest (adjusted to reflect the Corpo-
ration’s servicing and guaranty fee) on the Mortgage Loans 1n a

ool, whether or not received. The Corporation is also obligated to
distribute to Certificateholders the full principal balance of any
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Servicing

The Mortgage Pools

Financial Results

foreclosed Mortgage Loan, whether or not such principal balanece is
actually recovered. If the Corporation were unabie to perform these
guaranty obligations, distributions to Certificateholders would con-
sist solely of payments and other recoveries on Mortgage Loans
and, accordingly, delinquencies and defaults would affect monthly
distributions to Certificateholders. See “Description of Certifi-
cates—The Corporation’s Guaranty.”

The Corporation will be responsible for servicing the Mortgage Loans
and will, in most cases, contract with mortgage lenders to perform
certain servicing functions on its behalf. See "Description of
Certificates—Servicing Through Lenders ”

Each Pool will consist entirely of Mortgage Loans of only one of the
following types: (i} fixed-rate level installment Mortgage Loans,
(i1) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage Loans that provide for
scheduled annual increased payments, with the full amount of the
increase applied to principal, (iii) fixed-rate graduated payment
Mortgage Loans with deferred interest features, (iv) conventional
variable-rate California Mortgage Loans, (v) other adjustable-rate
Mortgage Loans, and (vi) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by
multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling units, some
of which multifamily Mortgage Loans may have balloon payments
or other 1rregular features or characteristics. The Mortgage Loans
in each Pool will have unpaid principal balances aggregating not
less than $1,000,000. Each Mortgage Loan will be secured by a first
lien on a residential property and each Mortgage Loan will meet
the applicable standards set forth under Purchase Program.” Pool
information as to the type of Mortgage Loans (including whether
such Mortgage Loans are conventional Mortgage Loans or are
insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by
the Veterans Administration), the aggregate principal balance of
the Mortgage Loans as of the Issue Date, the Pass-Through Rate
for Certificates evidencing interests in level installment Fixed-
Rate Pools, the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through
Rate for Certificates evidencing interests in VRM Pools, the Ac-
crual Rate for Certificates evidencing interests in graduated pay-
ment Fixed-Rate Pools,.and the latest maturity date of any
Mortgage Loan will be contained in the related Prospectus Supple-
ment. For a VRM Pogl or an ARM Pool, the related Prospectus
Supplement will also contain information respecting the index
upon which adjustments are based, the frequency of interest rate
and payment adjustments and any maximum or minimum limita-
tions thereon, the Corporation’s fixed guaranty and servicing fee,
and, in the case of an ARM Pool, whether the underlying Mortgage
Loans contain provisions for the deferral of interest.

Fannie Mae earned net inecome of $185 million for the first three
quarters of 1987, $183 million 1n 1986, $37 milhion in 1985, and had a
loss of $57 million 1n 1984. Lower interest rates and increased
earnings from guaranty and commitment fees contributed to
improved results for 1986 and 1985. The growth in net income for
the first three quarters of 1987 is attributable to increased net
interest income, guaranty fees, gains on sales of mortgages and
miscellaneous income. Net income in the first three quarters of
1987 was also positively impacted by a reduction 1n the effective tax
rate from 46 percent to 36 percent due to a reduction in corporate
tax rates and to tax-exempt earnings, primarily from morigage
revenue bonds Profitability was constrained by reduced com-
mitment fee income and by an increase 1n the provision for losses.
The Corporation’s net mortgage portfolio totaled $91 9 billhon at
September 30, 1987, compared with $§94.7 billion, $95 1 billion and
$84.6 billion at December 31, 1986, 1985 and 1984, respectively.
Mortgage-backed securities outstanding at September 30, 1987
grew to $130.5 billion from $87.2 hllion, $55.0 billion and $36.2
billon at December 31, 1986, 1985 and 1984, respectively. See
“Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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THE MORTGAGE POOLS

The Federal National Mortgage Association (the “Corporation”) has implemented a program
for (a) the setting aside of residential mortgage loans (the “Mortgage Loans”) into separate
pools (the "Pools”) bearing distinctive identification and (b) the 1ssuance and sale of trust
certificates of beneficial interest evidencing pro rata undivided ownership interests in the
Mortgage Loans comprising each separate Pool (the "Guaranteed Pass-Through Certificates” or
"“Certificates”). The Mortgage Loans may be purchased by the Corporation expressty for the Pools
or may be Mortgage Loans that have been held by the Corporation in its own portfolio. Each Pool
will consist of Mortgage Loans evidenced by promissory notes (the "Mortgage Notes”) secured by
first mortgages or deeds of trust (the "Mortgages”) on either one- to four-family (also referred
to as “single-family”) residential properties or muitifamily projects consisting of five or more
dwelling units (the "Mortgaged Properties”). A Pool will contain Mortgage Loans of only one of
the following types: (i) fixed-rate level payment Mortgage Loans (“Level Payment Mortgage
Loans”), (ii) fixed-rate growing equity Mortgage Loans that provide for scheduled annual
increased payments, with the full amount of the increase applied to principal (“"GEMs"), (iii)
fixed-rate graduated payment Mortgage Loans with deferred interest features ( "GPMs"), (iv)
conventional variable-rate California Mortgage Loans {("VRMs"), (v) other adjustable-rate
Mortgage Loans ("ARMs”}, and (vi) fixed-rate Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects
consisting of five or more dwelling units (“Multifamily Mortgage Loans”), some of which
Multifamily Mortgage Loans may have balloon payments or other irregular features or charac-
teristics. The Mortgage Loans may be either conventional Mortgage Loans (i.e., not insured or
guaranteed by any United States government agency) or Mortgage Loans that are either
insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the Veterans Administration
(“Conventional Mortgage Loans” and “FHA/VA Mortgage Loans,” respectively). The Mortgage
Loans purchased expressly for the Pools will be sold to the Corporation by eligible institutions that
meet certain requirements set forth under “Purchase Program’ and are referred to herein as
“Lenders.” No Pool will consist of Mortgage Loans having an aggregate unpaid principal balance
of less than $1,000,000 on the first day of the month of issuance of the related Certificates. See
“Purchase Program—Mortgage Loan Eligibility” for a deseription of certain criteria applicable to
the eligibility of Mortgage Loans for inclusion in Pools. .

Interests in each Pool will be evidenced by a separate series of Certificates (an "Issue”). The
Corporation will acquire the Mortgage Loans that it has purchased expressly for Pools under
purchase contracts By entering into such contracts, the Corporation will obligate itself to issue
Certificates to, or to the order of, the Lenders named in the contracts, upon delivery to the
Corporation of the required Mortgage Loans conforming to the Corporation’s standards. The
Corporation will not insure or guarantee the performance by any Lender of its obligation to deliver
Mortgage Loans and, correspondingly, does not insure or guarantee the performance by any person
of any obligation to deliver Certificates.

The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of fixed-rate Mortgage Loans other than GPMs will be held
for the benefit of the holders of Certificates ("Certificateholders” or "Holders"”) pursuant to the
combined terms of a trust indenture, as amended, executed by the Corporation in its corporate
capacity and in its capacity as Trustee (the Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 1981, as
modified and amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 15, 1982, a Second
Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 1, 1982, a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of
August 1, 1983, a Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1984, a Fifth Supplemental
Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, a Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1985, a
Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 1986, and an Eighth Supplemental
Indenture dated as of January 1, 1987, being herein called the “Fixed-Rate Trust Indenture”),
and a supplement thereto for the related Issue (the “Issue Supplement”). The Mortgage Loans in
each Pool of VRMs will be held for the benefit of Certificateholders pursuant to the combined
terms of an Issue Supplement and a Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1982, as modified and
amended by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 1, 1983, a Second Suppiemen-
tal Indenture dated as of September 1, 1984, a Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of
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February 1, 1985, a Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 1985, and a Fifth
Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 1987, each executed by the Corporation in its
corporate capacity and in its capacity as Trustee (such Trust Indenture, as amended, being
hereinafter called the “VRM Trust Indenture”) The Mortgage Loans in each Pool of GPMs and
ARMs will be held for the benefit of the Certificateholders pursuant to the combined terms of an
Issue Supplement and a Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, as modified and amended by a
First Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 1987 (the "GPM Trust Indenture”) and a
Trust Indenture dated as of July 1, 1984, as modified and amended by a First Supplemental
Indenture dated as of May 1, 1985, and a Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1,
1987 (the "ARM Trust Indenture”), respectively, each executed by the Corporation in its
corporate capacity and in its capacity as Trustee. The Fixed-Rate Trust Indenture, the VRM
Trust Indenture, the GPM Trust Indenture, and the ARM Trust Indenture are herein, collec-
tively, referred to as the "Trust Indenture” or “TI” where common terms and provisions are being
referred to or described. Certain capitalized words or series of words in this Prospectus refer to
and are further defined in the Trust Indenture. The Corporation will be responsible for the
administration and servicing of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool, including the supervision of the
servicing activities of Lenders, if appropriate, the collection and receipt of payments from
Lenders, and the remittance of distributions and certain reports to Certificateholders. The
Corporation will be entitled to receive a fee for its guaranty obligations and its services pursuant
to the Trust Indenture. The fee to the Corporation for any Mortgage Loan (out of which it will
compensate Lenders for servicing the Mortgage Loans) will, as to any Pool containing fixed-rate
Mortgage Loans (a “Fixed-Rate Pool”), be equal to the difference between the annual interest
rate borne by the Mortgage Loan and the annual rate of interest paid to Certificateholders at the
Pass-Through Rate for the related Fixed-Rate Pool or the Accrual Rate for Fixed-Rate Pools
containing GPMs (a "GPM Pool”). For any Pool containing ARMs or VRMs (an "ARM Pool” or
“VRM Pool”), the Corporation will similarly compensate itself from interest payments on the
underlying ARMs or VRMs in an amount, as to each ARM or VRM Pool, determinable from
information 1n the related Prospectus Supplement. The Corporation will reserve the right to
remove the servicing responsibility from a Lender at any time if it considers such removal to be in
the best interest of Certificateholders In such event, the Corporation will meet its obligation to
provide servieing either by directly servicing thg Mortgage Loans itself or by finding a
replacement Lender.

The Corporation’s obligations with respect to the Mortgage Loans will be limited to the
servicing responsibilities under the Trust Indenture, and, in the event of any delinguency in
payment or loss on any Mortgage Loan, its obligation to make supplemental payments in amounts
described herein under "Description of Certificates—The Corporation’s Guaranty.”

Because the principal amount of the Mortgage Loans in a Pool will decline (with the
exception of Fixed-Rate Pools containing GPMs and certain ARM Pools that contain ARMs
providing for deferred interest) monthly as principal payments, including prepayments, are
received, each Certificate Principal Balance (defined as to any Certificate to be the principal
amount of Mortgage Loans in the related Pool evidenced thereby) will also decline over time. See
“"Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.”

YIELD CONSIDERATIONS

Effect of Delay

The effective yield to Certificateholders in all Pools will be reduced slightly below the yield
otherwise produced by the applicable Pass-Through Rate, Accrual Rate or Weighted Average
Pass-Through Rate because the distribution of interest that accrues from the first day of each
month will not be made until the 25th day of the month following the month of accrual.
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Fixed-Rate Pools Not Containing GPMs

Each Fixed-Rate Pool not containing GPMs will consist of Mortgage Loans that bear simple
interest at fixed annual rates ("Mortgage Interest Rates”). Such a Fixed-Rate Pool may include
Mortgage Loans that bear different Mortgage Interest Rates. The Pass-Through Rate of interest
payable to Certificateholders of each such Issue will be equal to the lowest Mortgage Interest Rate
borne by any Mortgage Loan in the related Pool, less a specified minimum annual percentage
representing compensation for servicing and the Corporation’s guaranty. Because the Pass-
Through Rate for an Issue will not be greater than the lowest Mortgage Interest Rate for the
related Pool, any disproportionate principal prepayments among Mortgage Loans bearing
different Mortgage Interest Rates will not affect the return to Certificateholders.

When a Mortgage Loan is prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment
or liquidation will, unless the Corporation elects in its discretion to make any distribution thereof
1n the following month, be passed through to Certificateholders in the second month following the
month of such prepayment or other liquidation. Because the Corporation agrees to distribute on
each Distribution Date to each Certificateholder an amount as to interest representing one
month’s interest at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance, any prepayment
or other liquidation of a Mortgage Loan and the timing of the distribution of the proceeds thereof
will have no effect on the interest return to Certificateholders.

Assuming performance by the Corporation of its obligations under its guaranty, the net
effect of each distribution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certificateholder of
an amount that is equal to one month’s interest at the Pass-Through Rate on the Certificate
Principal Balance of such Holder’s Certificate. See "Description of Certificates—Payments on
Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Certificates.”

GPM Pools

A GPM Pool will consist of fixed-rate fully amortizing Mortgage Loans providing for
monthly payments that increase annually for a period of years (generally between three to
seven) and are level thereafter. During all or part of the period in which monthiy payments are
increasing, those payments will not be sufficient to covér the full amount of interest on the GPM
at the Mortgage Interest Rate borne thereby. The amount of each such interest insufficiency will
be added to the principal balance of the GPM, which will accrue interest thereafter on this new

increased amount,

GPM Pools will have characteristics similar to Fixed-Rate Pools described above commencing
with the time at which payments are sufficient to cover interest on the principal balances of the
underlying GPMs Prior to that time, the Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools will
provide for the monthly distribution of the scheduled interest payment on each Mortgage Loan in
the Pool less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee attributable thereto, the amount of any
such fee being equal to the difference between the fixed Mortgage Interest Rate at which interest
acerues on the GPM and the Accrual Rate borne by the related Certificates.

The Prospectus Supplement relating to a GPM Pool will set forth the period over which
payments on the GPMs increase.

The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in GPM Pools will cover the
principal amount of each underlying GPM, including any portion thereof representing deferred
interest. The Corporation will, following the period (the "“Deferred Interest Period”) during
which such payments are insufficient to cover interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate on their
then-outstanding prineipal balances, including deferred interest that has been added thereto,
also be obligated to distribute on each Distribution Date one month’s interest at the Accrual Rate
on the then-outstanding prineipal balances of the underlying GPMs. During the Deferred
Interest Period, the Corporation’s guaranty will cover, as to each underlying GPM, the amount of
each scheduled payment less the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee applicable thereto.
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VRM Pools

A VRM Pool will be composed of California home Mortgage Loans which bear interest at
rates that will vary in response to a cost of funds index published by the Federal Home Loan Bank
of San Francisco, as deseribed in the Prospectus Supplement. The interest rates will be adjusted
pertodically at uniform specified intervals. The Prospectus Supplement to be prepared with
respect to each Issue will specify the fixed annual percentage servicing fee or “Spread” (out of
which the Corporation will compensate Lenders) that the Corporation will retain from interest
payments on Mortgage Loans in the related Pool. The resultant interest rate, equal as to each
Mortgage Loan to the related Mortgage Interest Rate less this fixed percentage servicing fee, is
the "Pass-Through Rate” for that Mortgage Loan. The Corporation has agreed in the VRM Trust
Indenture to pass through payments of interest on the Mortgage Loans in a Pool, whether or not
received, in an amount equal to one month’s interest at the then-current weighted average of the
Pass-Through Rates of all Mortgage Loans 1n that Pool (the "Weighted Average Pass-Through
Rate”) multiplied by the Certificate Principal Balance as of the preceding Distribution Date {or,
respecting the initial distribution, as of the Issue Date). The Weighted Average Pass-Through
Rate as of the Issue Date as well as informatjon regarding the original indexes, the initial
Mortgage Interest Rates and the then-current Mortgage Interest Rates of all Mortgage Loans in
a VRM Pool will also be set forth in the Prospectus Supplement. This Weighted Average Pass-
Through Rate will change with any changes in the underlying Mortgage Interest Rates and as
disproportionate payments of principal are made on Mortgage Loans bearing different Mortgage

Interest Rates.

When a Mortgage Loan is prepaid or otherwise liquidated, the proceeds of such prepayment
or liquidation will, unless the Corporation elects in its discretion to make any distribution thereof
in the following month, be passed through to Certificateholders in the second month after such
prepayment or other liqmdation Since the Corporation wili agree in each Certificate to distribute
on each Distribution Date to the Holder thereof an amount as to interest representing one
month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate on the related
Certificate Prineipal Balance, any prepayment or other liquidation of a Mortgage Loan and the
timing of the distribution of the proceeds thereof will have no effect on the interest return to

Cert:ficateholders. .

Assuming performance by the Corporation of its obligations under its guaranty, the net
effect of each distribution respecting interest will be the pass-through to each Certificateholder of
an amount which is equal to one month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-
Through Rate on the Certificate Principal Balance of such Holder’s Certificate. See “Description
of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Certificates

ARM Pools

An ARM Pool will contain Mortgage Loans that bear interest at rates that will vary in
response to a single specified index (such as then-prevailing yields on five-year Treasury
obligations) and will adjust periodically at uniform specified intervals. The actual Mortgage
Interest Rate at any time borne by an ARM will be equal to a specified percentage, or Margin,
over the index rate then applicable thereto. ARMs may or may not contain provisions limiting the
amount by which rates may be adjusted upward or downward and may or may not limit the
amount by which monthly payments may be 1ncreased or decreased to accommodate upward or
downward adjustments in interest. Certain ARMs may provide for periodic adjustments of
scheduled payments in order to fully amortize the Mortgage Loan by its stated maturity while
other ARMs may permit that maturity to be extended or shortened in aeccordance with the
portion of each payment that is applied to interest in accordance with the periodic interest rate

adjustments

Where an ARM provides for limitations on the amount by which monthly payments may be
tncreased or changes to the Mortgage Interest Rate of the ARM are made more frequently than
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payment changes, it is possible that an increase in the rate of interest cannot be covered by the
amount of the scheduled payment. In that case, the uncollected portion of interest will be
deferred and added to the principal balance of the Mortgage Loan.

Since the interest rates borne by Mortgage Loans in an ARM Pool will vary and since a
portion of the interest accrued thereon may be deferred and payable at a future time, Certificates
evidencing interests in such Pools will not provide for the distribution of interest at a fixed Pass.-
Through Rate. Rather, each Certificate issued with respect to an ARM Pool will provide for the
monthly pass-through of all interest payable on each Mortgage Loan in the Pool less the
Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee. In some ARM Pools, the Corporation’s servicing and

percentage amount as to each such ARM that, when subtracted from the related Margin, will
cause each ARM in the ARM Pool to float above the applicable index at a single uniform “security
spread” (the “Security Spread”). Asa result, for such an ARM Pool, the rate at which interest
accrues to Certificateholders (the “Accrual Rate”) at any time (other than the period immedi-
ately following origination during which an initial rate having no relationship to the index may
apply or during a period when a Mortgage Interest Rate minimum or maximum is applicable) on
each Mortgage Loan included therein will be equal to the then-applicable index plus the Security

Spread.

The Prospectus Supplement relating to an ARM Pool will contain information respecting the
index upon which adjustments are based, the Security Spread, if any, the frequency of interest
rate and payment adjustments and any maximum and minimum limitations thereon. The
Prospectus Supplement will also describe any provisions for deferred interest and will, to the
extent applicable, set forth the original rates of interest borne by the underlying Mortgage

Loans

The Corporation’s guaranty of Certificates evidencing interests in ARM Pools will cover the
principal of each underlying Mortgage Loan, including any portion thereof representing
deferred interest, Its guaranty of interest will cover all interest due and payable by the
mortgagor {net of the Corporation’s servicing and guaranty fee) The Corporation will also agree
to add to the amount of interest accompanying the prepayment of an underlying Mortgage Loan
any amount by which such interest is less than one month’s interest at the Accrual Rate on the
prepaid principal balance thereof. Asa consequence, the timing of the prepayment of 3 Mortgage
Loan will have no effect on the interest return to Certificatehoiders.

MATURITY AND PREPAYMENT ASSUMPTIONS

The original maturities of substantially all of the Conventional Level Payment Mortgage
Loans are expected to be between either 8 to 15 years or 20 to 30 years The maturities of
substantially all of the FHA/VA Level Payment Mortgage Loans at origination are expected to
be 30 years. Each Level Payment Mortgage Loan with an original maturity of 30 years will
provide for amortization of principal aceording to a schedule that, in the absence of prepayments,
would result in repayment of one-haif of the original principal amount of such Mortgage Loan by
approximately the 23rd to 27th year, with higher Mortgage Interest Rates resulting in slower
amortization of principal A 15-year fully amortizing Level Payment Mortgage Loan would, 1n
the absence of prepayments, result in repayment of one-half of the original principal amount by
approximately the 10th to 12th year, with higher Mortgage Interest Rates resulting in slower

amortization of principal

A significant number of the Conventional Mortgage Loans may provide by their terms that
in the event of the sale of all or some of the underlying property the full unpaid principal balance
of the Mortgage Loan 1s due and payable at the option of the holder. FHA/VA Mortgage Loans
contain no such “due-on-sale” provisions, As set forth under “Description of Certifi-
cates—Collection and Other Servicing Procedures,” the Trust Indenture requires the Corporation

A-9



to exercise its right to accelerate the maturity of a Conventional Mortgage Loan other than a
VRM in such an event so long as acceleration is permitted under applicable law unless it elects to

repurchase such Mortgage Loan.

The ability of mortgage lenders and their assignees and transferees to enforce “due-on-sale”
clauses was addressed by the “Garn-St Germain Depository Institutions Act of 1982, which was
passed by Congress and signed into law on October 15, 1982. This legislation, subject to certain
exceptions, pre-empts state statutory and case law that prohibits the enforcement of "due-on-
sale” clauses Exempted from this pre-emption are mortgage loans (originated other than by
federally chartered lenders) that were made or assumed during the period beginning on the date
a state, by statute or statewide court decision, prohibited the exercise of *due-on-sale” clauses
and ending on October 15, 1982 (the "window period”). Mortgage lenders, however, may require
any successor or transferee of the borrower to meet customary credit standards. The exemption
for such loans ended on October 15, 1985 unless the state acted to otherwise regulate these loans
by that date. Several states passed legislation extending the assumability of the mortgage loans
that were made or assumed during the window period. In the case of those states, the
enforceability of “due-on-sale’ clauses in loans made or assumed during the window period is
limited by the provisions of the applicable state legislation. The federal legislation also enumer-
ates nine circumstances under which a lender may not enforce "“due-on-sale” clauses, e.g., the
creation of a subordinate encumbrance that does not relate to a transfer of rights of occupancy in
the property, a transfer by devise, descent, or operation of law on the death of a joint tenant or
tenant by the entirety, and the granting of a leasehold interest of three years or less not
containing an option to purchase.

Conventional Mortgage Loans purchased by the Corporation from November 10, 1980, to
October 15, 1982, in jurisdictions where, on the date of origination, the law substantially
restricted lenders from enforcing “due-on-sale”’ provisions may provide that they are due and
payable at the holder’s option at the end of seven years. As described in “Description of
Certificates—Collection and Other Servicing Procedures,” the Trust Indenture provides that the
Corporation will exercise or refrain from exercising any such "call option rider” in a manner that
1s consistent with then-current policies or practice's employed by the Corporation respecting

comparable mortgage loans held in its own portfoljo.

Past experience of the Federal Housing Administration ("FHA") relating to government-
insured single-family mortgage loans at various interest rates with original maturities of 26 to 30
years 1ndicates that, while some of such mortgage loans remain outstanding until the scheduled
maturity, a pool of 30-year FHA-insured single-family mortgage loans will produce an average
joan life of 12 years A 12-year prepayment assumption is the industry norm for quoting yields
on 30-year single-family mortgage loans and is used 1n generally accepted yield tables. FHA
data also indicate that for a pool of 15-year single-family mortgage loans a 7-year average loan
life is produced

There can be no assurance that the rate of prepayment will conform to past FHA experience.
Based upon published information and the Corporation’s own experience, the rate of prepayments
on 30-year single-family loans has fluctuated significantly in recent years. For example, the table
under “Business—Mortgage Loan Portfolio-—Mortgage Loan Portfolio Statistics” shows that the
Jevel of principal repayments as a percentage of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio in 1983
through 1956 reflects a substantial increase from the unusually low level of 1982. In 1986 and the
first nine months of 1987, the $19.6 billion and $12.8 billion, respectively, 1n mortgage repayments
(exclusive of foreclosures) that the Corporation received included approximately $17.5 billion and
$11.3 billion, respectively, for mortgages that were prepaid.

In an environment of declining interest rates, lenders servicing mortgage loans often are
asked by mortgagors to refinance the mortgage loans through issuance of new loans secured by
mortgages on the same properties. The resultant prepayments, if they involve Mortgage Loans in
Pools, result 1n the distribution to Certificateholders of the principal balances of the prepaid
Mortgage Loans and their removal from the Pools. Under the Corporation’s current policy,

A-10



Lenders servicing Mortgage Loans are permitted to advertise in a general manner their
availability to handle refinancings, although they may not specifically target mortgagors whose
Mortgage Loans are in MBS Pools The Corporation does not, however, permit Lenders to remove
Mortgage Loans from Pools for the purpose of Mortgage Loan modifications.

In general, when the level of interest rates declines significantly below the interest rates on
mortgage loans, the rate of prepayment is likely to increase, although the prepayment rate is
influenced by a number of other factors, ineluding general economie conditions and homeowner
mobility Accordingly, the Corporation cannot estimate what the prepayment experience of the
Mortgage Loans in Pools will be or how it might compare with the FHA 12-year prepayment
assumption respecting insured mortgage loans. See also "Description of Certificates—
Termination” for a description of the Corporation’s option to repurchase the Mortgage Loans 1n
any Pool when the aggregate principal balance thereof becomes less than 10 percent of the
aggregate principal balance of the Mortgage Loans in the Pool on the Issue Date.

A GEM provides for scheduled annual increases in the mortgagor’s monthly payments
Because the additional scheduled portion of the monthly payments is applied to reduce the unpaid
principal balance of a GEM, the scheduled maturity of a GEM will be significantly shorter than
the 25- or 30-year term used as the basis for calculating the initial level installment of principal
and interest applicable until the first adjustment. No GEM that matures by its terms more than
15 years subsequent to the Issue Date of the related Certificates will be eligible for inclusion in a

Pool.

As set forth above under “Yield Considerations,” GPMs provide for payments that increase
annually for a period of years (generally between three and seven) and then amortize on a level
payment basis to their stated maturity. Because the principal amount of a GPM will increase
during its Deferred Interest Period, the time at which one-half of the prinecipal amount of 2 GPM
will be paid 1n accordance with its amortization schedule will be longer than for a Level Payment
Mortgage Loan bearing a similar Mortgage Interest Rate. The maturities of substantially all
VRMs at origination are expected to be 30 years, but the maturity of each Mortgage Loan may at
the option of the mortgagor be increased to a term not in excess of 40 years in the event of certain
Increases in the Mortgage Interest Rate. ARMs vary substantially as to their terms and it is
impossible to generahze other than that, because of their adjustable feature, ARMs may be less
subject to prepayment than fixed-rate Mortgage Loans should interest rates deeline below levels
prevailing at origination Because both GPMs and ARMs have not been originated 1n quantity
until recent periods, there are no reliable data available regarding their prepayment experience.

PURCHASE PROGRAM

Set forth below is a description of certain aspects of the Corporation’s purchase program for
mortgage loans eligible for inclusion 1n a Pool (the “Program”). The Prospectus Supplement to be
prepared with respect to each Issue will contain information on the Mortgage Loans in the Pool,
including information as to the type of Mortgage Loans, the aggregate principa! balance of the
Mortgage Loans as of the Issue Date, for Fixed-Rate Pools the Pass-Through Rate or Accrual
Rate, whichever is applicable, for VRM Pools the initial V'eighted Average Pass-Through Rate,
and the latest maturity date of any Mortgage Loan.

Lender Eligibility

The Corporation will purchase Mortgage Loans from eligible federally and state-chartered
savings and loan assocations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks, credit unions, and similar
financial institutions, the deposits or accounts of which are insured by the Federal Savings and
Loan Insurance Corporation (“"FSLIC”), the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC™), or
the National Credit Union Administration ("NCUA"), from certain other state-insured financial
institutions and from certain institutions, principally mortgage bankers, that are mortgage
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sellers approved by the Corporation. The Corporation, on an individual institution basis, will
determine whether such institutions will be approved as Lenders for the Program by applying
certain criteria, which may include depth of mortgage origination experienece, servicing ex-
perience, and financial capacity Approved Lenders will be party with the Corporation to a
Mortgage Selling and Servicing Contract.

Mortgage Loan Eligibility
General

The Mortgage Loans to be included in each Pool will be Mortgage Loans on residential
properties. Each Mortgage Loan purchased for inclusion in a Pool will be subject to and must
comply with the terms of the current Selling and Servicing Guide applicable to the Program
unless Fannie Mae grants an exception with respect to certain requirements. These Mortgage
Loans are permanent loans (as opposed to construction and land development loans) secured by
Mortgages on properties comprised of (i) single-family dwelling units, including units in
condominium projects, planned unit developments, and de minimis planned unit developments or
(ii) multifamily projects consisting of five or more dwelling units. The Prospectus Supplement to
be prepared with respect to each Issue backed by Multifamily Mortgage Loans will describe the
eligibility criteria for such loans, which will differ in certain respects from the criteria deseribed
below. Each Mortgage Loan will be documented by the appropriate FNMA/FHLMC Uniform
Instrument in effect at the time of origination, or an FHA or VA mortgage instrument or other
mstrument acceptable to the Corporation, and will comply with all applicable federal and local
laws, including laws relating to usury, equal credit opportunity, and disclosure.

There is no requirement that Mortgage Loans be payable on the first day of the month in
order to be eligible for inclusion in a Pool. The Mortgage Loans must have had maturities of not
more than 30 years from their date of origination, although VRMs can be extended to 40 years at
the option of the mortgagor in the event of certain increases in the Mortgage Interest Rates.

Conventional Mortgage Loans

Pursuant to the requirements of the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide, Conventional
Mortgage Loans must be real estate loans secured by first Mortgages on residential properties,
with original principal balances that (when combined with the original principal balance of any
second mortgage in which the Corporation has an interest) did not exceed certain federally
imposed maximum principal balance limitations applicable to the Corporation. In 1987, the
maximum dollar purchase limitations for Conventional Mortgage Loans are as follows: $153,100
for mortgages secured by one-family residences ($229,650 1n Alaska and Hawaii); $195,850 for
mortgages secured by two-family residences ($293,775 in Alaska and Hawaii); $236,650 for
mortgages secured by three-family residences ($354,975 in Alaska and Hawaii); and $294,150 for
mortgages secured by four-family residences ($441,225 in Alaska and Hawaii).

No Conventional Mortgage Loan with a loan-to-value ratio in excess of 95 percent will be
included in any Pool. Conventional Mortgage Loans with loan-to-value ratios exceeding 80
percent must have the principal amount of the indebtedness in excess of 75 percent of the
appraised value of the Mortgaged Property insured by a policy of primary mortgage guaranty
insurance Each mortgage insurer must be licensed to transact a mortgage guaranty insurance
business 1m the state where the Mortgaged Property is located and be acceptable to the
Corporation as a mortgage insurer. As an alternative to the requirement to obtain mortgage
insurance for Conventional Mortgage Loans with loan-to-value ratios in excess of 80 percent,
Lenders may contract with the Corporation to repurchase such Conventional Mortgage Loans at a
price equal to the unpaid principal balance thereof in the event of default before the loan-to-
value ratio has been reduced to 80 percent of the original value.

The maximum loan-to-value ratio at the time of purchase for a Conventional Mortgage Loan
secured by a first Mortgage on an owner-occupied property including the unpaid principal
balances of all subordinate financing 1s 95 percent. In the case of a Conventional Mortgage Loan
secured by a first Mortgage on a non-owner-occupied property, the maximum loan-to-value ratio
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including the unpaid principal balances of all subordinate financing is 90 percent. The maximum
loan-to-value ratio for Mortgage Loans secured by non-owner oceupied properties is generaliy 80
percent but may vary based on the Corporation’s evaluation of the age of a Mortgage Loan and its
experience with the Lender from whom it purchases such Mortgage Loan.

Pursuant to the requirements of the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide, each Lender that sells
a Conventional Mortgage Loan to the Corporation for the purposes of the Program must assume
responsibility for underwriting such Conventional Mortgage Loan using the same underwriting
criteria, as from time to time in effect, that must be met by mortgage loans eligible for Fannie
Mae portfolio purchases. After delivery of the Conventional Mortgage Loans, the Corporation
will conduet reviews of the quality of credit and property underwriting used in the origination of
certain randomly selected Conventional Mortgage Loans.

FHA/VA Mortgage Loans

Pursuant to the requirements of the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide, FHA/VA Mortgage
Loans must be real estate loans with stated constant annual rates of interest, secured by first
Mortgages on residential properties. The principal balance and loan-to-value ratio of each FHA
Mortgage Loan must comply with the standards established by the FHA. In the case of VA
Mortgage Loans, the Corporation has imposed a maximum principal balance limitation of
$135,000. In addition, the unguaranteed portion of the VA Mortgage Loan amount cannot be
greater than 75 percent of the lesser of (i) the purchase price of the property or (11) the VA’s
estimate of reasonable value. Each FHA/VA Mortgage Loan must be insured or guaranteed by a
valid and subsisting policy or guaranty in full force and effect. On April 15, 1986, Fannie Mae
announced that it would allow newly originated and seasoned FHA/VA Mortgage Loans to be
ineluded in MBS Poois. Prior to that date, each FHA/VA Mortgage Loan had to be originated at
least 12 months preceding the Corporation’s purchase of the Mortgage Loan for inclusion in a

Pool.

DESCRIPTION OF CERTIFICATES

Each Issue of Certificates will be issued pursuant to the applicable Trust Indenture described
above. The applicable Trust Indenture will, as to each Issue, be supplemented by an Issue
Supplement, which will be prepared at the time of the creation of such Issue. The Issue
Supplement will set forth the specific terms of the Issue, such as the Pass-Through Rate applicable
thereto in the case of Fixed-Rate Pools (other than those containing GPMs) and the Issue Date.
The Issue Supplement will also contain any variation from the basic Trust Indenture applicable to
a particular Issue, any such variation also being described in the Prospectus Supplement relating
to such Issue. As set forth under "Legal Opinion,” the validity of each Issue of Certificates, the
Trust Indenture, and the applicable Issue Supplement will be passed upon by the General Counsel
of the Corporation upon the request of any Holder of Certificates of such Issue.

Mortgage Loans not previously held in the Corporation’s portfolio will be purchased pursuant
to a Pool Purchase Contract for cash or in exchange for Certificates in the related Pool. Such
Mortgage Loans will be serviced by one of the Corporation-approved Lenders, normally the same
entity as the loan originator, pursuant to the terms of the Pool Purchase Contract, as
supplemented by the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide, which is incorporated therein by
reference Copies of the Trust Indenture and the Pool Purchase Contract, together with the
Selling and Servicing Guide, may be obtained from the Corporation’s Washington, D C. office, or
from any of the Corporation’s regional offices in Philadelphia, Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, and Los

Angeles.

The following summaries describe certain provisions of the Trust Indenture. These summaries
do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and qualified 1n their entirety by reference to,
the more complete provisions of the Trust Indenture.
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General

The Certificates will represent Fractional Undivided Interests in the Trust Fund created
pursuant to the Trust Indenture and Issue Supplement for each Issue. The Fractional Undivided
Interest represented by a particular Certificate will be equal to the 1nitial principal denomination
of such Certificate set forth on the face thereof (or, if in book-entry form, entered on the books of
a Federal Reserve Bank) divided by the aggregate Stated Principal Balance™ of the Mortgage
Loans in the Pool (the "Pool Principal Balance™) as of the Issue Date. The Trust Fund for an Issue
consists of (i) such Mortgage Loans as from time to time are subject to the Trust Indenture and
Issue Supplement, (ii} such payments or other recoveries on Mortgage Loans as from time to time
may be considered to be held by the Corporation for Certificateholders, (iii) property acquired by
foreclosure of Mortgage Loans or by deed in lieu of foreclosure, and (iv) the interest of
Certificateholders in the obligation of the Corporation to supplement payments and other
recoveries on Mortgage Loans to the extent necessary to make required distributions to
Certaficateholders.

Unless the related Supplement to this Prospectus provides otherwise, Certificates evidencing
undivided interests in Pools formed on or after May 1, 1985, (other than Pools containing GPMs
or Mortgage Loans secured by multifamily projects) will be available in book-entry form only and
will not be convertible to defimitive form. A Fiscal Agency Agreement between the Corporation
and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York makes generally applicable to Certificates in book-
entry form (i) regulations governing the Corporation’s use of the book-entry system, contained
in 24 C.F R. Part 81, Subpart E, (ii) such procedures, insofar as applicable, as may from time to
time be established by regulations of the United States Department of the Treasury governing
United States securities, as now set forth in Treasury Department Circular Number 300, 31 C.F.R.
Part 306 (other than Subpart O), and (iii) the Federa! Reserve Bank’s operating circulars and
letters Certificates in book-entry form can be accommodated on the Federal Reserve Bank’s
Look-entry system 1n a minimum denomination of $1,000 and 1n additional increments of one
dollar and will be freely transferable on the records pf a Federal Reserve Bank.

Certificates will be maintained on the book-entry system of a Federal Reserve Bank in a
manner that permits separate trading and ownership. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York
will make paymerts on the Certificates on behalf of Fannie Mae on the applicable Distribution
Dates by crediting accounts on its records or on the records of other Federal Reserve Banks.
Certificates 1n book-entry form may be held of record only by entities eligible to maintain book-
entry accounts with a Federal Reserve Bank. Such entities are not necessarily the beneficial
owners of the Certificates. Beneficial owners will ordinarily hold Certificates through one or more
financia! intermediaries, such as banks, brokerage firms and securities clearing organizations. A
Certificateholder that is not the beneficial owner of a Certificate, and each other financial
intermediary 1n the chain to the beneficial owner, will have the responsibility of establishing and
maintaining accounts for its respective customers The rights of the beneficial owner of a
Certificate with respect to Fannie Mae and the Federal Reserve Bank may be exercised only
through the financial intermediaries thereof. Fannie Mae and the Federal Reserve Bank will
have no direct obligation to a beneficial owner of a Certificate that is not also the owner of record
according to the account maintained by the Federal Reserve Bank The Federal Reserve Bank
will act only upon the instructions of the record owner in recording transfers of a Certificate.

(1} All references herein to the Stated Principal Balance of a Mortgage Loan or to the
aggregate Stated Principal Balance of all Mortgage Loansina Pool are to the principal balance or
aggregate principal balance, as the case may be, utilized by the Corporation in calculating the
then-outstanding principal balances of Certificates Such Stated Principal Balances may differ
from actual principal balances for a number of reasons, including supplemental payments by the
Corporation on delinquent Mortgage Loans pursuant to 1ts guaranty obligations and delays in the
distribution of certain Mortgage Loan receipts.
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In the event Certificates are 1ssued in fully registered form, such Certificates may only be
issued in initial principal denominations of not less than $25,000 and integral multiples of $5,000
in excess of $25,000, with the exception of one odd denomination that may be issued for each Pool.
(TI Section 7.01) Certificates issued in fully registered form will be freely transferable and
exchangeable at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. A service charge may be imposed for
any exchange or registration of transfer of Certificates issued in fully registered form, and the
Corporation may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental
charge. (TI Section 7.02)

Distributions of principal and interest on each Issue of Certificates will be made by the
Corporation on the 25th day of each month (the "Distribution Date”) to the persons in whose
names the Certificates are entered on the books of a Federal Reserve Bank (or registered in the
Certificate Register in the case of fully registered Certificates) as of the close of business on the
last day of the preceding month (the "Record Date”). The first distribution for each Issue of
Certificates will be in the month following the month in which the Issue Date occurs. Dis-
tributions for each Issue will be made by wire (or by check in the case of fully registered
Certificates) to the person entitled thereto as it appears on the Certificate not later than the 25th
day of each month; provided, however, that the final distribution in retirement of fully registered
Certificates of any Issue will be made only upon presentation and surrender of the Certificates at
the office or agency of the Corporation specified in the notice to Certificateholders of such final

distribution.

As described under “Rights Upon Event of Default,” Holders of Certificates will have the
right under certain circumstances to appoint a successor Trustee.

Transfer of Mortgage Loans to Pools

Each Mortgage Loan transferred to a Pool will be identified in a Mortgage Loan Schedule
appearing as an exhibit to the Issue Supplement for the related Issue of Certificates. In addition,
the Corporation, as Trustee of the Mortgage Loans, will retain on behalf of Certificateholders the
original Mortgage Note, endorsed in blank, and an assignment to the Corporation of the
mortgage instrument. Usually assignments are in a form suitable for recording but they are not
recorded. However, a blanket assignment may be used for the transfer of a large number of
Mortgage Loans, even if the properties are not located in the same recording jurisdiction,
depending on the Lender’s servicing experience and its financial condition. At its option, the
Corporation may choose to maintain such documents either with a custodian nstitution (the
Lender or another institution) whose deposits or accounts are insured by the FDIC, FSLIC, or a
state agency or with a subsidiary of the Lender. The Corporation will review the Mortgage Loan
Schedule prior to the 1ssnance of the Certificates and will conduct random spot checks to confirm
the sufficiency of the documents after issuance of the Certificates.

Although the above procedures are intended to protect the interests of the Holders of
Certificates in the Mortgage Loans in the related Pool, the law applicable to a liquidation,
reorganization, or similar proceeding involving the assets of a Lender or of the Corporation is
unclear and as a result no opinion can be rendered as to the status of Certificateholders’ interests
in the event of any such proceeding. The Corporation’s guaranty would, however, by its terms be
available in the event of any sueh proceeding involving the assets of a Lender.

Servicing Through Lenders

Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, the Corporation is responsible for servicing and adminis-
tering the Mortgage Loans but, in its discretion, is permitted to contract with the originator of
each Mortgage Loan, or another eligible servicing institution, to perform such functions under
the supervision of the Corporation as more fully described herein. Any servicing contract or
arrangement by the Corporation with a Lender for the direct servicing of Mortgage Loans is a
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contract solely between the Corporation and that Lender, and the Certificateholders are not
deemed to be parties thereto and have no claims, rights, obligations, duties, or liabilities with
respect to such Lender. (TI Section 5.01)

Lenders will be obligated pursuant to the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide to perform
diligently all services and duties customary to the servicing of mortgages, as well as those
specifically prescribed by the MBS Selling and Servicing Guide. The Corporation will monitor the
Lender’s performance and has the right to remove any Lender for cause at any time it considers
such removal to be in the best interest of Certificateholders. The duties performed by Lenders
include general loan servicing responsibilities, collection and remittance of principal and interest
payments, administration of mortgage escrow accounts, collection of insurance claims, and, if
necessary, foreclosure.

The Corporation retains as to each Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loan the difference in interest
between the annual Mortgage Interest Rate borne by the Mortgage Loan and the Pass-Through
Rate or Accrual Rate on the Certificates. For example, if a Mortgage Loan with a 12.25 percent
Mortgage Interest Rate is included in a Pool against which a Certificate with an 11.25 percent
Pass-Through Rate is issued, the Corporation would be entitled to receive total compensation of
one percent per annum on the Mortgage Loan. For VRMs, the Corporation will retain from
Interest payments a fixed annual servicing fee, or “Spread,” as described under "VRM Pools”
above. For ARMs, the Corporation will retain an amount equal to the percentage Spread
applicable thereto applied to the outstanding principal balance as increased by any deferred
interest that has been included therein. See "Yield Considerations.” The Corporation is also
entitled to retain prepayment fees, late charges, assumption fees, and similar charges to the
extent they are collected from borrowers, The Corporation will compensate Lenders in an amount
up to, but never exceeding, the amount of interest retention described above, less a prescribed
minimum amount to be retained by the Corporation for itself in consideration of its guaranty
obligations and servicing responsibilities.

Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on Cerfificates

On the 25th day of each month (beginning with the month following the month of the Issue
Date), the Corporation will, respecting each Issue, distribute to Certificateholders an amount
equal to the total of (i) the principal due on the Mortgage Loans in the related Pool during the
period beginning on the second day of the month prior to the month of such distribution and
ending on the first day of such month of distribution (the "Due Period”), (ii) the Stated Principal
Balance of any such Mortgage Loan that was prepaid in full during the second month next
preceding the month of such distribution (including as prepaid for this purpose any Mortgage
Loan repurchased by the Corporation as described herein because of the Corporation’s election to
repurchase the Mortgage Loan after it is delinquent, in whole or in part, with respect to four
consecutive 1nstallments of principal and interest, or because of the Corporation’s election to
repurchase such Mortgage Loan under the circumstances described in the last paragraph under
*Collection and Other Servicing Procedures” below), (iii) the amount of any partial prepayment
of a Mortgage Loan received in the second month next preceding the month of distribution, and
(iv) in respect of all Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loans other than GPMs during their Deferred
Interest Period, one month’s interest at the Pass-Through Rate (or Accrual Rate in the case of
GPMs) on the Certificate Principal Balance as reported to Certificateholders in connection with
the previous distribution {or, respecting the first distribution, the Certificate Principal Balance on
the Issue Date). For purposes of distributions, a Mortgage Loan will be considered to have been
prepaid in full if, in the Corporation’s reasonable judgment, the full amount finally recoverable on
account of such Mortgage Loan has been received, whether or not such full amount is equal to the
Stated Principal Balance of the Mortgage Loan. The Corporation may, in its discretion, include
with any distribution principal prepayments, both full and partial, received during the month
prior to the month of distribution but is under no obligation to do so.
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For each GPM during its Deferred Interest Period and each ARM, the Corporation will, on
each monthly Distribution Date, distribute an amount as to interest equal to the amount of
interest payable on such Mortgage Loan during the applicable Due Period (which will, in the case
of GPMs during their Deferred Interest Period, and may, in the case of ARMs having deferred
interest features, be less than one month’s interest at the Mortgage Interest Rate) less the
amount retained by the Corporation as described under “Servicing Through Lenders” above. For
each VRM Pool, the Corporation will, on each Distribution Date, distribute an amount as to
interest equal to one month’s interest at the then-current Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate
on the Certificate Principal Balance of each Certificate.

Distributions on any Distribution Date will be made to Certificateholders of record on the
prior Record Date (the close of business on the last day of the immediately preceding month).
Each Certificateholder will be entitled to receive an amount equal to the total amount distributed
muitiplied by the Fractional Undivided Interest evidenced by such Holder’s Certificate.

The Corporation’s Guaranty

The Corporation’s obligation described above to distribute amounts representing scheduled
principal and interest, whether or not received, and its obligation to distribute the full principal
amount of any foreclosed or otherwise finally liquidated Mortgage Loan, whether or not such
principal amount is actually recovered, constitute the Corporation’s guaranty obligations in
respect of the Certificates. If the Corporation were unable to perform such obligations,
distributions to Certificateholders would consist solely of payments and other recoveries on
Mortgage Loans and, accordingly, delinquencies and defaults would affect monthly distributions

to Certificateholders.

Reports to Certificateholders

With respect to each distribution, the Corporation will cause to be forwarded to each
Certificateholder with respect to all Certificates held by such Certificateholder in each Pool, a
statement setting forth, to the extent applicable, the following information:

(i) the amount, if any, due on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date on
account of total scheduled and unscheduled principhl (including any Deferred Interest);

(ii) the amount due on such Certificates on the related Distribution Date on account of
interest;

(iii) the total of the cash distribution on such Certificates on the related Distribution
Date;

(1v) the Certificate Principal Balances of such Certificates on the related Distribution

Date after giving effect to any distribution of principal made on such date and to any
Deferred Interest added to the principal balances of the underlying Mortgage Loans during

the preceding Due Period;

(v) the total amount of any Deferred Interest that was added to the principal balances of
the underlying Mortgage Loans during the preceding Due Period;

(vi) the amount, if any, of (i) above that is allocable to Deferred Interest;
(vii) the amount, if any, of (iv) above that is allocable to Deferred Interest,

(viii) for VRM Pools, the Weighted Average Pass-Through Rate apphicable to such
Distribution Date; and

(ix) for ARM Pools, the Accrual Rate applicable to such Distribution Date (or, in the
event the underlying Mortgage Loans have different Accrual Rates, the approximate
weighted average Accrual Rate).
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Within a reasonable period of time after the end of each calendar year, the Corporation wiil
furnish to each Person who at any time during the calendar year was a Certificateholder a
statement containing the information set forth in items (1), (i), (v}, and (vi) above, in summary
form for such calendar year, or for any portion thereof during which such Person was a

Certificateholder.

Servicing Compensation and Payment of Certain Expenses by the Corporation

As compensation for its activities and obligations under the Trust Indenture, the Corporation
will be entitled to retain the amounts applicable to interest that are not requirecs to be distributed
to Certificateholders as desceribed above. In addition, the Corporation is entitled to retain any
amounts by which the proceeds of the liquidation of a Mortgage Loan exceed (i) the Stated
Principal Balance of that Mortgage Loan and (ii) interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate in
the case of a Fixed-Rate Mortgage Loan (other than a GPM) or a VRM or interest thereon at the
Accrual Rate 1n the case of a GPM or an ARM. The Corporation will pay all expenses incurred by
it 1n connection with 1ts servicing activities, including, without limitation, the fees to Lenders,
and is not entitled to reimbursement therefor out of the Trust Fund.

Additional servicing compensation in the form of prepayment charges, assumption fees, late
payment charges, or otherwise will be retained by the Corporation.

Collection and Other Servicing Procedures

The Corporation is responsible for servicing the Mortgage Loans in each Pool and may, as set
forth above, conduet such servicing through Lenders or through other Corporation-approved
mortgage servicers. In connection with its servicing activities, the Corporation has full power
and authority to do or cause to be done any and all things as it may deem Tecessary or appropriate
in 1ts sole discretion, including the foreclosure or comparable conversion of a defaulted Mortgage
Loan. In lieu of undertaking any such foreclosure, the Corporation may, in its discretion and
without obligation, repurchase from the Trust Fund any Mortgage Loan that is delinquent, in
whole or in part, as to four consecutive mstallments of principal and interest The purchase price
will be equal to the Stated Principal Balance of the delinquent Mortgage Loan together with
accrued interest at the Pass-Through Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the case of a GPM or an ARM)
and will be distributed to Certificateholders in the $ame manner as full prepayments of Mortgage
Loans. See "Description of Certificates—Payments on Mortgage Loans; Distributions on
Certificates.” (TI Sections 5.01 and 5.03)

With respect to each Mortgage Loan in a Pool, the Lender makes certain warranties to the
Corporation concerning such matters as the recordation of the original Mortgage, the validity of
the Mortgage Loan as a first lien on the Mortgaged Property, and compliance by such Mortgage
Loan with applicable state and federal laws. In the event of a material breach of any such
warranty or a material defect in the Mortgage Loan documentation, the Corporation may
withdraw such Mortgage Loan from the Trust Fund at a price equal to its Stated Principal
Balance together with interest thereon at the Pass-Through Rate (or the Accrual Rate in the case
of a GPM or an ARM). Alternatively, the Corporation may, at its option, for all Pools other than
Pools containing Multifamily Mortgage Loans, substitute a new Mortgage Loan for a defective
Mortgage Loan; provided, however, that no such substitution may take place more than two years
subsequent to the date of the original issue of the related Certificates, and any such substitute
Mortgage Loan must satisfy certain eligibility criteria designed to assure that the nature of the
Pool will not be altered by any such substitution. Any amount by which the Stated Principal
Balance of the defective Mortgage Loan exceeds the principal balance of the substitute Mortgage
Loan (the substitute Mortgage Loan may not be larger than the Mortgage Loan it 1s replacing)
will be passed through to Certificateholders.

Subject to the following paragraph and to the extent consistent with then-current polieies of
the Corporation respecting mortgage loans held in its own portfolio, the Corporation in its
discretion may enforce or walive enforcement of any of the terms of any Mortgage Loan or enter
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into an agreement for the modification of any of the terms of any Mortgage Loan, or take any
action or refrain from taking any action 1n servicing any Mortgage Loan. In such connection, the
Corporation may waive any prepayment charge, assumption fee, or late payment charge or may
exercise or refrain from exercising any “ecall option rider”’; provided, however, that any decision to
exercise or refrain from exercising any "eall option rider” must be consistent with then-current
policies or practices employed by the Corporation respecting comparable mortgage loans held in
its own portfolio and must be without consideration of the ownership status of the related

Mortgage Loan.

In the VRM Trust Indenture, the Corporation agrees that any decision as to whether or not
(i) to increase a Mortgage Interest Rate (where any such increase is permitted by the terms of
such Mortgage Loan and by applicable law) or (i) to shorten the maturity of any Mortgage Note,
will be made 1 accordanee with the then-current practice of the related Lender respecting
similar Mortgage Notes and without consideration of the ownership status of the related
Mortgage Note. If the Corporation 1s then directly servicing a VRM, it will increase the related
Mortgage Interest Rate and shorten the maturity whenever any such change is permitted by the
terms of such Mortgage Loan and by applicable law. Any adjustment downward by reason of a
decrease in the applicable index is mandatory. See the Prospectus Supplement for eriteria and
procedures governing changes in Mortgage Interest Rates.

In connection with the transfer or prospective transfer of title to a Mortgaged Property
(other than a Mortgaged Property securing a VRM), the Corporation is obligated to accelerate
the maturity of the related Mortgage Loan where that Mortgage Loan contains a “due-on-sale”
clause permitting acceleration under those conditions unless the Corporation is restricted by law
from enforcing the “due-on-sale” clause or the Corporation elects to withdraw such Mortgage
Loan from the Pool. In the case of 2 VRM, the Corporation will enforce or refrain from enforcing
any “due-on-sale” clause in the related Mortgage Note in accordance with the then-current
practice of the related Lender without consideration of the ownership status of the Mortgage
Note If the Corporatior 1s then directly servicing the Mortgage Loan, it will enforce the “due-
on-sale” clause unless such enforcement 1s prohibited by law or the Corporation elects to withdraw
such Mortgage Loan from the Pool See “Maturity and Prepayment Assumptions.”

In the event that, for any reason, the Corporation ie not obligated to accelerate the maturity
of a Conventional Mortgage Loan upon the transfer, or prospective transfer, of title to the
underlying Mortgaged Property, the Corporation may enter into a transaction by which the
obligor is released from liability on the related Mortgage Loan and the transferee assumes such
liability; provided, however, that no such transaction shall (i) be entered into which would not
have been entered into had the Mortgage Loan been held in the Corporation’s own portfolio, (ii)
provide for reduction of the Mortgage Interest Rate or, 1n the case of any ARM, provide for any
change in any interest rate adjustment provision or provision governing the calculation of
scheduled payments if any such change would be adverse to the 1nterests of Certificateholders, or
(iii) in the case of any VRM, provide for any change in the original index applicable thereto.

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may repurchase from the related Pool, at
a price equal to the Stated Principal Balance thereof plus accrued interest thereon at the
applicable Pass-Through Rate (or the applicable Accrual Rate in the case of a GPM or an ARM),
any Mortgage Loan respecting which the underlying Mortgaged Property is transferred, or
proposed to be transferred, under circumstances permitting the Corporation to accelerate the
maturity of such Mortgage Loan pursuant to the terms of any “due-on-sale” clause contained

therein.

Certain Matters Regarding the Corporation

The Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation may not resign from 1ts obligations and
duties thereunder, except upon determination that those duties are nc longer permissibie under
applicable law. No such resignation will become effective until a successor has assumed the
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Corporation’s obligations and duties under the Trust Indenture; provided, however, that no
successor will succeed to the Corporation’s guaranty obligations described above, the Corporation
continuing to be responsible thereunder notwithstanding any termination of its other duties and
responsibilities under the Trust Indenture. In the event that the Corporation is unable to fulfill
its continuing guaranty obligations, the Trust Indenture may be modified to provide for monthly
distributions to be made from then-available Mortgage Loan payments and other recoveries in a
manner similar to practices and procedures followed in the servicing of whole loans for
institutional investors (TI Section 9.01)

The Trust Indenture also provides that neither the Corporation nor any director, officer,
employee, or agent of the Corporation will be under any liability to the Trust Fund or to
Certificateholders for any action taken, or for refraining from the taking of any action, in good
faith pursuant to such Trust Indenture or for errors in judgment; provided, however, that neither
the Corporation nor any such person will be protected against any hability that would otherwise
be imposed by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith, or gross negligence or by reason of willful
disregard of obligations and duties.

In addition, the Trust Indenture provides that the Corporation is not under any obligation to
appear in, prosecute, or defend any legal action that is not incidental to its responsibilities under
the Trust Indenture and that in its opinion may involve it in any expense or Hability. The
Corporation may, however, in its discretion undertake any such legal action that it may deem
necessary or desirable in the interests of the Certificateholders. In such event, the legal expenses
and costs of such action and any liability resulting therefrom will be expenses, costs, and liabilities
of the Corporation that will not be reimbursable to the Corporation out of the Trust Fund. (TI

Section 8.02)

Any corporation into which the Corporation may be merged or consolidated, or any
corporation resulting from any merger, conversion, or consolidation to which the Corporation is a
party, or any corporation succeeding to the business of the Corporation, will be the successor of
the Corporation under the terms of the Trust Indenture. (TI Section 9.02)

-

Events of Default

Events of Default under the Trust Indenture will consist of (i) any failure by the Corporation
to distribute to Certificateholders any required payment that continues unremedied for 15 days
after the giving of written notice of such failure to the Corporation by the Holders of Certificates
evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not Jess than five percent of the related
Trust Fund; (ii) any failure by the Corporation duly to observe or perform in any material respect
any other of its covenants or agreements in the Trust Indenture which failure continues
unremedied for 60 days after the giving of written notice of such failure to the Corporation by
the Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than
25 percent of the related Trust Fund; and (iii) certain events of insolvency, readjustment of debt,
marshalling of assets and liabilities, or similar proceedings and certain actions by or against the
Corporation indicating its insolvency, reorganization, or inahility to pay its obligations. (TI

Section 9.03)

Rights Upon Event of Default

As long as an Event of Default under the Trust Indenture for any Issue remains unremedied,
the Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than
25 percent of the related Trust Fund may, in writing, terminate all of the obligations and duties
of the Corporation as Trustee and in its corporate capacity under the Trust Indenture in respect
of such Issue (other than its guaranty obligations deseribed above which continue notwithstand-
ing any such termination) and name and appoint, in writing, a successor to succeed to all such
responsibihities, duties, and obligations of the Corporation thereunder (other than the Corpo-
ration’s guaranty obligations) and to the legal title to the Mortgage Loans held in such Trust

Fund. (TI Section 9.03)
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Amendment

The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as it relates to any Issue without the
consent of or notice to any of the Certificateholders, for one or more of the following purposes: (i)
to add to the covenants of the Corporation; (ii) to evidence the succession of another party or
parties to the Corporation and the assumption by such successor or successors of the obligations of
the Corporation thereunder in its corporate capacity or in its capacity as Trustee or in both such
capacities; (iii) to eliminate any right reserved to or conferred upon the Corporation in its
corporate capacity; (iv) to make provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or correcting
or supplementing any provision in the Trust Indenture or any Issue Supplement, provided such
provisions do not adversely affect the interests of any Certificateholder; or (v) to modify the Trust
Indenture under the circumstances and for the purposes set forth in the final sentence of the first
paragraph under “Certain Matters Regarding the Corporation” above. (TI Section 11.01)

The Corporation may amend the Trust Indenture as it relates to any Issue with the consent of
the Holders of Certificates evidencing Fractional Undivided Interests aggregating not less than
66 percent of the related Trust Fund so as to waive compliance by the Corporation with any terms
of the Trust Indenture or related Issue Supplement, or to allow the Corporation to eliminate,
change, add to, or modify the terms of the Trust Indenture or Issue Suppiement. However, no
such waiver or amendment may, without the consent of all Certificateholders, terminate or
modify the guaranty obligations of the Corporation or reduce the percentages of Certificates the
Holders of which are required to consent to any waiver or amendments. In addition, no waiver or
amendment shall, without the consent of each Certificateholder affected thereby, reduce in any
manner the amount of, or delay the timing of, payments received on Mortgage Loans that are
required to be distributed on any Certificate. (TI Section 11.02)

Termination

The Trust Indenture as it relates to each Issue terminates upon the final payment or
liquidation of the last Mortgage Loan remaining in the related Pool and distribution of all
proceeds thereof. The Trust Indenture as it relates to each Issue will terminate also upon
repurchase by the Corporation, at its option, of all remaining Mortgage Loans in the related Pool
at a price equal to 100 percent of the Stated Principal Balance of each such Mortgage Loan
together with one month'’s interest thereon at the PasstThrough Rate (or, in the case of 2 VRM
Pool, one month’s interest on the Stated Principal Balance at the Weighted Average Pass-
Through Rate, or, in the case of a GPM Pool or an ARM Pool, one month’s interest on the Stated
Principal Balance of each GPM or ARM, as the case may be, at the applicable Acerual Rate). (TI
Section 10.01) The exercise of such option will effect early retirement of the Certificates of that
Issue, but the Corporation’s right to repurchase is eonditioned upon the Pool Principal Balanece at
the time of repurchase being less than ten percent of the Poo! Principal Balance on the Issue Date,
In addition, the Corporation has stated that it will be its policy not to exercise any such option in
respect of any Pool if (i) 1t has knowledge that any related Certificate has been pledged to secure
an issue of cash flow obligations or is included in a pool underlying an issue of cash fow obligations
and (ii) the exercise of such option would take place prior to the earliest date upon which the
issuer of such cash flow obligations or the sponsor of such Pool can exercise an option to redeem
such obligations or purchase such Certificates without premium. In no event, however, will the
trust relating to each Pool as created by the Trust Indenture continue beyond the expiration of 21
years from the death of the last survivor of the persons named in the Trust Indenture. For each
Issue, the Corporation will give written notice of termination of the Trust Indenture as it relates
to such Issue to each affected Certificateholder, and the final distribution will be made to the
person entitled thereto; provided, however, that the final distribution for fully registered
Certificates will be made only upon surrender and cancellation of the Certificates at an office of
the Corporation specified in the notice of termination. (TI Section 10.01)
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FEDERAL TAX ASPECTS

This 15 a discussion of certain federal income tax consequences to persons purchasing
Certificates The discussion does not purport to deal with all aspects of federal taxation that may
be relevant to particular investors. Prospective investors are advised to consuit their own tax
advisors regarding the federal income tax consequences of holding and disposing of Certificates
as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state or other taxing jurisdiction.

The discussion below reflects the changes effected by the Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the "Tax
Reform Act”) Owners are advised to consult their own tax advisors concerning the impact of the
Tax Reform Act on their holding of Certificates. For example, the Tax Reform Act generally
eliminated the preferential rate for long-term capital gains for taxable years beginning after
1987. The Tax Reform Act does not, however, eliminate all distinctions between ordinary income

and capital gains.

Revenue Ruling 84-10, 1984.1 C.B. 155, sets forth certain federal income tax consequences
relating to insestments in the Certificates issued with respect to a Pool. Pursuant to Revenue
Ruling 84-10, 2 Pool will not be classified as an association taxable as a corporation, but will be
classified as a trust of which the beneficial owners of the Certificates {the “"Owners’) are the
owners under Subpart E of Part I of Subchapter J of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”) Each Owner will be treated as the owner of a pro rata undivided interest in the
ordinary 1ncome and corpus of the trust attributable to that particular Pool and will be considered
to be the equitable owner of a pro rata undivided interest in each of the Mortgage Loans included
therein, subject to the discussion below concerning a possible recharacterization of a portion of the
servicing fee.

Accordingly, Owners of a particular series will be required to report on their federal income
tax returns, consistent with their methods of accounting, their pro rata share of the entire income
from the Mortgage Loans in that particular Pool, including interest, prepayment penalties,
assumption fees and late payment charges attributable to the Mortgage Loans in the Pool, plus
any amount paid by the Corporation as interest under its guaranty. Owners will be entitled to
deduet their pro rata share of the servicing fee paid fo the Corporation, as provided in section 162
or section 212 of the Code, consistent with thei'r methods of accounting and subject to the
discussions below,

The Tax Reform Act limits the deduction for an Owner’s share of the Corporation’s servicing
fee in the case of (1) estates and trusts, and (ii) individuals owning an interest in a Certificate
directly or through an investment in a “pass-through entity” (other than in connection with such
individual’'s trade or business) Pass-through entities include partnerships, S corporations,
grantor trusts, and mutual funds but do not include estates, nongrantor trusts, cooperatives and
real estate investment trusts Generally, such deduction, when aggregated with certain of the
Owner’s other miscellaneous itemized deductions, is allowable only to the extent that such
aggregate amount exceeds 2 percent of the Owner’s adjusted gross income. Adjusted gross
imcome for an estate or nongrantor trust is to be computed in the same manner as in the case of
an individual except that deductions for administrative expenses of the estate or trust that would
not have been incurred 1f the property were not held in such trust or estate are treated as
allowable 1n arriving at adjusted gross income,

Owners must also report as ordinary 1ncome their pro rata share of any original 1ssue discount
on each of the Mortgage Loans 1n a manner consistent with their methods of accounting unless
the special rules of section 1272 of the Code apply. If the special rules of section 1272 of the Code
do apply Owners may be required to include their share of any original issue discount in income
before the receipt of cash attributable to that income regardless of their methods of accounting
The special rules of section 1272 of the Code will not apply with respect to Mortgage Loans
originated before March 2, 1984 if the mortgagors of such Mortgage Loans were natural persons,
but may apply with respect to Mortgage Loans to mortgagors who are natural persons if the
Mortgage Loans are oniginated on or after March 2, 1984.
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Under proposed regulations recently issued by the Treasury Department, certain arrange-
ments in connection with the origination of the Mortgage Loans, such as the charging of points,
may give rise to original issue discount subject to the special rules of section 1272 of the Code. In
the case of mortgage loans originated after May 8, 1986, the proposed regulations provide that
lenders that made the mortgage loans give notice of original issue discount on such mortgage
loans at the time they sell them to the Corporation. The Corporation will report annually to
holders of record their share of such original issue discount. However, the Owner’s share of any
criginal issue discount is income to the Owner regardless of whether it is reported to the

Corporation by the Lender.

With respect to any undivided interest in a Mortgage Loan purchased at a premium, an
Owner will be entitled to a deduction for amortization under the rules of section 171 of the Code
under an economic accrual method if the Mortgage Loan was originated after September 27, 1985.
For Mortgage Loans originated before September 28, 1985, an Owner will be entitled to a
deduction for premium amortization under section 171 only if the mortgagor is not an individual
and the other conditions for the application of that section prior to its amendment by the 1986
Act are met. If section 171 is 1napplicable, such a premium may result in the inclusion by the
Owner of a lesser amount of original issue discount under the special rules of section 1272 of the

Code.

Owners are advised to consult with their tax advisors as to whether premium or discount
results from the acquisition of Certificates. Such premium might be deductible only upon sale or
final distribution in respect of the Certificates, and then only as a capital loss,

The Internal Revenue Service also ruled in Revenue Ruling 84-10 as follows:

1. A Certificate owned by a domestic building and loan association is considered as
representing “loans secured by an interest in real property” within the meaning of section
7701(2) (19) (C)(v) of the Code, provided the real property underlying the Mortgages is (or,
from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property described 1n
that seetion of the Code.

2. A Certificate is considered as representing “qualifying real property loans” within the
meaning of section 593(d) of the Code, provided the real property underlying the Mortgages
is (or, from the proceeds of the Mortgage Loans, will become) the type of real property
described 1n that section of the Code. Thus, a Certificate owned by a domestic building and
loan association or any other thrift institution described in section 593(a) of the Code will
represent “quahfying real property loans” within the meaning of section 593(d) of the Code,
provided the real property underlying the Mortgages is {or, from the proceeds of the
Mortgage Loans, wiil become) the type of real property described in that section of the Code.

3. A Certificate owned by a real estate investment trust is considered as representing
"“real estate assets” within the meaning of section 856(c)(5)(A) of the Code, and the interest
income is considered "interest on obligations secured by mortgages on real property” within
the meaning of section 856(c)(3)(B) of the Code.

Although these rulings do not specifically refer to Mortgage Loans involving interest rate
buydown accounts, the conclusions reflected in paragraphs 1 and 2 should be generally applicable
to an Owner’s investment in a Mortgage Loan secured by an interest rate buydown account that
conforms with the requirements of the Corporation’s MBS Selling and Servicing Guide (“Buy-
down Mortgage Loan"), and which does not represent an account with the Owner, since the fair
market value of the real property securing each Buydown Mortgage Loan would have exceeded
the amount of such Buydown Mortgage Loan at the time it was made. Owners and their tax
advisors are advised to review section 1.593-11(d) of the Treasury Regulations and to compare
Revenue Ruling 81-203, 1981-2 C.B. 137. In the case of the rulings referred to in paragraph 3, an
investment in a Buydown Mortgage Loan by a real estate investment trust should also be treated
In its entirety as a “real estate asset” within the meaning of section 856(c¢) (5)(A) of the Code if
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the fair market value of the real property securing the Buydown Mortgage Loan equals or exceeds
the principal amount of such Buydown Mortgage Loan at the time the real estate investment
trust makes a commitment to acquire a Certificate. This eonclusion is supported by Treasury
Regulation section 1.856-5(c}(1)(1), which specifies that if a mortgage loan is secured by both
real property and by other property and the value of the real property alone equais or exceeds the
amount of the loan, then all interest income will be treated as “interest on obligations secured by
mortgages on real property” within the meaning of section 856(c)(3)( B) of the Code. Since
there are no directly applicable precedents with respect to the federal income tax treatment of
investments in Buydown Mortgage Loans, Owners should consult with their tax advisors
concerning such tax treatment,

In general, for purposes of sections 1276 and 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s interest in a
Mortgage Loan will be considered to be acquired at a market discount if the face amount of such
interest exceeds the Owner’s basis in such interest. Pursuant to section 1276 of the Code, an
Owner will be required to include as ordinary income, with respect to any Mortgage Loan
originated after July 18, 1984 that is acquired at a market discount, (i) any partial prinecipal
payment on such Mortgage Loan to the extent such payment does not exceed the accrued market
discount (as defined in section 1276 of the Code) on such Mortgage Loan, and (ii} gain realized on
the disposition of such Mortgage Loan or of such Owner’s Certificate representing an interest in
such Mortgage Loan that is attributable to acerued market discount on such Mortgage Loan to
the extent not previously included as ordinary income under section 1276 of the Code. Pursuant to
section 1277 of the Code, an Owner’s deduction for interest paid or acerued to purchase or carry a
Certificate that represents Mortgage Loans acquired (by virtue of the acquisition of the
Certificate) at a market discount after J uly 18, 1984 may have to be deferred to the extent such
interest is attributed under section 1277 of the Code to the portion of such market discount that
accrued during the taxable year. A deduction for such deferred interest or a portion thereof will,
in general, be allowed only when such Mortgage Loans are disposed of or when an Owner disposes
of its Certificate. Although the matter is not free from doubt, such a deduction should also be
allowed to the extent that such market discount is included in ordinary income by virtue of a
partial principal payment. Any gain recognized upon a disposition of a Mortgage Loan
originated on or before July 18, 1984 or of a Certificate representing an interest in such Mortgage
Loan will have to be recognized as ordinary income to the extent of the deferred interest
deduction The Treasury Department has not vet issued regulations implementing the market
discount rules, and Owners should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these
rules as well as the advisahility of making any elections relating to such rules,

On October 29, 1987, the House of Representatives passed H.R. 3545 (the “"House bill”}.
Section 10118 of the House bill, if ultimately enacted in its present form, would add a new section
1277A to the Code that would require the inclusion in income of market discount on all
Certificates acquired at a market discount after October 13, 1987, as such discount acerues. In
general, because of the rules described in the preceding paragraph regarding partial principal
payments, it would not appear that this provision of the House bill would significantiy alter the
timing of inclusion in income of market discount on such Certificates.

The Revenue Bill of 1987, adopted by the Senate Finance Committee on October 16, 1987,
contains no provision comparable to section 10118 of the House bill. It is not possible to predict
whether a provision mandating the current inclusion of market discount will be enacted into law
or, if it is enacted, what the final form or effective date of such legislation will be. Prospective
purchasers of Certificates should consult their own tax advisors regarding the specific con-
sequences to them of the enactment of any such legislation.

Owners are advised to consult with their tax advisors as to the possibility that the Mortgage
Loans could be treated by the Internal Revenue Service as a collection of “stripped bonds” and
“'stripped coupons” within the meaning of section 1286 of the Code. A debt obligation becomes a
“stripped bond” within the meaning of section 1226 of the Code when the ownership of the right
to receive some or all of the interest payments thereon is separated from the ownership of the
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right to receive some or all of the principal. Interest payments with respect to a stripped bond are
“stripped coupons” within the meaning of section 1286 of the Code The Mortgage Loans could be
treated as a collection of “stripped bonds” and “stripped coupons” if the Corporation’s servicing
fee applicable to a particular Pool were considered by the Internal Revenue Service to exceed
reasonable compensation for the services performed and the “excess” portion of such fee were
recharacterized as a separate, retained right to receive a portien of the interest payments to be
made by mortgagors pursuant to the Mortgage Loans. If the Mortgage Loans were so treated,
one consequence may be, in effect, to require the current accrual of market discount and permit
the curtent deduction of premium on the Mortgage Loans (to the extent not otherwise allowahle
under section 171). Another consequence, if they are so treated, would be that the “excess”
portion of such fee would be excluded from the income of the Owners of Certificates and thus
would not be subject to the limitations on the deductibility of miscellaneous itemized deductions
added to the Code by the Tax Reform Act (discussed above), However, absent Treasury
regulations, it is not clear what the applicable rules would be. There are also other possible ways to
characterize the “excess” portion of a servicing fee. For example, it is possible that the Internal
Revenue Service would recharacterize such a portion as additional purchase price paid under a
deferred payment obligation incurred by an Owner at the time such Owner purchased its
Certificate representing its individual interest in the Mortgage Loans. In this event, the Owner’s
initial deduetions could be less than the deductions that would have been allowed if the portion of
the servicing fee had not been so recharacterized.

The Corporation will furnish to each holder of record with each distribution a statement
setting forth the amount of such distribution allocable to principal and to interest. In addition,
the Corporation will furnish or make available, within a reasonable time after the end of each
calendar vear, to each holder who at any time during such year received a distribution from the
Corporation, a statement setting forth such holder’s pro rata share of interest received and
administrative expense for such calendar year.

Payments of interest and principal, as well as payments of proceeds from the sale of
Certificates, may be subject to the “backup withholding” tax under section 3406 of the Code at a
rate of 20 percent if the recipient of such a payment is not an "exempt recipient” and fails to
furnish certain information, including its taxpayer identification number, to the Corporation or
its agent, or otherwise fails to establish an exemption frbm such tax. Any amounts deducted and
withheld from such a payment would be allowed as a credit against the Owner’s federal income
tax. Furthermore, certain penalties may be imposed by the Internal Revenue Service on a holder
or Owner who 1s required to supply information but who does not do so in the proper manner.

Payments made to, or on behalf of, an Owner who is not a U.8. Person (a "Non-U.3. Person”)
on a Certificate that represents an undivided interest in a Pool of Mortgage Loans all of which
were issued after July 18, 1984 generally will be exempt from U.S. federal income and
withholding taxes, provided the following conditions are satisfied: (a) such Owner does not hold
the Certificate in connection with the conduct by such person of a trade or business in the United
States, (b) the Owner is not, with respect to the United States, a personal holding company or a
corporation that accumulates earnings in order to avoid U.S. federal income tax, (c) the Owner is
not a U.S. expatriate or former U.S resident who is taxable in the manner provided in section
877(b) of the Code, {d) the Owner is not an “excluded person” (i e., a 10 percent shareholder of
the Corporation within the meaning of section 871(h}(3) (B) of the Code or a "controlled foreign
corporation” related to the Corporation within the meaning of section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code),
(e) the Owner signs a statement under penalties of perjury that certifies that it is a Non-U.S.
Person or, in the case of an individual, that the Owner is neither a citizen nor resident of the
United States, and provides the name and address of the Owner and (f) the last U.S. Person in
the chain of payment to the Owner (the “Withholding Agent”) receives such non-U.S. beneficial
ownership statement from the Owner or a financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner
and does not have actual knowledge that such statement is false. That portion of interest income
of an Owner who is a Non-U.S. Person on a Certificate that represents an interest in one or more
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Mortgage Loans issued before July 19, 1984 will be subject to a U.S. withholding tax at the rate of
30 percent or lower treaty rate, if applicable. Regardless of the date of issuance of the Mortgage
Loans, backup withholding will not apply to payments made to an Owner that is such a Non-U.S

Person if the Owner or a financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner provides the non-
U.S. beneficial ownership statement to the Withholding Agent.

The non-U.S beneficial ownership statement referred to in the preceding paragraph may be
made on an Internal Revenue Service Form W-8 or substantially similar substitute form. The
Owner or financial institution holding on behalf of the Owner must inform the Withholding
Agent of any change in the information on the statement within 30 days of such change. In ali
cases, the Form W-8 or substitute form must be filed by the Withholding Agent with the Internal
Revenue Service. "U.S. Person” means a citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation,
partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any
political subdivision thereof, or an estate or trust that is subject to U.S. federal income tax
regardless of the source of its income.

LEGAL OPINION

Any purchaser of Certificates will be furnished upon request an opinion by Caryl S. Bernstein,
Esq., Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary of the Corporation, as to the
validity of the Certificates, the applicable Trust Indenture, and the relevant Issue Supplement.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The Department of Labor issued a final regulation on November 13, 1986, which provides that
in the case where an employee benefit plan (“plan”) subject to the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA") acquires a “guaranteed governmental mortgage pool certificate”
then, for purposes of the fiduciary responsibilify provisions of ERISA and the prohibited
transaction provisions of the Code, the plan’s agsets include the certificate and all of its rights
with respect to such certificate under applicable law, but do not, solely by reason of the plan’s
holding of such certificate, inciude any of the mortgages underlying such certificate. Under the
regulation, the term "guaranteed governmental mortgage pool certificate” is specifically defined
to include a certificate “backed by, or evidencing an interest in specified morigages or
participation interests therein” and with respect to which interest and principal payable
pursuant to the certificate are guaranteed by the Corporation. The effect of such regulation is to
make clear that the sponsor (that is, the entity that organizes and services the pool, in this case
the Corporation), the trustee, and other persons, in providing services with respect to the
mortgages in the pool, would not be subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of Title I of
ERISA, nor be subject to the prohibited transaction provisions of section 4975 of the Code, merely
by reason of the plan’s investment in a certificate. The Corporation has been advised by its
counsel, Brown & Wood, that, on the basis of the final regulation and class exemptions previously
issued by the Department of Labor, the acquisition from the Corporation and holding of the
Certificates by plans are not prohibited either by ERISA or related provisions of the Code.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

The Corporation is a federally chartered and stockholder-owned corporation organized and
existing under the Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act, 12 U.S.C. 1716 et seq (the
“Charter Act”). See “Government Regulation and Charter Act.” It is the largest investor in
home mortgage loans in the United States, with a net portfolio of $91.9 billion of mortgage loans
as of September 30, 1987. The Corporation was originally established in 1938 as a United States
government agency to provide supplemental liquidity to the mortgage market and was trans-
formed 1nto a stockholder-owned and privately managed corporation by legislation enacted in

1968.

The Corporation provides funds to the mortgage market by purchasing mortgage loans from
lenders, thereby replenishing their funds for additional lending. The Corporation acquires funds
to purchase loans from many eapital market investors that may not ordinarily invest in mortgage
loans, thereby expanding the total amount of funds available for housing. Operating nationwide,
the Corporation helps to redistribute mortgage funds from capital-surplus to capital-short areas.

The Corporation also issues mortgage-backed securities ("MBS”), which are guaranteed
mortgage pass-through certificates evidencing beneficial interests in pools of mortgage loans.
The Corporation receives guaranty fees for its guaranty of timely payment of principal and
interest on the certificates. The Corporation issues MBS primarily in exchange for pools of
mortgage loans from lenders. The issuance of MBS enables the Corporation to further its
statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of residential mortgage loans. MBS outstanding as
of September 30, 1987 totaled $130.5 billion.

The principal office of the Corporation is located at 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington,
DC 20016 (telephone: 202-537-7000). The Corporation has five regional offices located in Atlanta,
Georgia; Chicago, Illinois; Dallas, Texas; Los Angeles, California; and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

Copies of the Corporation’s most recent annual and quarterly reports and proxy statement
are available without charge from Paul Paquin, Vice President for Investor Relations, Federal
National Mortgage Association, 3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20016 (telephone-

202-537-7115).



CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Corporation as of September 30, 1987

Average Average
Matunty Cost(3) Outstanding
{Dollars in malhons)
Bonds. notes, and debentures (1).
Due within one year

Short-term notes, net of unamortized dis-
count 3 mos 7.01% $ 7.188
Master notes 5 mos. 6.96 353
Investment agreements (2) 7.43 3,431
Residential finaneing securities 6 mos. 7.21 1,239
Medium-term notes 12 mos. 811 7
Mortgage-backed bonds 6 mos. 9.01 i2
Debentures 5 mos. 11.19 14,396
Total due within one year 27,126

Due after one year

Mortgage-backed bonds 5yrs. B mos. 9.59 69
Investment agreements (2) 4 yrs. 7 mos. 7.92 1,827
Debentures, net of unamortized discount 5 yrs. 9.53 61,005
Exchangeable debentures 3 yrs. 5 mos. 12.66 450

Zero coupon debentures, net of unamor-
tized discount 26 yrs. 9 mos. 11.50 301

Zero coupon capital debentures, net of
unamortized discount 32 yrs. 10.22 278

Capital debentures, net of unamortized
discount 5 yrs. 10 mos. 10.45 1,549
Convertible capital debentures 9 yrs. 4,43 13
Total due after one year 65,492
Total bends, notes, and debentures - $92,618

Stockholders’ equity: .
Preferred stock, no maximum authorizatioh,
Series A, adjustable rate, $100 stated value,
4,500,000 shares authorized, no shares issued 3 —
Common stock, $6 25 stated value, no max-
imum authorization—81,898 955 shares is-

sued 512
Additional paid-in eapital ik
Retained earnings 846

2,135
Less treasury stock, at cost—44,612 shares 1

Total stockholders’ equity $ 2,134

(1) See "Business—Corporate Indebtedness” for a description of certain hmitations
applicable to debt 1ssued by the Corporation,

(2) Investment agreements are individually negotiated agreements providing for the
investment of a variable principal amount at a fixed or floating rate of interest. The
average term as of September 30, 1987, of the outstanding agreements was 4 years, 6
months Generally, average maturities of the amounts issued and outstanding vary
and are indeterminate.

(3) The average cost includes the amortization of discounts, issuance costs, hedging
results, and the effect of foreign currency swaps.

The Corporation issues debentures, notes, and other debt obligations frequently. The amount
of bonds, notes, and debentures outstanding on any date subsequent to September 30, 1987 may
differ from that shown in the table above.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data for the years 1982 through 1986 (which data are not
covered by the report of independent certified public accountants) have been summarized or
derived from the audited financial statements for those years. The financial data for the nine
months ended September 30, 1986 and 1987 are unaudited and include, 1n the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring aceruals) necessary for a fair
presentation. The results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 1987 are not
necessarily indicative of the results expected for the entire year. These data should be read in
conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes to financial statements that are
presented elsewhere herein.

Condensed Staiements of Operations
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Nine Months
Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 38,
1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1986 1987
Total interest income $6,821 $7,927 $8,844 $9,997 $10,027 $7.577 $6,972
Interest expense 7,327 7,989 8,996 9,926 9,723 7,361 6,708
Net interest income (loss) (506) {62} {152) M 304 216 264
Commitment, guaranty and other fees 301 238 228 345 510 316 358
Gain on sales of mortgages 44 91 12 —_ 3 3 27
Provision for losses (36) (48) (86) {206) (306) (230) (240)
Administrative expenses (60) (81) (112) {142} (175) (123) (132)
Income (loss) before federal income taxes
and extraordinary 1tem (257} 138 (110) 68 336 242 277
Provision for federal income taxes 123 (63) 53 (31) {1563) {110) (92)
Income (loss) before extraordinary i1tem (134) %5 {57) 37 183 132 185
Extraordinary item gain on early retire-
ment of debt{1) 29 — — —_ — — —_
Net income {loss) $(105) 2 75 $§ (57) $ 37 $ 183 $ 132 $ 185
Earnings {loss) per share '
Before extraordinary item
Primary $(220) $115 $ (87) $ 52 $ 249 $ 180 $ 229
Fully diluted (220) 113 (.B7) 52 246 178 228
Net

Primary (172} 115 ( 87) 52 2.49 180 2.29

Fuily diluted (172) 113 ( 87} .52 246 178 2.28
Cash dividends per share 16 16 16 16 20 12 24

(1) In September 1982, the Corporation entered into a nontaxable transaction that
resulted 1n the issuance of 6.3 million shares of its common stock in exchange for $§101
million of its long-term debentures, which were retired.
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Condensed Balance Sheets

(Dollars in millions)

December 31, September 30,
1982 1983 1984 1985 198 1986 1987
Assets
Meortgage portfolio, net $69,714 $75,665 $84,509 $95138 § 94,734 $94,511 $91,928
Other assets 3,753 3,253 3760 4,579 5,672 4,360 7,684
Total assets $73,467 $78,918 §88 359 $99,717 3100,406 3$98871 $99,612
Lizbihties
Bonds, notes, and debentures, net:
Due within one year $25,781 $26,860 $31,261 $31,939 § 31,294 $30,096 327,126
Due after one year 43,833 47,734 52 458 62,046 62,269 61,835 65,492
Other halnlities 2,650 3,048 3,432 4,390 5,250 5,398 4,860
Total liabilities 72,264 77,642 87,151 98,375 98,813 97,329 97 478
Stockholders' equuty 1,208 1,276 1,208 1,342 1,593 1,542 2,134
Total liabilities and
stockholders’ equity $73,467 $78,918 $88,359 $99,717 $100,406 $98,871 §$99,612

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in millions)

Cash flows provided (used) by operating activities':

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of mortgages
Sales of mortgages
Mortgage principal repayments

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash proceeds from issuance of debentures
Cash payments to retire debentures net of debt converted to

common stock
Other

Net cash used by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and investments

Nine Months

Ended September 30,
1985 1987
$ 349 $ (125)
(22,079) (14,073)
7,925 3,392
14,908 13,511
754 2,830
12,419 11,611
(9,961) (12,649)
(4,742) 289
(2,284) (749)
$ (1,181} $ 1,956



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Annual Periods

General

Fannie Mae’s earnings increased significantly in 1986, primarily because of lower interest
rates during the year. Profitability was somewhat constrained, however, by the continued high
level of foreclosure losses and a management decision to increase significantly the balance in the
allowance for losses.

Because fluctuations in interest rates historically have had a major impact on financial
performanece, the Corporation has pursued a strategy of managing the effective maturities and
repricing characteristics of its assets and liabilities in order to reduce the effects of such
fluctuations on net interest income. This strategy focuses on purchasing shorter term assets and
extending the average maturity of outstanding debt to obtain a closer estimated maturity match
between the mortgage portfolio and debt. Although the Corporation remains sensitive to
changes in interest rates, management believes the implementation of this strategy, as well as
the special $10 billion sale of pre-1981 fixed-rate, assumable mortgages during the year, has
assisted in reducing the effect that interest rate movements will have on Fannie Mae in the
future.

This discussion and analysis reports on the Corporation’s operating results and finanecial
eondition for the three years ended December 81, 1986, and should be read in conjunction with the
financial statements and notes to financial statements presented elsewhere herein.

A summary of selected financial data for the years 1984-1986 follows:

% Change
1985 1986
Over Over
% ﬂ.’l 1986 1984 BEE
{Dolars in millions except per share amounts)
Operating Results for the Years Ended -
December 31,
]
Net interest income (loss) $ (152) $ T1 $ 304 *% 328%
Commitment fees 114 196 279 72 42
Guaranty fees 8 112 175 44 56
Gain on sales of mortgages 12 — 3 (100) —
Miscellaneous income 36 37 56 3 51
Provision for losses (86) (206) {306) 140 49
Administrative expenses (112) (142) _(_IE) 27 23
Income (loss) before federal income taxes (110) 68 336 . 394
Provision for federal income taxes 53 (31) (153) * 304
Net income (loss) $ (5T) 3 37 m * 395
Earnings (loss) per share:
Primary $ (87 $ .52 $ 249 * 379
Fully diluted (.87) .52 2.46 * 373
Cash dividends per share 16 .16 .20 — 25
Financial Condition at December 31,
Mortgage portfolio, net $84,599 $95,138 $ 94,734 12 —
Total assets 88,359 99,717 100,406 13 1
Borrowings:
Due within one year 31,261 31,939 31,294 2 (2)
Due after one year 52,458 62,046 62,269 18 -_
Total habilities 87,151 08,875 98,813 13 —
Stockholders' equity 1,208 1,342 1,593 1 19

* Percentage change not meaningful.
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Results of Operations

Fannie Mae earned net income of $183 million in 1986, compared with $37 million in 1985 and
a loss of $57 million in 1984 Lower interest rates and increased earnings from guaranty fces and
commitment fees contributed significantly to the improved results for 1986 and 1985. The
provision for loan losses, forgone nterest on nonperforming loans, and administrative expenses
in these years, however, were at higher levels than in 1984 and partially offset the improved

earnings performance.

Net Interest Income

A major source of earnings for the Corporation is net interest income, defined as the
difference between the interest income derived from interest earning assets and the interest paid
on liabilities incurred to fund those assets. in prior years, this was referred to as interest margin.
Net interest 1ncome was $304 million in 1986, compared with $71 million in 1985 and a negative

$152 million in 1984,

The increase 1n net interest income 1n 1986 as compared with 1985 is attributable primarily to
a decrease in the Corporation’s cost of funds due to the lower interest rate environment. This
improvement was offset 1n part by the higher level of prepayments of high-yielding mortgage
assets during the year. The increase in 1955 ag compared with 1984 was due both to a higher
average yield on the mortgage portfolio and a reduction in the average cost of outstanding debt.

The most important factor affecting net interest income is the spread, or difference, between
the average net yield on the mortgage portfolio and the average cost of outstanding debt. This
spread was a positive .01 percent during 1986, reflecting an average portfolio yield of 1047
percent and an average cost of outstanding debt of 10.46 percent. In 1985, the average portfolio
yield was 10.92 percent and the average cost of outstanding debt was 11.14 percent, resulting in
an average negative spread of 22 percent. In 1984, the average portfolio vield was 10.81 percent
and the average cost of outstanding debt was 11.3 percent, producing an average negative
spread of .38 percent -

Another significant factor affecting net interest income is the interest earned on short-term
investments, Fannie Mae earned $116 million of such interest in 1986, compared with $124
million in 1985 and $197 million in 1984. The reduced earnings on investments 1n 1986 and 1985
reflect the lower interest rate environment prevalent during those years.

A loan 1s classified as nonperforming when principal or interest is 90 days or more past due.
Interest beyond the first 90 days on nonperforming loans is generally included in income only to
the extent that payments have actually been receined. If these assets had been fully performing,
they would have contributed an additional £135 million to interest income in 1986 and $105
million in 1985 The policy of stopping interest accruals on nonperforming loans was established
in October 1984. Forgone interest income 1n the fourth quarter of that year was $20 million. The
amount of nonperforming loans at December 31, 1986, 1985, and 1984 was $1.5 billion, $1.2 billion,

and $0.7 mlhon, respectively.



The rate/volume analysis below shows the relative contribution of asset growth and interest
rate changes to net interest income for the years ended December 31, 1986, 1985, and 1984,

Rate/Volume Analysis

(Dollars in milhons)

Attributable to Changes in (1)

Increase

(Decrease) Volume Rate
1986 vs. 1985
Interest income $ 30 $ 399 $(369)
Interest expense ___(ZE) 387 ﬂ)
Net interest income §_22_.§ $ 12 $_'2E
1985 vs. 1984
Interest income $1,153 $1,104 $ 49
Interest expense __@ 1,143 _(_21_3)
Net interest income iﬁ $_(3_?) &2,

(1) Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to
the rate and volume variances based on their relative size.

Other Income

Commitment fees were $279 million in 1986, compared with $196 million in 1985 and $114
million in 1984. The increase in 1986 was the result of higher commitment volume, In addition,

slightly less.

Guaranty fees increased to $175 million in 1986 from $112 million in 1985 and $78 million in
1984 These fees are earned for guaranteeing the timely payment of principal and interest to
investors in the Corporation’s mortgage-backed securities ( “MBS"). The increase in guaranty
fee meome 1s due to the increase in the amount of MBS outstanding.

Gain on sales of mortgages in 1986 was a net $3 million. There were no significant gains or
losses on sales of mortgages in 1985, while gains of $12 million were reported in 1984. Mortgage
sales are discussed under the section entitled "Mortgage-Backed Securities.”

Miscellaneous income was $56 million in 1986, compared with $37 million in 1985 and $36
million in 1984. The increase in 1986 was due primarily to the prepayment of certain multifamily
loans in December 1986, which resulted in the receipt of $25 million in prepayment fees,

Other Expenses

Provision for Losses The Corporation evaluates the risk of loss on its mortgage loan portfolio
and MBS based upon past experience and current economic conditions. During 1986, charge-offs
of mortgages 1n the Corporation’s loan portfolio and mortgages underlying MBS totaled $203
mullion, compared with $170 million in 1985 and $98 million in 1984. Higher foreclosure losses are
due, in part, to a substantially reduced level of housing inflation and adverse economic conditions
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in certain geographical areas. During 1985, Fannie Mae revised its underwriting guidelines and
credit requirements for certain of its mortgage products. Management believes these measures
should contribute to improved foreclosure experience in the future.

The provision for losses increased to $306 million 1n 1986 from $206 million in 1985 and $86
milllon in 1984. The higher provision for losses in 1986 and 1985 reflects actions taken by
management to maintain the allowance for losses at a level 1t believes 15 appropriate, considering
the levels of current and anticipated charge-offs. Other factors affecting the provision include
the increase in mortgage purchases and the issuance of a higher volume of MBS for which Fannme
Mae bears the primary foreclosure loss risk.

Administrative Expenses Administrative expenses increased to $£175 million in 1986 from
$142 mllion 1n 1985 and $112 milhon 1n 1984. The 1ncreases were due primarily to increases in the
number of employees required because of the growth of the business, the need to develop new
automated business systems, and an increased emphasis on quality control and management of

acquired properties.
New Accounting Standard

In December 1986, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No 91 (SFAS 91), which requires a change in the timing of the accounting
recognition of commitment fees, purchase discount and certain costs associated with acquiring
loans. The Corporation currently recognizes fee income in the period in which the committing
service is rendered and records the costs of acquiring loans in the period in which those costs are
incurred Beginning 1n 1988, the Corporation will be required to defer recognition of most of
these fees and costs and amortize them, together with loan purchase discount, as a yield
adjustment over the estimated life of the related mortgages.

The Corporation, at its option, may implement SFAS 91 on either a prospective or retroactive
basis, and may elect to do so earlier than 1988. The Corporation intends to implement the new
standard on a retroactive basis in 1987. At the date of implementation, the earnings of prior
periods will be restated to reflect the retroactive effect of deferring and amortizing commitment

fees as a yield adjustment of the related mortgages.

Under the provisions of SFAS 91, when the rate of actual and estimated future loan
prepayments is determined to be materially different from the rate previously assumed in
amortizing loan purchase discount, deferred commitment fees and certain acguisition costs, the
vield on the mortgage loans must be recalculated to give effect to the new rate. Using the
recalculated mortgage yield, the net investment in mortgage loans is adjusted to reflect the
amount that would have been recorded had the new yield been applied since the loan acquisition
date The adjustment to the net investment in loans results in a corresponding adjustment to

current period interest income.

During 1987 the Corporation determined that actual and estimated future mortgage
prepayments occur at a rate that substantially exceeds the rate it assumed previously in reporting
the effective yield on its mortgage loans. In implementing SFAS 91, the Corporation, therefore,
will be recording additional interest income in 1987 to reflect the necessary adjustment of its net
investment 1n mortgage loans. Preliminary calculations of the effect of implementing SFAS 91
indicate that 1t will have a substantial positive impact on 1987 earnings.

Although the retroactive deferral of commitment fee income will reduce the current level of
retained earnings, the increase in 1987 earnings discussed above should substantially offset the
reduction. As a result, implementation of SFAS 91 in 1987 is not expected to have a significant
adverse impact on either stockholders’ equity or the Corporation’s capital ratios.

Because SFAS 91 will be implemented on a retroactive basis, the Corporation expects that the
amortization into income of prior years’ commitment fees will substantially soften any adverse
impact on future earnings that might occur with prospective implementation.
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The Morigage Porifolio

The Corporation’s net mortgage portfolio totaled $94.7 billion at December 31, 1986, compared
with $95.1 billion and $84 6 billion at December 31, 1985 and 1984, respectively. Adjustable-rate
mortgages ("ARMz"") and intermediate term mortgages are estimated to represent 33 percent of
the portfolio balance at December 31, 1986, up from 24 percent at December 31, 1985 and 17
percent at December 31, 1984 Intermediate term mortgages consist primarily of 15-year fixed-
rate mortgages, second mortgages, and conventionai multifamily mortgages.

Fannie Mae issues commitments to purchase standard mortgage products, for which required
mortgage yields are posted daily. The Corporation also purchases non-standard produets, issuing
such commitments on a negotiated basis.

Most of the commitments that the Corporation issues are for mandatory delivery, with the
yield set upon issuance of the commitment. Fannie Mae also issues market-rate standby
commitments in which the Corporation commits only to purchase a designated amount of
mortgages. To deliver mortgages, the lender must convert the standby commitment to a
mandatory delivery commitment, at which time the yield is established at Fannie Mae’s current
posted window rate. During 1986, the Corporation issued $33.0 billion in mortgage purchase
commitments, compared with $20.2 billion in 1985 and $21.0 billion in 1984.

The Corporation purchased a record volume of mortgages in 1986, due primarily to lower
interest rates As indicated in the table that follows, the Corporation experienced a decrease in
purchases of ARMs and second mortgages in 1986; however, there was a significant increase in
15-year mortgage purchases during the period. Purchases of ARMs and intermediate term
mortgages are designed to assist in reducing the risks associated with rising interest rates and to
match more closely the generally shorter maturities of the Corporation’s borrowings.

Mortgage Purchases

% Change
- 1985 1986
Over Over
1984 1985 N 1986 1984 1985
2 * L * 3 *
{Dollars in mithons)
Mortgage type
Single-famly
FHA/VA $ 130 11% § 482 22% § 438 14% 154% (9%
Conventional
30-year fixed-rate 9,544 571 9,708 451 16,001 519 2 65
15-year fixed-rate - — 2,690 125 11,453 372 — 326
ARMs 5,403 323 7,066 329 1,108 36 31 (84)
Second mortgages 937 56 871 4.1 498 16 (1) (43}
Total single-
family 16,074 96.1 20,817 96 8 29 498 957 30 42
Multifamily 647 39 693 32 1328 43 7 92
Total $16,721 100 0% $21,610 100 0% $30 826 100 0% 29 43
Average net yield 12 9% 11 59% 957%

Mortgage repayments totaled $19.6 billion in 1986, compared with $9.0 billion 1n 1985 and $5.4
billion in 1984. The increase in repayments in 1986 and 1985 reflects the large number of
refinancings that occurred in response to the declining level of mortgage interest rates, as well as
the general increase in home sales. Prepayments in 1986 aggregated $17.5 billion, as compared
with $7.1 billion in 1985 and $4.1 billion in 1984.

In April 1986, the Corporation announced its intention to sell $10 billion of mortgages from
portfolio. The mortgages targeted for sale were primarily fixed-rate, assumable FHA/VA loans
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acquired prior to 1981. The lower interest rates prevailing in 1986 allowed the Corporation to
liguidate these long-term assets at no significant net gain or loss and, at the same time, increase
MBS outstanding by a considerable amount. Sales of $9.2 billion were completed in 1986 and
commitments to sell $0.9 billion were outstanding at December 31, 1986 relating to the special $10
billion asset sale. These sales were effected through the issuance of MBS.

Sources of Funds
Fannie Mae's primary sources of funds are mortgage loan repayments, issuance of debt

obligations, interest income, fees, and proceeds from the sale of mortgages. Primary uses of funds
include the purchase of mortgages, repayment of debt, and payment of interest expense.

In 1986, the Corporation sold $11 billion of mortgage loans from its portfolio and experienced
substantially increased mortgage loan prepayments. The resulting increase in funds from these
sources reduced the Corporation’s level of new debt issues during 1986, as compared with 1985 and
1984.

Financing Activitres

In 1986, lower interest rates allowed the Corporation to lengthen the maturity of its debt and
reduce the average cost of debt outstanding at year-end. The following table sets forth the
amount, average cost, and average maturity of debt issued during the last three years, and of the
debt outstanding at the end of each of those years.

Debt Issued/Qutstanding

% Change
1945 1986
Over Over
1984 1985 1586 1984 1985
{Dollars in millions)
Debt Issued During Year B
Amount $47,972 $§8,244 $39,997 1% (1%
Average cost 1147% 9.62% 7.10% (16) (26)
Average maturity (months) 29 46 47 59 2
Debt Qutstanding at Year-end
Amount $83,719 $93,985 $93,563 12 —
Average cost 11 56% 10.79% 10.01% (N (M)
Average matunty (months}) 31 40 46 29 15

Fannie Mae continued to attract funds from a global investor base in 1986. In addition to
continued heavy overseas demand for Fannie Mae dollar debentures, yen-denominated deben-
tures were sold 1n the European and Japanese markets. Direct overseas offerings played a smaller
role in the Corporation’s financing activities as compared with prior years, however, because of
the attractive cost of domestically issued debt.

During 1986, the Corporation added $67.6 million to stockholders’ equity by issuing 11,500,000
detachable common stock purchase warrants as part of a debenture offering. In 1985, Fannie Mae
added $107 million to stockholders’ equity by issuing 7 million shares of common stock.

Mortgage- Backed Securtiies

In August 1986, the Corporation attained the $100 billion mark for MBS issued. The issuance
of MBS creates a source of guaranty fee income, but without the financing risk associated with
the Corporation’s portfolio investing activities. MBS outstanding at December 31, 1986 grew to
$97 2 billion from $55.0 billion at December 31, 1985 and $36.2 billion at December 31, 1984.

Most of the Corporation’s MBS are issued through lender swap transactions, whereby
participating lenders place pools of mortgages in trust in exchange for securities. The increase in
MBS 1ssued is due primarily to a higher volume of swap transactions. In addition, the
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Corporation’s sales of mortgage loans from its portfolio through MBS contributed significantly to
the increase in MBS issued in 1986. Sales from portfolio totaled $11.0 billion in 1986, compared
with $1.3 billion 1n 1985 and $1.0 billion in 1984,

The following table summarizes MBS activity for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 1986, As the table indicates, MBS volumes have grown substantially during
the past three years Sellers of pools of mortgage loans may retain the primary default risk on
loans comprising the pools or they may elect to transfer this risk to Fannie Mae and, in return,
pay a higher guaranty fee. Because the Corporation guarantees timely payment of principal and
interest on the MBS, it bears the ultimate credit risk of a borrower’s default on all conventional

mortgage loans in MBS pools.

Summary of MBS Activity
(Based on Primary Foreclosure Loss Risk Category)

% Change
1985 1986
COver Over
1984 1985 1986 % !ﬁ
3 % 3 % LR %
{Dollars in millions)
Issuances of MBS-
Lender risk $10,243 76%  $15,066 64% $22,037 36% 47% 46%
Fannie Mae risk 3,303 24 8,583 36 38,529 64 160 349
Total $13,546 100% $23,649 100% $60,566 100% 75 156
Securities outstandmg- o o o
Lender risk $26,731 T4%  $38,327 T0%  $48,548 50% 43 27
Fannie Mae risk (1) 9,484 26 16,660 30 48,626 50 T6 192
Total $36,215 100%  $54,987 100% $97,174 100% 52 ™

-

(1) Included are $1.6 billion, $1.5 billion, ajd $10.6 billion in 1984, 1985, and 1986,
respectively, which are backed by government-insured or guaranteed mortgages.

During 1986, Fannie Mae introduced its Stripped Mortgage-Backed Security ("SMBS”). An
SMBS consists of two or more classes of securities. Each class represents a specified percentage of
undivided ownership interest 1n the principal payments to be made on a pool of mortgage loans or
MBS certificates and a different specified ownership interest in the interest payments on such
pool. Additionally, an SMBS i1s:ue may be structured with separate classes for principal and
interest. Under the traditional MBS program, an investor has an undivided interest in the entire
poo! of underlying mortgage loans The Corporation issued $2.4 billion of SMBS during the year.

The Corporation anticipates that 1ts MBS will continue to grow through issuance of various
types of mortgage securities.

Interim Periods

Overview

Fannie Mae's net income for the first nine months of 1987 was $184.8 million, or $2.28 per
common share, an increase of $52.8 million over the $132.0 million earned in the first nine months
of 1986. The growth 1n net income was attributable to increased net interest income, guaranty
fees, gains on sales of mortgages, and miscellaneous income. Net income was also positively
impacted by a reduction in the effective tax rate from 46 percent to 33 percent due to a reduction
in corporate tax rates and the Corporation’s investments in tax-advantaged assets. Profitability
was constrained by a reduction in commitment fee income and to a lesser extent by the continued
high level of foreclosure losses resulting in management’s decision to increase the provision for

losses.
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A summary of selected financial data for the nine months ended September 30, 1987 and 1986
follows:

Increase
1986 1987 {Decrease)

. (Dollars in milhons, except per share amounts)
Operating Results for Nine Months Ended September 30,

Net interest income $ 216 $ 264 $ 48
Commitment fees 228 100 (128)
Guaranty fees 121 189 68
Gain on sales of mortgages 3 27 24
Miscellaneous income 27 69 42
Provision for losses (230) (240} (10)
Administrative expenses (123) {132) (9)
Income before federal income taxes 242 277 35
Provision for federal income taxes (110} {92) 18
Net Income $ 132 $§ 185 $ 53
Earnings per share

Primary $§ 180 $ 229 $ 49

Fully diluted 178 2.28 50
Cash Dividends per share 12 .24 12

Financial Condition at September 30,

Mortgage portfolio, net $94,511 $91,928 $(2,583)
Total assets 98,871 99,612 741
Borrowings:

Due within one year 30,096 27,126 (2,970)

Due after one year 61,835 65,492 3,657
Tota! habilities 97,329 97,478 149
Stoekholders’ equity 1,542 2,134 592

Results of Operations
Net Interest Income
During the first nine months of 1987, net interejt income was $48.2 million higher than in the
comparable period 1n 1986 The rate/volume analysis below shows the relative contribution of
asset growth and interest rate changes to net interest income for the nmine months ended
September 30, 1987 and 1986.

Rate/Volume Analysis
{Deollars in millwons)

Attnbutable to Changes in (1)

Nine months ended Increase

1987 vs 1986 (Decrease) Volume Rate

Interest income $(605) $(501) $(104)

Interest expense (653) (514) (139)
Net interest income $ 48 $ 18 $ 35

(1) Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the caleulation, are allocated to
the rate and volume variances based on their relative size.

The spread, or difference between the average net yield on the mortgage portfolio on a tax
equivalent basis and the average cost of outstanding debt, was 0.11 percent during the first nine
months of 1987, reflecting an average portfolio yield of 9.92 percent and an average cost of
outstanding debt of 981 percent. The average portfolio yield equaled the average cost of
outstanding debt of 10.57 percent during the first nine months of 1986,
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The increase in net interest income, as mentioned above, is attributable in part to an interest
rate environment which lessened the Corporation’s cost of funds. The average cost of debt issued
during the first nine months of 1987 was 7.11 percent, compared with 7.43 percent for the first
nine months of 1986, for a net decrease of .32 percent. The increase 1n net interest 1ncome is also
the result of a decrease in total interest expense, caused by a reduction in the total amount of debt
outstanding. The decrease 1n interest expense was offset in part by a decrease in interest income
earned on the portfolio. Interest income declined as a result of lower mortgage purchases and
continuing prepayments of high-yielding mortgage assets which resulted in a decline 1n the
average portfolio size and yield.

Mortgage Commitment and Purchase Activity

The Corporation issued $17.8 billion of mortgage purchase commitments in the first nine
months of 1987, compared with $27.5 billion issued during the first nine months of 198¢. The
reduction in commitment volume reflects a reduced consumer demand for refinancing of
mortgages. In the first nine months of 1987, commitment fee income was $128.5 million lower
than during the same period in 1986. The decline in commitment fee income was due to the
decrease in commitment volume coupled with the change from long-term, fixed-rate mortgages
to adjustable-rate mortgages, 15-year mortgages, and two new intermediate term standby
commitment products introduced in March. The Corporation charges lower commitment fees on
adjustable-rate mortgages and 15-year mortgages than on long-term mortgages and does not
assess a fee on the new intermediate-term standby commitment products. See “Annual
Periods— Results of Operatings—New Accounting Standard” for a discussion of the Corporation’s
implementation of Statement of Financia] Accounting Standards No. 91, which relates in part to
the timing of the accounting recognition of commitment fees and “Business—Mortgage Loan
Portfolio—Commitments” regarding the Corporation’s elimination of most upfront commitment
fees.

During the first nine months of 1987, mortgage purchases were $7.9 billion lower than during
the comparable period in 1986. The primary reason for the decline in purchases was due to the
lower level of mortgage origination and refinance activity. The yield on mortgage purchases was
9.34 percent for the first nine months of 1987, compared to 9.69 percent for the first nine months

of 1986,
Mortgage- Backed Securities i

Mortgage-backed securities issued during the nine months ended September 30, 1987 and
1986, and the balances outstanding at the end of those periods, were as follows:

Summary of MBS and SMBS Activity

(Based on Primary Foreclosure Loss Risk Category)
(Dollars in millions)

e
September 30, September 30, Ove;-
1986 1987 1986
Issuances of MBS and SMBS:
Lender risk $16,924 39% $ 18,780 3% 11%
Fannie Mae risk(1) 26,977 E 31,554 E 17
Total $43,901 100% $ 50,334 100% 15
Securities outstanding: T _"_
Lender risk $45,911 58% $ 58,980 45% 28
Fannie Mae risk(2) 40,448 jz 71,560 E 77
Total $86,359 100% $130,540 100% 51

(1) Issuances include $1,259 million and $8,278 million of government-insured loans
during the nine months ended September 30, 1987 and 1986, respectively

(2) Securities outstanding include $10,585 million and $8,160 million of government-
insured loans as of September 30, 1987 and 1986, respectively.
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During the first nine months of 1987, guaranty fees were $67 8 million higher than during
the same period in 1986. Guaranty fees increased as a result of a greater amount of MBS
outstanding. Fees realized for converting MBS to SMBS of $41.8 million were included in
miscellaneous income and were the primary cause of the $43.1 million increase 1n miscellaneous
income during the first nine months of 1987 as compared with the first nine months of 1986. Gain
on sales of mortgages during the first nine months of 1987 was $26.6 million compared with $3.2
million during the first nine months of 1986. This 1ncrease 1s attributable to mortgage sales from
portfolio, which totaled $3 4 billion 1n the first nine months of 1987, compared with $8.0 billion for
the same period in 1986 when the Corporation was conducting the special $10 billion sale of assets
at no significant gain or loss.

Prowsion for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses on the mortgage loan portfolio and MBS increased $9.5 million in
the first nine months of 1987, compared with the first nine months of 1986, reflecting actions
taken by management to maintain the allowance for losses at a level it believes is appropriate,
considering the increased levels of current and anticipated charge-offs. Total foreclosure losses
charged off for portfolio loans and MBS were $200 1 million in the first nine months of 1987
compared with $142 3 million 1n the first nine months of 1986. The increase in charge-offs 1s
primarily the result of continuing economie problems 1n the nation’s energy belt

Funancing and Other Activities

The Corporation issued eight million shares of common stock in February 1987 at $48 25 per
share. The sale netted $374 million of additional capital for the Corporation after expenses

On October 22, 1987, the Corporation announced that it would purchase up to five million
shares of its common stock through the open market.

On October 20, 1987, the Corporation’s Board of Directors voted to increase the guarterly
dividend on 1ts common stock from & cents per share to 12 cents per share for the quarter ended
September 30, 1987

HISTORY

The Federal National Mortgage Association was incorporated in 1938 pursuant to Title 111 of
the National Housing Act. It was then a wholly owned government corporation that borrowed
operating funds almost entirely from the United States Treasury. Its business primarnly
consisted of the purchase and resale of mortgage loans insured by the Federal Housing
Adminmistration ("FHA”) and, since 1948, mortgage loans guaranteed by the Veterans Adminis-
tration (“VA”) for the purpose of establishing and maintaining a secondary market for such
mortgage loans Title III was revised in 1954 and called the Federal National Mortgage
Association Charter Act. Under the new Charter Act, the Federal National Mortgage Associ-
ation became a mixed-ownership corporate instrumentality of the United States. In connection
with 1ts secondary market operations, it issued nonvoting preferred stock, par value $100 per
share, to the Secretary of the Treasury and nonvoting common stock, par value $100 per share, to
the institutions from which it purchased mortgages.

From 1950 to 1965, the Federal National Mortgage Association was a constituent agency of
the Housing and Home Finance Agency and from November 9, 1965 to September 1, 1968 it
operated in the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD”). The Charter Act, as
in effect prior to September 1, 1968, empowered the Federal National Mortgage Association to (1)
conduct secondary market operations in FHA -insured and VA-guaranteed home mortgage loans
zonsisting of purchases and sales of such loans (""Secondary Market Operations”), (2) perform
special assistance functions in the purchase of mortgage loans as authorized by the President of
the United States or by the Congress to assist in financing home loans in instances where
established home financing facilities were inadequate (“Special Assistance Functions”), and (3)
manage and liquidate certain mortgage loans {*"Management and Liquidating Functions”)
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Pursuant to amendments to the Charter Act enacted in the Housing and Urban Development
Act of 1968 (the "1968 Act”), the Federal National Mortgage Association in 1968 was partitioned
Into two separate and distinct corporations The first, Government National Mortgage Associ-
ation ("GNMA"), is a wholly owned corporate instrumentahty of the United States within HUD
GNMA retained all of the assets and liabilities acquired and incurred under the Special Assistance
Functions and Management and Liquidating Functions carried on by the predecessor corporation
prior to the effective date of the 1968 Act.

The second, the Corporation, now constituted as a federally chartered corporaticn, retained
the assets and liabilities related to the Secondary Market Operations prior to the effective date of
the 1968 Act. The 1968 Act changed each share of outstanding nonvoting common stock of the
Federal National Mortgage Association, par value $100 per share, into one share of voting
common stock, without par value, and authorized the Corporation to issue its common stock to the
public. The 1968 Act also provided for a transitional period for the Corporation’s stockhelders to
assume control of the Corporation, and all preferred stock theretofore held by the Secretary of the
Treasury was retired in 1968 Accordingly, the entire equity interest in the Corporation became,
and is now, stockholder-owned.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION AND CHARTER ACT

The Corporation is a federally chartered and stockholder-owned corporation organized and
existing under the Charter Act (12 U.8.C. 1716 et seq.) whose purpose is to provide supplementary
assistanece to the secondary market for home mortgages by providing a degree of liquidity for
mortgage investments, thereby improving the distribution of investment capital available for
nome mortgage financing Although the 1968 Act eliminated all federal ownership interest in the
Corporation, it did not terminate the significant government regulation of the Corporation.
Under the Charter Act, approval of the Secretary of the Treasury is required for the Corpo-
ration’s issuance of its debt obligations. Under the Charter Act, issuance of stock by the
Corporation is required to be approved by the Secretary of HUD, who must also approve stock
holding requirements imposed upon mortgage servicers for the Corporation.

Obligations of the Corporation issued under Section 304(Db) of the Charter Act are subject to
limitations imposed by the Charter Act and regulations adopted by HUD. See “Business—
Corporate Indebtedness.”

In addition to specific enumerated powers, including those described above, the Secretary of
HUD is granted general regulatory power over the Corporation under the Charter Act with
authority to promulgate rules and regulations to carry out the purposes of the Charter Act. Also,
the Secretary may require, pursuant to the Charter Act, that a reasonable portion of the
Corporation’s mortgage loan purchases be related to the national goal of providing adequate
housing for low- and moderate-income families, but with a reasonable economic return to the

Corporation.

The Charter Act authorizes the Corporation to require entities selhng mortgages to it to
make nonrefundable capital contributions, equal to not more than 2 percent of the unpaid
principal amounts of mortgages purchased or to be purchased by the Corporation from such
sellers, as determined from time to time by the Corporation with the approval of the Secretary of
HUD. Since 1977, the Corporation, with the approval of the Secretary of HUD, has imposed no
such requirements on single-family mortgage sellers. There also is no such reguirement on multi-

family mortgage sellers,

The Charter Act requires that each servicer of the Corporation’s mortgages own a minimum
amount of common stock, measured by its stated value (currently $6.25 per share)}. Prior to July
1986, the minimum amount was an amount not in excess of 2 percent, as determined from time to
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time by the Corporation with the approval of the Secretary of HUD, of the aggregate
outstanding principal balances of all mortgages of the Corporation that had been purchased
subsequent to September 1, 1968, and that were then serviced by such servicer for the
Corporation. In July 1986, the Corporation, with the approval of the Secretary of HUD, reduced
the common stock ownership requirement to one share, without regard to the principal amount of
the mortgages serviced. '

The Charter Act also gives the Secretary of HUD the authority to audit and examine the
books and financial transactions of the Corporation, but this authority has never been exercised.

Although thirteen members of the Corporation’s eighteen-member Board of Directors are
elected by the holders of the Corporation’s common stock, the remaining five members are
appointed by the President of the United States. One such appointed director is required to be
from each of the home building, mortgage lending, and real estate industries. Any member of
the Board of Directors, including a member elected by stockholders, may be removed by the
President of the United States for good cause.

* In addition to placing the Corporation under significant federal regulation, the Charter Act
also grants to the Corporation certain privileges and immunities. For instance, securities issued
by the Corporation are deemed to be “exempt securities” under laws administered by the
Securities and Exchange Commission to the same extent as securities that are obligations of, or
guaranteed as to principal and interest by, the United States. Registration statements with
respect to the Corporation’s securities are not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Corporation also is not required to file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

As described in “Business—Corporate Indebtedness,” the Secretary of the Treasury of the
United States has discretionary authority to purchase obligations of the Corporation up to a
maximum of $2.25 billion outstanding at any one time. This facility has not been used since the
Corporation’s transition from government control. Neither the United States nor any agency
thereof is obligated to finance the Corporation’s operations or to assist the Corporation in any
other manner.

The Corporation is exempt from all taxation by any state or by any county, municipality, or
local taxing authority except for real property taxes. The Corporation is not exempt from
payment of federal corporate income taxes. Also, the Corporation may conduct its business -
without regard to any qualification or similar statute in any state of the United States, including
the District of Columbia.

The Federal Reserve Banks are authorized to act as depositaries, custodians, and fiscal agents
for the Corporation, for its own account, or as fiduciary. ‘
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BUSINESS

General

The Corporation purchases {primarily through its purchase commitments) and holds in
portfolio mortgage loans on residential properties. The Corporation obtains funds to purchase
mortgage loans from various capital markets. The Corporation also issues MBS, which are
guaranteed mortgage pass-through certificates evidencing beneficial interests in pools of mort-
gage loans.

In this document, whole loans and participation interests in loans both are referred to as
“loans,” “mortgage loans,” and “mortgages.” The term “"mortgage” also is used to refer to the
security instrument securing a loan rather than the loan itself, and when so used also includes
deed of trust.

While the Corporation has implemented changes that are reducing its sensitivity to increases
in mmterest rates, the operations and earnings of the Corporation are still heavily influenced by
the level of interest rates and the availability of alternative sources of mortgage credit.

At September 30, 1987 the Corporation employed approximately 2,400 full-time personnel.

Mortgage Loan Portfolio Spread

The performance of the portfolio 15 measured by the difference, or “spread,” between the
return that the Corporation receives on its mortgage loan portfolio and the cost of money it
borrows to finance that portfolic. The following table sets forth the spread on the portfolio during
the periods indicated.

Average Cost of
Outstanding Indebtedness (1)

Weighted

Average

Net Bonds

Portfolio Short- and

Dunng Average term = Deben- Aggre-

For the Month Month Yield (1) Notes (2) tures gate Spread
(Dollars !
in millions}

December 1982

$68,733 10.69% 10.81% 11.52% 11.39% (.70)%

December 1983 75,144 10.70 9.55 11.39 11.07 {.37)
December 1984 83,540 10.93 10.97 11.68 11.56 (.63)
December 1985 94,192 10.81 8.20 11.26 10.77 .04
1986

October 94,025 10.22 6.77 10.69 10.23 (.01)
November 94,345 10.15 6.62 10.57 10.10 .05
December 94,042 10.08 6.52 10.53 10.04 .04
1987

January 92,825 10.06 6.47 10.48 9.99 .07
February 92,257 10.01 6.44 10.42 9.95 .06
March 91,292 9.98 6.51 10.37 9.95 .03
April 90,638 9.92 6.51 10.27 9.85 .07
May 89,977 9.90 6.59 10.20 9.83 .07
June 90,090 9.87 6.59 10.16 9.75 12
July 90,075 9.86 6.73 10.12 9.72 .14
August 90,501 9.83 6.78 10.02 9.63 .20
September 91,237 9.84 7.04 9.99 9.63 .21
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(1) Average portfolio yield on a tax equivalent basis is calculated for the month shown and
converted to an annual interest rate using as the numerator the interest income plus
the amortized discount less servicing fees on a tax equivalent basis, and as the
denominator the average outstanding unpaid principal balance of the mortgage loan
portfolio less unamortized discount. Similarly, the average cost of bonds and deben-
tures and aggregate indebtedness is calculated using net interest expense (including
the amortization of issuance costs, hedging results and the effect of currency and
interest rate swaps) and the average outstanding applicable net indebtedness during
the month. The average cost of short-term indebtedness is calculated using net
interest expense, adjusted to a standard number of days in each month, and the
outstanding applicable net indebtedness during the month.

(2) Includes master notes, investment agreements, residential financing securities, and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase.

An improvement in the spread will depend upon the Corporation’s ability to increase the
yield on its mortgage loan portfolio or te refinance maturing borrowings at lower rates.
Approximately $14.4 billion principal amount at maturity of bonds and debentures (original term
of one year or longer) will mature during the 12 months following September 30, 1987, as shown
below. Such bonds and debentures have a weighted average cost of 11.18 percent at September

30, 1987

Principal Principal
Amount Amount
Matunty Date at Maiurmity Average Cost Maturnity Date at Maturity Average Cost
(Dollars (Dollars
in millions) in millions)
1987 1988
October 13 $1,600 11 90% March 10 $1,000 10.45%
Noveml’f;er 118 ?(2}33 1(1] g; April 11 1,000 10.50
December X
' May 10 .
Other Dates 1 9.00 -y 1,000 10.56
. June 10 500 10.55

1988 ' August 10 1,050 11.45
January 11 1,700 11.12 September 12 1,520 11.79
February 10 1,800 11.29 Other Dates 18 8.66

Mortgage Loan Portfolio

Types of Loans Purchased

The Corporation purchases primarily single-family, conventional, fixed-rate, first mortgage
loans, but 1t also purchases other types of residential mortgage loans for its loan portfolio,
including FHA/VA mortgage loans, adjustable-rate mortgage loans ("ARMs”), multifamily
mortgage loans, and second mortgage loans. The Corporation’s purchases currently also include
loans with a variety of maturities. The Corporation’s purchases of ARMs, fixed-rate loans with
intermediate terms (20 years or less), loans secured by second mortgages, and multifamily loans
are designed to assist 1n mitigating the risks associated with rising interest rates, to mateh more
closely the generally shorter maturities of its borrowings, and to provide a secondary market fora
variety of loans that may be attractive to potential homeowners.

The composition of the Corporation’s loan portfelio and of its loan purchases during the last
five years is shown 1n the table under “Mortgage Loan Portfolio Statistics.” Of the single-family
mortgage loans that the Corporation purchased in 1986, approximately 46 percent were from
mortgage banking companies, 29 percent were from savings and loan associations, 19 percent
were from commercial and mutual savings banks, and 6 percent were from other companies.

B-18



=

Conventional/FHA/VA In recent years the Corporation has purchased predominantly
conventional mortgage loans (i.e., mortgage loans that are not federally insured or guaranteed).
In 1986, approximately 99 percent of the total dollar amount of the Corporation’s purchases for
portfolio were conventional mortgage loans. The remainder were insured by the FHA or

guaranteed by the VA,

Fured- Rate/ Adjustable- Rate. The Corporation purchases both loans with fixed rates of
interest and loans with adjustable rates of interest. The interest rates on ARMs are determined
by formulas providing for automatic adjustment, up or down, in accordance with changes in a
specified index. Since October 1985, the Corporation has issued commitments to purchase ARMs
only if the ARMs have a cap on the amount the interest rate may change.

Substantially all fixed-rate loans provide for level monthly installments of principal and
interest. The Corporation also purchases some growing equity mortgage loans and graduated
payment mortgage loans (3 percent of loans purchased in 1986), which are fixed-rate loans with
planned annual increases in the monthly payments over a specified period of time. With a
growing equity mortgage loan, the increase 1n the payment applies solely to principal, resulting
in faster amortization. With a graduated-payment mortgage loan, the increase in the payment
applies to interest and additions previously made to the original prineipal balance because
payments during the early years did not cover the full amount of interest on the loan at the fixed
interest rate. Substantially all ARMs provide for adjustments (up or down) in the amount of
monthly installments when the interest rate on the loan is adjusted because of changes in the
applicable index. Instaliments on both fixed-rate loans and ARMs consist primarily of interest
during the early and middle vears with the major portion of the original prineipal balance
scheduled to be paid during the years immediately preceding maturity.

The volume of the Corporation’s purchases of ARMs has fluctuated, in part, because the level
of interest rates and the difference between the interest rates on fixed-rate loans and the initial
interest rates on ARMs with the same maturity influence the number of ARMs originated. Asa
result of the lower number of ARMs originated and available for purchase during the lower
interest rate environment in 1986 and the first half of 1987, the Corporation’s purchases of ARMs
during 1986 and the first nine months of 1987 consfituted only 4 percent and 6 percent,
respectively, of the amount of loans the Corporation purchased, compared with 33 percent in 1985.

Fuirst Mortgage/Second Mortgage The Corporation primarily purchases fixed-rate loans and
ARMs secured by first liens on residential properties ("first mortgage loans”), but it also
purchases fixed-rate, conventional loans secured by second hens (“second mortgage loans”).
Second mortgage loans generally bear higher interest rates and have shorter maturities than
first mortgage loans During 1986, the Corporation’s purchases of second mortgage loans
constituted 2 percent of total loans purchased.

Whole Loan/Participation Interest In addition to purchasing the complete ownership
interest 1n mortgage loans (typically called whole loans), the Corporation also purchases less than
100 percent ownership of mortgage loans (typically called participation interests). The Corpo-
ration purchases percentage interests that range from 50 percent to 95 percent

Single- Famaily/ Multifamaly  While the Corporation primarily purchases mortgage loans
secured by one- to four-family properties (“single-family” or "home" loans), it also purchases
conventional mortgage loans secured by multifamily dwellings (i.e., dwellings with more than
four families). These multifamily loans typically have a shorter term than singie-family
mortgage loans In 1986, the Corporation’s purchases of multifamily loans constituted 4 percent
of the amount of loans it purchased.

Maturity. The Corporation currently purchases conventional, fixed-rate mortgage Joans and
ARMs with original maturities of up to 30 years, with a minimum of 10 years for ARMs. Prior to
1986, the large majority of the Corporation’s single-family conventional loan purchases were 30-
year loans. In 1985, the Corporation began to purchase actively 15-year, conventional mortgage
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loans. In March 1987, the Corporation also began to purchase actively 10- and 20-year
conventional, fixed-rate loans and conventional, fixed-rate loans with 7- and 10-year balloons but
30)-year amortization schedules. During 1986 and the first nine months of 1987, the Corporation’s
purchases of intermediate term loans constituted 37 percent and 41 percent, respectively, of the
amount of loans it purchased, as compared with 13 percent of its purchases in 1985,

The multifamily mortgage loans that the Corporation currently purchases generally have an
eTective term not exceeding 15 years, although FHA -insured project loans have an original
maturity of 40 years.

Frincipal Balance Limits and Underwriting Guidelines

The Corporation may not purchase conventional mortgage loans on one-family dwellings if
their original principal balance exceeds $153,100, except for loans secured by properties in Alaska
and Hawaii. Higher principal balance limits apply to Joans secured by two or more family
dwelling units. The maximum principal balance limits applicable to the Corporation’s con-
ventional mortgage loan purchases increase annually if there have been increases in the average
cost of certain homes. On January 1, 1987, the limitation for one-family dwellings was raised
from $133,250 to the current level. See “Recent Legislative and Regulatory Developments.”

Conventional multifamily loans the Corporation purchases are subject to certain maximum
principal amounts, as set forth in the Charter Act, based on the number of units in the property
being financed and its location.

FHA -insured loans are subject to statutory maximum amount limitations. The Corporation
will not purchase VA-guaranteed loans that have prinecipal amounts in excess of amounts the

Corporation specifies.

Because FHA-1msured and VA-guaranteed mortgage loans, as a result of their government
backing, involve less risk to the Corporation from a credit standpoint, the Corporation’s basic
eligibility criterion for their purchase is simply the FHA insurance or the VA guaranty

Because conventional mortgage loans have no federal government backing, the Corporation
has established certain underwriting guidelines for their purchase in an effort to reduce the risk
of loss from mortgagor defaults. These guidelines are designed to assess the creditworthiness of
the mortgagor as well as the value of the mortgaged home relative to the amount of the mortgage
loan. The Corporation changes these guidelines from time to time, and the Corporation may
deviate from them as to particular mortgage loans. The Corporation generally relies on lender
representations to ensure that the mortgage loans it purchases conform to its underwriting

guidelines.

In light of a continuing high volume of foreclosure losses, in 1985 the Corporation revised
certain of its underwriting and borrower eligibility guidelines to increase the amount of income a
horrower needs to qualify for mortgage loans with low down payments, require additional
borrower cash down payment for certain types of loans, limit contributions paid by any interested
party to the transaction other than the homebuyer and make other changes. For information on
the Corporation’s loss and delinquency experience on single-family conventional mortgage loans,
see “Single-Family Conventional Mortgage Loan Portfolio Loss Charge-off, Delinquency, and

REO Experience.”

Generally, the Corporation requires that the unpaid principal amount of each conventional
first mortgage loan purchased by it (i) not be greater than 80 percent of the value of the
mortgaged property or (ii) if it is greater than 80 percent, that the excess over 75 percent be
insured by an acceptable mortgage insurance company for so long as the principal balance of the
mortgage loan is greater than 80 percent of such original value (or of the appraised value as
determined by a subsequent appraisal}. Although under the Charter Act mortgage insurance is
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not required on mortgage loans with loan-to-value ratios greater than 80 percent if the
mortgage loan seller retains a participation interest in the loan of not less than 10 percent or, in
certain instances, agrees to repurchase the loan in the event of a default, the Corporation is
requiring mortgage insurance in such cases, except where the lender agrees to repurchase the
loan in the event of default. The Corporation generally requires mortgage insurance for second
mortgage loans if the combined loan-to-value ratios of the first and second mortgage loans on the

property exceed 70 percent.

Commatments

The Corporation purchases mortgage loans by issuing commitments, by which it agrees in
advance to purchase a specified dollar amount of leans. The Corporation purchases mortgage loans
through standard product commitments with posted yields and through negotiated com-
mitments. The Corporation’s standard mortgage loan products currently include 15-year and 30-
year fixed-rate mortgage loans, several types of ARMs, and second mortgage loans Mortgage
loans delivered pursuant to the Corporation’s standard product commitments are sold to the
Corporation and serviced in accordance with the Corporation’s published guidelines. The
Corporation negotiates commitment terms primarily when the mortgage loans or proposed
commitment terms do not conform in some manner to one of the Corporation’s standard
mortgage loan products or standard commitments.

The Corporation purchases most of its mortgage loans pursuant to mandatory delivery
commitments. Under such commitments, lenders are obligated to sell loans to the Corporation at

the commitment yield.

The Corporation also issues "market rate” and “rate lock” standby commitments to lenders
that commit it te purchase a designated dollar amount of mortgage loans from them after they
convert the standby commitments to mandatory delivery commitments. The lenders are not
obligated to sell loans to the Corporation pursuant to the standby commitments. Lenders
generally must pay a fee to the Corporation to convert such commitments. The vield on the
mortgage loans is established at the time of the conversion in the case of “market rate” standby
commitments and at the time the lender obtained the commitment in the case of “rate lock”
standby commitments. The combined term of the standby and mandatory commitments
currently can be up to 9 months for “market rate” cdmmitments and up to 5 months and 14
months for standard and negotiated “rate-lock” commitments, respectively.

Lenders often have paid fees, typically from one-quarter of 1 percent to 1 percent of the
amount of the commitment, for these commitments, depending on market conditions, the type of
mortgage loan, and the length and characteristics of the commitment. See “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Annual Periods
—Results of Operations—New Accounting Standard” for a discussion of the Corporation's
current accounting treatment for such fees, a standard the Financial Accounting Standards
Board has issued requiring a change in accounting for commitment fees, and the manner in
which the Corporation intends to implement the new standard FEffective October 1, 1987, the
Corporation eliminated its requirement of upfront commitment fees on all mandatory delivery
transactions for its standard mortgage products Concurrently, the Corporation began offering
lenders the choice of obtaining a commitment without fees at competitive vields or a commit-
ment at lower yields with fees for selected negotiated, or nonstandard, mortgage purchase

transactions
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The following table sets forth the Corporatmn S mortgage loan portfolio commltment
act1v1ty

Mortgage Loan ‘Portfolio Commltments ’

(Dollars in mlllions) BT
. Nine Months -
) R . . Ended. . .
Year Ended December 31, ) T September 30,
Commitments Issued 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1986 . . 1987 .
Home: - Government-insured or . . . o . ) —_—
~guaranteed ...t $ 923 ¢ 141 ..$ .68 § 197 $ 210 3% 171, .8, 1,109
Conventional: Fixed-rate............. 18,405 10,562 11,838 11,902 29,910 . 24919 13,__202-
~ Adjustable-rate... 6,024 6,578 7072 . 6525 10'35, . 891 3282
. Second mortgage 1,745° 1325 1,240 808 ' 461 380 184
Total home mortgageloans...... 22,097 18601 20218 19482 31 616 . 26361 - 17,677
Multifamily: Government- -insured...... SR - X - e e — e
Conventional: - Fixed:rate... . — SRRCTt AR 703 . 798 1,371 5025169, .2 . 157
Adjustable- B A T TR S < S U URIC R P
rate.......... - - 8 — — e —

Total multifamily mortgage !
loans...... e 9 L6 - 189 27987 1,870 1,169

Total ... §18,607 © $21,007  $20,225°  $32,987 $27 530]} $1 s‘é.'a;;;.
v . o - December 31, ‘ ‘ September 30,
"CommitmentsOutsumding S 1982 1983 1984 000+ 1985 ‘1986 . 1986 L1987
Home: Government msured or ‘ Co R R s e : Co
-guaranteed izl eiviiieiemen . $" 4 $ .8 $ 12 % AT - $ 18
Convent)onal. leed rate............. .. 4,016 . 1,554 -8,015 .1,697.. 2,728 -
~ Adjustable-rate.... - 3,331 - . 3,828 52918 s 1,276 42T
. ‘ Second mortgage.. .. 206 ... 66 831 . 205. . 48 -
© Total home mortgage loans..... \~ 7,597 5456 - 6271 . 3195 3,216
Multlfamlly Government- msured....'..';..".;J....‘ e ‘ R S
Conventional: Fixed-rate... . - — g o180 Fo20T 0 170
Total’ multlfamlly mortgage . . i o oL EUhoL o e
10818 ..o onrssegeneeseene 9. .4 118 . 200 ... 170

$5460  $6384 $ 3402 $ 3386

Sermcmg

Those-who sell single- famlly mortgage loans and conventlonal multlfamxly loans to the
Corporation generally retain, subject to the Corporation’s. guidelines, the :responsibility. for
servicing the mortgage loans:sold. Servicing includes the collection and remittance of :principal
and interest payments, administration of escrow accounts, collection:of insurance: claims, and, if
necessary; processing of foreclosures.: The Corporation compensates servicers by- permlttmg.them
to retam a speclﬁed portlon of each mterest payment: on a serviced mortgage loan. SR

The Corporatlon services the government 1nsured multlfamlly loans in its portfoho. '
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Mortgage Loan Portfolio Statistics

The following table sets forth the composition of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio,
purchase activity, principal repayments, mortgage loan sales, the weighted average yield {net of
servicing) on the mortgage loan portfoho, and the average net yield on mortgage loans
purchased

Mortgage Loan Portfolio

(Doilars in millions)

Nine Months
Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,
1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1986 1987
Unpaid Principal Balances at End of Perod
Home Government-insured or
-guaranteed $33,742 $31,000  $29,016 $27,414 $15,968 319479  $14,637
Conventional Fixed-rate 27,790 32,533 38,781 45,065 58,176 53,522 59,155
Adjustable-rate 3,332 7,126 11,729 16,955 14,343 15,147 12,538
Second mortgage 1,636 2,386 2,817 2,899 2,169 2,360 1,571
Multifamily Government-insured 5,283 5,148 5,060 4,951 4,852 4,881 4,503
Conventional Fixed-rate 31 63 635 1,319 2,301 2,298 2,464
Adjustable-rate - — 71 46 24 30 16
Total unpaid balance $71,814 $78,256 $88,109 $98,649 $97,833  $97,717  $94,884
Average yield net of servieing 10 73% 10 70% 10 93% 10.81% 10 08% 10.29% 9.84%
Purchases During Period
Home Government-insured or
-guaranteed § 901 $ 186 $ 190 $ 482 $ 439 § 325 $ 1,149
Conventional Fixed-rate 9,443 11,703 9,644 12,398 27,454 19,434 11,805
Adjustable-rate 3,210 4,246 5,403 7,066 1,108 997 866
Second mortgage 1,552 1,408 937 871 498 399 121
Multifamily. Government-insured 10 12 — — — — —
Conventional. Fixed-rate — 2 567 693 1,327 1,003 267
Adjustable-rate — — 80 — — - —
Total mortgage Loans
purchased $15,116 317,557 $16,721 $21,510 $30,826 $22,158 $14,208
Average net yield on mortgage loans .
purchased 15 00% 12.65% 1279% 11 59% 957% 9 69% 9.34%
Interest-—-Capitahzed $ 118 $ 100 § 142 $ 140 § 52 § 44 3 13
Repayments During Period
Home Government-insured or
-guaranteed $ 1,263 § 2,046 $ 1,651 § 2090 $ 2876 $ 2,163 $ 1,621
Conventional Fixed-rate 910 3,474 2,846 4,796 12,396 9,048 8,499
Adjustable-rate 29 452 934 1,963 3,756 2,836 2,680
Second mortgage 92 658 505 788 1,228 938 719
Multifamily Government-insured 121 110 81 109 99 70 98
Conventional Fixed-rate — 7 5 20 360 35 109
Adjustable-rate — — 9 25 22 16 ki
Total mortgage loan
repayments (1) $ 2415 $ 6,747 § 6,031 $ 9,791 $20,737 $15,106  $13,743
Repayments as a percentage of total un-
paid balance { Annualized) 34% 8 6% 6 8% 99% 21.2% 205% 19.83%
Sales During Period
Home- Government-insured or
-guaranteed $§ 518 $ 907 $ 529 $ - $ 9011 $6099 3 B849
Conventional Fixed-rate 1,897 3,561 450 1,319 1,946 1,929 2,328
Multifamily Government-insured — —_ —_ — - —_ 250
Total sales $ 2415 & 4,468 $¢ 979 § 1,319 $10,957 § 8,028 § 3427

(1) Repayments include $357 million, $537 million, $648 million, $835 million and $1,142
million in 1982, 1983, 1984, 1985 and 1986, respectively, of loans removed from
portfolio as a result of foreclosures. Foreclosures included in repayments for the first
nine months of 1987 and 1986 were $896 million and $827 million, respectively.
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At September 30, 1987, the weighted average life (based on the underlying amortization
schedules, balloon provisions, and assuming no prepayments) of the mortgage loans in the
Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolic was approximately 21 years, and the weighted average
yield was 9.84 percent.

Prepayments and Assumptions

As shown by the table under “Mortgage Loan Portfolio Statisties,” the level of prineipal
repayments as a percentage of the Corporation’s mortgage loan portfolio in 1986 reflects a
substantial increase from the levels of previous years. Because the majority of mortgage loans in
the Corporation’s portfolio are prepayable by the borrower (in some cases with a small penalty),
the substantial decline in mortgage interest rates experienced in 1986 resulted in a significant
increase in prepayments of the higher interest rate mortgage loans in the Corporation’s loan
portfolio. This prepayment phenomenon was the major cause of the decline in yield on the
mortgage loan portfolio. In general, when the level of interest rates declines significantly below
the interest rates on portfolio mortgage loans, the rate of prepayment is likely to increase,
although the rate of principal payments is influenced by a variety of economic, geographie, social,

and other factors.

The low level of principal prepayments experienced in 1982 contributed to the Corporation’s
operating loss 1n 1982 Asa result, the Corporation was forced to rely more heavily on high-cost
borrowings to finance new mortgage purchases and to refund maturing indebtedness. The
Corporation believes that the significant reduction in principal paydowns during 1982 was due
primarily to the high interest rate environment. The high cost of new financing resulted in both
a decline in the number of home sales and a major portion of home sales being financed through
so-called “creative” financing wherein the existing mortgage was assumed by the purchaser of
the home (and generally coupled with second mortgage or purchase money financing) or
“wrapped” by another loan from another lender.

The Corporation currently enforces “due-on-sale” clauses 1n conventional fixed-rate mort-
gages purchased by the Corporation pursuant to lcommitments issued on and after November 10,
1980 and in conventional mortgages covering properties whose sale has been facilitated by
“wraparound” or second mortgages made by nstitutional lenders Because a significant porticn
of the Corporation’s portfolio loans (including all FHA and VA loans) do not contain any such
clause and several states have limited the enforcement of such clauses 1n loans originated or
assumed during certain periods prior to October 15, 1982, the Corporation has been unable to

prevent assumptions on a major portion of its portfolio.

Single- Famaly Conventional Mortgage Loan Portfolio Loss Charge-off,
Delinguency, and REQO Experience

Approximately 77 percent of the Corporation’s portfolio consists of single-family con-
ventional mortgage loans. The allowance for losses on conventional mortgage loans acquired for
portfolio 13 established by charges to income (called the provision for losses) when mortgage loans
are purchased, and is adjusted at other times to maintain the allowance at a level management
believes 1s appropriate. The allowance 1s reduced through charge-offs of foreclosure losses.
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The Corporation has experienced a substantial increase in losses charged off on conventional
mortgage loans. This increase has resulted both from an increase in the number of loans
foreclosed and from a higher average loss per foreclosure. The losses charged off on the single-
family conventional loan portfolio, excluding loans purchased as participation interests and loans
reported in summary format, are summarized in the following table:

Single-Family Conventional Loan Loss Charge-off Experience

(Dollars 1n milhons)

Nine Months
Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,
1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1986 1987
Net losses charged off during period {1) § 16 § 384 § 792 $ 1072 $ 1197 $§ 879 $ 1064
Principal balanee at end of period $23.933 $24,457 $24,634  $26,032  $31,550 $27,417 $35,343
Net loss charge-off ratio 00067% 01570% 03215% 04118% 03794% 04275% 04014%
Number of foreclosures during period 1,270 2,963 4,664 6,220 7,672 5,207 5,944
Number of loans at end of period 539,465 538,470 540,188 553,826 608,880 556,795 649,551

Percent foreclosed 02354% 05503% O0B634% 11231% 1.2600% 12469% 1.2201%

(1) Prior to September 1983, net losses charged off were determined upon disposition of
foreclosed properties by subtracting from the proceeds realized the sum of the book
value of the foreclosed asset and related foreclosure costs, expenses, interest acerued
but uncollected to the date of foreclosure, and other carrying costs. Beginning in
September 1983, estimated losses on acquired properties are charged to the allowance
for losses when properties are acquired rather than at disposition, and such estimated
losses are adjusted, from time to time as appropriate, to reflect current estimates of
net realizable value. In September 1983, $26.3 million was charged off against the
allowance for losses for write-downs to market of properties on hand and for below-
market financing on sales of acquired propertles in all prior periods.

Loan losses charged off relating to the remainder of the Corporation’s total single- family
conventional mortgage loan portfolio totaled $52.9 million for the first nine months of 1987, $53.2
million for 1986 and $35.6 million for 1985. The principal balance of such portion of the
Corporation’s portfolio at September 30, 1987 and at the end of 1986 and 1985 was $37.9 billion,
$43.1 billion and $38.9 billion, respectively. For periods prior to 1984, loan losses charged off on
this part of the portfolio were 1nsignificant,

Primarily in response to the increase in actual and anticipated charge-offs since 1984, the
Corporation has 1nereased the provision for loan losses. The provision for losses on single-family
conventional mortgage loans 1n the Corporation’s portfolio and the total allowance for Josses
thereon are summarized 1n the following table:

Single-Family Conventional Loan Loss Provision and Allowance for Losses
(Dollars in millions)
Nine Months

Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,

1982 1983 1584 1985 1986 1986 1987

Provision during year $30 935 $68 $161  $226 $170  $189
Allowance at end of period 125 112 92 107 151 144 167
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Delinguencies experienced on the single-family conventional loan portfoho are summarized
in the following table. Excluded from the table are loans purchased as participation interests and
loans reported in summary format.

Single- Family Conventional Loan Delinquency Experience

{Percent of portfelio by number of loans)

December 31, September 30,
Period of
Debnqueney 1982 1983 191 IsRs 1986 1986 1987
One month 3.3% 35% 3.7% 3.4% 2.7% 3.1% 2.3%
Two months A 8 .9 9 q 8 6
Three or more months __3 TE _5 _6 _E 7 6
Total(1) ﬁ% &g% E% ﬁ% 1}2% 46% 35%
Under special lender
forbearance A% 5% 6% % 6% 1% 5%
In foreclosure 6 9 8 9 B 9 q

(1) Delinquency percentages exclude loans under special lender forbearance or in
foreclosure.

The number of properties owned by the Corporation as a result of foreclosures ("REO”) has
increased significantly In recent years, due to the decrease in the rate of appreciation of
property values, mortgage insurance companies generally have paid the insurance claims rather
than take title to the foreclosed properties. This practice, 1n combination with an increased
number of foreclosures and a longer average holding period of the properties, has caused the
substantial inerease 1n the Corporation’s REO inventory, Information as to the number of REO
properties owned by the Corporation and the carrying value for the properties is contained in the

following table

Single-Family Conventional REO Experience

(Dollars in thousands)

March 31, December 31, September 30,
19841 198 19Bs  J9%s 198 1o87
Number of REO (2) 3,000 5,400 7,700 8,100 8,400 8,600
Aggregate carrying value (3) $140,000 $247,000 $295,000 $294,000 $309,000 $305,000
Average carrying value (3) $ 47 3 46 ¥ 39 § 36 § 37 § 35

(1) The Corporation began to compile comparable REO data as of March 31, 1984,

(2) The number of REO excludes properties acquired upon foreclosure of loans where the
Corporation had a participation interest of less than 100 percent. The Corporation
believes that the addition of such properties in 1986 would not have increased the
inventory by more than 15 percent. Beginning in 1987, such REO properties are
acquired and managed by the Corporation. As of September 30, 1987, the Corpo-
ration held 900 properties in which it had a participation interest.

(3) The carrying value of a property is the lower of the Corporation’s net investment
(after deducting any mortgage insurance proceeds) or current estimated net

realizable value.
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The Corporation’s loan portfolio also includes approximately $97.1 million of mortgage loans
of limited partnerships of which a successor to either Equity Programs Investment Corp.
("EPIC”) or a related company 1s the general partner under the reorganization plan discussed
below The EPIC hmited partnerships stopped making payments on their mortgage loans after
July 1985. Latern 1985, EPIC limited partnerships that are the mortgagors on most of such loans
filed for protection from creditors under Chapter 11 of the federal bankruptey code. On April 25,
1986, the Bankruptey Court confirmed a reorganization plan under which the interest rate on
EPIC mortgage loans was reduced from an average of 13.8 percent to a payment rate of 8.5
percent, and an accrual rate (for purposes of claims against sales proceeds and mortgage
insurance) of 11 percent The reorganization plan subsequently was modified to reduce the
interest rate on the loans, effective October 1, 1987. Until October 1, 1988, the interest rate will be
a payment rate of 7 percent and an accrual rate of 9.5 percent, and in subsequent years i1t will
vary in accordance with the one-year Treasury index. Under the plan, the approximately 20,000
homes (of which the Corporation owned 1,489), are to be sold over a five- to seven-year period,
and are to be rented in the interim The reduced interest payments will be funded by net rents
and any other funds available from the EPIC partnerships and, for mortgages insured by
participating mortgage insurers, by advances from the mortgage insurers to the extent that
other funds are 1nsufficient Virtually all of the Corporation’s EPIC mortgages are insured by
mortgage insurers participating in the reorganization plan. The Corporation expects that the
orderly property management and disposition process provided under the EPIC reorganization
plan will do much to mitigate potential losses. The Corporation stopped acceruing income on its
EPIC assets when the first defaults occurred in the third quarter of 1985. At this time,
management expects that the Corporation will not incur a material loss of its principal
investment in loans purchased from EPIC.

TMIC Insurance Company, Inc. ("TMIC”)}, formerly Ticor Mortgage Insurance Company, a
major national private mortgage insurer and a participating 1nsurer in the EPIC plan, was placed
into conservatorship by the California Insurance Department in April 1986, in part because it has
insured a significant amount, relative to its total capital and reserves, of EPIC mortgage loans.
On April 28, 1986, the Los Angeles Superior Court approved a Rehabilitation Plan for TMIC that
enables TMIC to participate 1n the EPIC reorganization plgn with respect to the EPIC mortgages
that TMIC 1nsures. As part of the reorganization plan, TMIC’s parent, TICOR, has agreed to
provide TMIC with $30 million in new capital over four years.

TMIC also insures individual mortgage loans owned by the Corporation. Although the
Corporation does not have information readily available regarding the percentage of its
mortgage loan portfolio that TMIC currently insures, management believes that TMIC insured
approximately 13 percent (approximately $1.7 billion) of the loans in the Corporation’s insured,
conventional whole-loan portfolio as of June 30, 1987, excluding loans purchased as participation
interests, loans purchased 1n summary format, and loans in MBS pools, for which data are not
readily available Effective September 5, 1985, the Corporation ceased to 1ssue commitments to
purchase, or 1ssue MBS with respect to, individual loans covered by mortgage insurance issued by
TMIC TMIC's Rehabilitation Plan provides that non-EPIC claims will be paid in three equal
annual 1nstallments, with simple interest at 8 percent per year on the unpaid instaliments
payable one year after payment of the third installment.

Corporate Indebtedness

Although the Corporation is stockholder-owned and its obligations are not backed by the
United States or any agency or instrumentahty thereof other than the Corporation, the
Corporation’s debt has traditionally been treated as “U.S. Agency” debt 1n the U.S. marketplace.
The Corporation, as a result, has historically enjoyed ready access to funds in the U.S. credit
markets at rates that are slightly higher than the yields on U.S. Treasury obligations of

comparable maturities
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The following table sets forth at September 30, 1987 the maturity profile of the Corporation’s
debentures and bonds that were originally issued with a maturity of one year or longer.

Average
Maturing Within Book Value Cost(1)
(Dollars in millions)

One year $14,414 11.18%
One to two years 11,659 10.77
Two to three years 10,110 10.13
Three to four years 10,258 8.47
Four to five years 7,558 9.24
Over five years 23,725 9.37

(1) Includes the amortization of issuance costs and hedging results, and the effect of
eurrency and interest rate swaps

The outstanding indebtedness of the Corporation consists of general unsecured obligations
issued under Section 304(b) of the Charter Act, subordinated capital debentures (including
convertible capital debentures), which are unsecured subordinated general obligations issued
under Section 304(e) of the Charter Act, and mortgage-backed bonds issued and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase under Section 304(d) of the Charter Act.

Section 304(b} of the Charter Act provides that the aggregate amount of obligations
outstanding under such subsection shall not exceed, at any one time, fifteen times the sum of the
capital (including, for this purpose, capital debentures), capital surplus, general surplus, reserves,
and undistributed earnings of the Corporation unless a greater ratio is fixed by the Secretary of
HUD. In 1982, the Secretary of HUD increased this ratio to 80:1, but on April 21, 1987, the
Secretary advised the Corporation that he would immediately lower the debt-to-capital ratio to
25:1, with the intention of further lowering this ratio to 20:1 by December 31, 1985 See "Recent
Legislative and Regulatory Developments.” Regulations adopted by HUD provide that this ratio
is, in the eventof a reduction in the Corporation’s capital, automatically increased to such ratio as
shall be necessary to include all obligations outstanding pursuant to Section 304(b). At
September 30, 1987 this debt-to-capital ratio was 21.2:1, compared with a ratio of 24.9:1 at
December 31, 1986 and September 30, 1986. At September 30, 1987, the Corporation could have
issued approximately $16.3 billion of obligations under Section 304(b) of the Charter Act in
addition to its then outstanding obligations under that Section.

Prior to October 15, 1982, the Charter Act provided that the total principal amount of
obligations issued under Section 304(e) that could be outstanding at any one time could not
exceed two times the sum of (i) the capital of the Corporation represented by its outstanding
common stock and (ii) its surplus and undistributed earnings at such time. Although this
restriction was removed by Congress in 1982, the Corporation is obligated to holders of certain
outstanding issues of subordinated capital debentures to maintain such ratio until such out-
standing debentures mature or are redeemed. At September 30, 1987, this stbordinated debt-to-
equity ratio was 0.9.1, compared with 1.1:1 at December 31, 1986 and 1.2:1 at September 30, 1986,
At September 30, 1987, the Corporation could have issued approximately $2.4 billion of additional
subordinated obligations and still have been in compliance with the 2:1 debt-to-equity ratio. The
latest maturity date of a series of subordinated debentures containing the subordinated debt-to-
equity restriction is September 30, 2002, although that series is callable at the Corporation’s
option beginning in 1983. Other noncallable subordinated obligations containing the subordi-
nated debt-to-equity restriction are scheduled to be outstanding until May 1939 Regulations
adopted by HUD provide that, at the maturity or other event requiring the payment or
redemption of obligations issued under Section 304(e) of the Charter Act, the permitted debt-to-
capital ratio is automatically increased as necessary to permit the issuance of obligations under
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Section 304(b) of the Charter Act in an amount sufficient to provide the proceeds required to pay
the principal of and interest on the outstanding subordinated obligations required to be paid at

such time.

Issuances of indebtedness pursuant to Section 304 (b) are also subject to the condition that, at
the time of any such issuance, the aggregate amount of such indebtedness then outstanding
under such Section 304(b), after giving effect to the indebtedness being issued, is not greater
than the Corporation’s ownership, free from any liens or encumbrances, of cash, mortgages or
other security holdings and obligations, participations or other investments. Unlike the debt-to-
capital ratio limitation described above, this Section 304(b) limitation 1s statutory and may not be
waived or varied by the Secretary of HUD. For purposes of each of the foregoing calculations, the
Corporation accounts for debt obligations issued at a discount at their book value (face amount
less unamortized discount).

Section 304(d) of the Charter Act, pursuant to which MBS and mortgage-backed bonds are
outstanding, imposes a requirement with respeet to securities issued thereunder that the
mortgages pledged or set aside must be sufficient at all times to make timely debt service
payments on the securities. There is no other limitation on the amount of MBS and mortgage-
backed bonds that may be outstanding.

Section 304(c¢) of the Charter Act authorizes the Secretary of the Treasury, in his discretion,
as a public debt transaction, to purchase obligations of the Corporation up to a maximum of $2.25
billion outstanding at any one time. This authority has not been used since the Corporation’s
transition from government control. Although the Secretary of the Treasury is authorized to
purchase the obligations of the Corporation, the Secretary is under no requirement to do so. Any
such obligations purchased by the Secretary of the Treasury must be issued pursuant to Section
304(b) of the Charter Act and, accordingly, would be subject to the applicable limitations and
restrictions described above.
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The following table sets forth the Corporation’s borrowing activity and outstanding bor-
rowings, the respective costs of borrowings, and average maturities. The amounts given are book
value (face amount less unamortized discount) except for short-term notes, which, because they
have a maturity of less than one year, are reported at their face amount.

Debt
(Dollars in millions)
v Nine Months
) Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,
1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1986 1987
Short-Term Notes, Master Notes, Securities
Sold under Agreements to Repurchase,
Residential Financing Securities, and In-
vestment Agreements
Issued during period:
AMOUNL ..o $36,152  $22,228  $26,281  $23,617  $22,066  $14,399  $16,159
Average cost...........ioeonireninnencnn. 1231% ~ 9.51% 10.92% = 8.47% 6.39% 6.71% 6.42%
~ Average Maturity—Days(1) .......... 141 - - 179 222 240 - 217 227 ‘135
Outstanding at end of period: :
AMOUNt ... $13,689  $13,410  $16,097 $17,427  $13,971  $12,640  $12,857
Averagecost.................... SO 10.78% 9.73% 11.05% 826% = 6.40% 6.89% . .7.14%
Average Maturity—Days(1) .......... 151 115 - 127 121 161 149 . 125
Bonds, Debentures, Medium-Term Notes, o
and Long-term Investment Agreements
Issued during period: : :
AMOUnt ..o $18,808 $17,790 $21,740 $24,569 $17,857 $12,457 $12,736
Average cost..........coocoevniicininneians 13.76% - 10.74% 11.99% 1047% 7.95% 8.17% 7.97%
Average Maturity—Months............ 88 58 51 67 85 90 76
Outstanding at end of period: )
AmMOount ..o, $56,392 $61,477 $67,992 $76,768 $79,745 $79,495 $79,906
Average cost..........ocooviiiiecineeinenienn. 11.583% 11.41% 11.63% 11.17%  1041% 10.65% 9.84%
Average Maturity—Months............ 33 35 36 42 49 47 52
Total Debt
Issued during period:
Amount ... . $54,960 $40,018 $47,971 $48,186 $39,923 $26,856 $28,895
Average cost(2) 12.82% 10.07% 11.47% 9.62% 1.10% 7.43% 7.11%
Average Maturity—
Months(1)(2)..cccorrriecernen 16 29 29 46 47 51 39
Outstanding at end of period:
AMOUNT ..o $70,031  $74,887  $84,089  $94,195  $93,716  $92,035  $92,763
Average cost(2) .......coovreerilociennenne 11.38% 11.12% 11.56% 10.79% 10.01% 10.35% 9.64%
Average Maturity—
Months(1)(2).cccooiieeirrecne 27 29 31 40 46 45 48

(1) This is calculated exclusive of certain investment agreements for which the average
maturity is indeterminate because the balance associated with each investment
agreement fluctuates over the life of the agreement.

(2) Average cost and maturity of total debt issued and outstanding include the
amortization of issuance costs, hedging results, and the effect of currency and
interest rate swaps.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Corporation issues mortgage-backed securities (*MBS”) and stripped mortgage-backed
securities ("SMBS”). These are guaranteed mortgage pass-through certificates evidencing
beneficial interests in pools of mortgage loans. The pools of mortgage loans are not assets of the
Corporation, nor are the related outstanding securities liabilities of the Corporation. The
Corporation, however, is liable under its guaranty. ’

B-30




The Corporation issues MBS for conventional, fixed-rate, single-family mortgage loans,
California variable-rate mortgage loans, FHA-insured and VA-guaranteed mortgage loans,
growing equity mortgage loans, ARMs, graduated-payment mortgage loans, and multifamily
loans that satisfy the maximum principal balance limits applicable to the Corporation’s purchases
for portfolic as described under “"Mortgage Loan Portfolio—Principal Balance Limits and
Underwriting Guidelines.” The majority of the Corporation’s MBS outstanding represents
beneficial interests in conventional fixed-rate mortgage loans on single-family dwellings.

Most MBS are 1ssued in “swap” transactions, in which lenders approved by the Corporation
exchange pools of mortgage loans directly for MBS. Lenders then either hold the certificates, sell
them to other investors, or use them as loan collateral in repurchase agreements. In 1984, the
Corporation began swapping MBS representing beneficial interests in conventional single- family
or multifarmly mortgage loans financed by bond issues of state or local governments or
authorities. In addition to "swap” transactions, the Corperation pools mortgage loans from its
own portfolio or purchases mortgage loans from lenders in exchange for cash, assembles the
mortgage loans 1n a pool, and sells the related certificates.

The MBS carry the Corporation’s guaranty of timely payment of scheduled principal and
interest on the underlying pooled mortgage loans, whether or not such payments are received
from the mortgagor Because of the Corporation’s guaranty of timely payment on the MBS, these
instruments attract investors who would not ordinarily invest in mortgage loans. The program
enables the Corporation to further its statutory purpose of increasing the liquidity of residential
mortgage loans without requiring that the Corporation take the financing or “spread” risk on the
pooled mortgage loans. In addition, MBS create a source of guaranty fee income to the
Corporation that is not as interest-rate sensitive as the Corperation’s portfolio investing

activities.

The Corporation’s activity 1n MBS is shown in the following table.

MBS .
{Dollars in millions)
1
Nine Months
Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,
1942 1983 19584 1985 1986(3) 198643} 1987(3}

Commitments-
Issued during period  $15,517 $15,722 $42,235(1) $32,957 $72,294 $50,598 $§ 55127

Outstanding at
period end 2,331 1,627 4,505 10,093 19,052 14,210 23,637(2)
MBS Certificates
Issued during peried  $13,870 $13,340 $13,546 $23,649 $60,566 $43,901 $50,344

QOutstanding at
period end 14,450 25,121 36,215 54,087 97,174 86,359 130,540

(1) The substantial increase in the commitment volume for mortgage-backed securities
mm 1984 resulted from a marketing effort that included the elimination of com-
mitment fees for a limited period on optional delivery MBS commitments. Because
these optional delivery commitments were issued without charging any commitment
fee, the delivery rate on these commitments was lower than normal.

(2) The $23.6 billion 1n commitments consists of approximately $13.1 billion in manda-
tory delhivery commitments and approximately $10.5 billion in optional delivery
commitments.

(3) Ineludes SMBS activity.
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The Corporation receives guaranty and commitment fees for its MBS and SMBS. In addition,
it receives fees for converting MBS to SMBS. For the nine months ended September 30, 1987,
MBS guaranty fees and commitment fees (exclusive of SMBS conversion fees) totaled $188.7
million and $8.2 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 1986, fees from MBS and
SMBS included $175.0 million of guaranty fees and $14.1 million of commitment fees. Com-
mitment fees are paid at the time a commitment is issued. Guaranty fees are generally paid
monthly. Commitments for MBS provide for optional or mandatory delivery.

Because the Corporation guarantees timely payment of scheduled principal and interest on
the MBS, it absorbs the ultimate credit risk of a borrower’s default on all conventional mortgage
loans in MBS pools. The Corporation protects against this risk in the same manner as for portfolio
mortgage loans. Specifically, the guidelines for mortgage loans purchased for MBS pools are the
same as those for mortgage loans purchased for portfolio as described under “Mortgage Loan
Portfolio—Principal Balance Limits and Underwriting Guidelines.” In addition, the Corpo-
ration’s risk may be offset somewhat to the extent sellers of pools of mortgage loans elect to
remain at risk on the loans sold to the Corporation. Lenders are provided an option to assume the
credit risk in exchange for paying a lower guaranty fee. At September 30, 1987, $51 billion of the
conventional mortgage loans that are part of MBS pools were acquired with recourse to the sellers
in the event of default by the borrowers on the underlying mortgage loans. If the loss rate on
conventional mortgage loans in pools should appreciably increase, the Corporation’s losses could, to
the extent not offset by recourse to sellers, become significant. An allowance for foreclosure losses
is maintained for MBS for which the Corporation does not have recourse to sellers on the
underlying loans. Charges to income are recorded ratably over several years beginning at the
time MBS are issued. Additional provisions for losses are recorded, when needed, to maintain the
Jiability at a level management believes is appropriate. When mortgage loans are sold from
portfolio into MBS, the related allowance is transferred. The Corporation charged off $19.5
million for the first nine months of 1987, $9.5 million in 1986 and $18.7 million in 1985 relating to
foreclosure losses on MBS. The Corporation’s allowance for foreclosure losses on MBS was $114.0
million, $78.9 million and $33.4 million, at September 80, 1987, December 31, 1986, and December
31, 1985, respectively.

During 1986, the Corporation introduced its stripped mortgage-backed security. An SMBS
consists of two or more classes of securities. Fach class represents a specified percentage of
undivided ownership interest in the principal payments to be made on a pool of mortgage loans or
MBS certificates and a different specified ownership interest in the interest payments on such
pool. Additionally, an SMBS issue may be structured with separate classes for principal and
interest. Under the traditional MBS program, an investor has an undivided interest in the entire
pool of underlying mortgage loans. The Corporation issued $2.4 billion of SMBS during 1986
through sales from portfolio. During the first nine months of 1987, the Corporation issued $9.1
billion of SMBS, including $6.7 billion through swaps of SMBS for MBS from lenders or dealers.
During the first nine months of 1987, the Corporation earned $41.8 million in fees for converting
MBS to SMBS. ' .

HUD has authorized the Corporation to issue up to $15 billion of Real Estate Mortgage
Investment Conduits (“REMICs”) (mortgage pass-through entities authorized by the Tax
Reform Act of 1986) backed by conventional mortgages through July 20, 1988. See “Recent
Legislative and Regulatory Developments.” The Corporation also may issue REMICs backed by
FHA/VA mortgages. As of October 31, 1987, the Corporation had issued $500 million of REMICs
backed by conventional mortgages and entered into an agreement to sell another $200 million of
REMICs backed by such mortgages.

National Mortgage Exchange Project

In 1986, the Corporation formed a subsidiary to explore the development of settlement and
custody businesses, along with supporting technologies, for the more efficient operation of the
secondary market for mortgage securities. In April 1987, the Corporation decided not to proceed
with the development of these businesses. The Corporation concluded that it would be best for it
to support other efforts already underway to make secondary market operations more efficient.
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Competition

The Corporation competes, within the hmits prescribed by its Charter Act, in the purchase of
mortgage loans for portfolio and the issuance of mortgage-backed securities in the secondary
mortgage market The Corporation competes primarily with savings and lean associations,
savings banks, commercial banks, mortgage bankers, government-sponsored corporations, and
companies that pool mortgage loans (“conduits”) for sale to investors as whole loans or mortgage-
backed securities. The number and types of institutions that compete with the Corporation have
increased significantly in recent years, with the substantial increase in the amount of mortigage
loans sold in the secondary mortgage market and the growth of mortgage-backed securities.

The Corporation’s market share of loans purchased for portfolio is affected by the volume of
mortgage loans offered for sale in the secondary market by loan originators and other market
participants, the amount purchased by other market participants that compete with the
Corporation, and the adequacy of funds to meet the demands of the housing industry. In its
purchase of mortgage loans for portfolio, the Corporation competes primarily on the basis of yield,
fees, and products and services offered Competition has been particularly intense for ARMs
because many savings and loan associations and other market participants have purchased or
retained such loans to better match the terms of their assets and liabilities.

In 1ssuing MBS, the Corporation competes primarily with other companies that 1ssue
mortgage-backed securities, including conduits, savings and loan associations, and commercial
banks. The Corporation’s primary competitor for MBS is the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation, whose primary business consists of the issuance of mortgage-backed securities. The
Corporation and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation compete primarily on the basis of
the amount of the guaranty fee charged, the products offered, and differences in such matters as
mortgage eligibility standards and delivery requirements Since 1985, the Corporation has
responded to increased competition by more frequently negotiating the guaranty fee, which has
resulted in a decrease in the average level of the guaranty fee charged by the Corporation. The
“Guarantor” program is the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation’s program that is
comparable to the Corporation’s “swap” program. In 1986, the Corporation issued approximately
$48.9 billion 1n connection with 1its “swap’' program, and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation 1ssued approximately $58.4 billion 1n connection with its "Guarantor” program.

1

RECENT LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

The Administration’s budget plan for the 1988 fiscal year, released in January 1987, stated
that the Administration 1s studying ways of “privatizing” the Corporation and the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation. Alteration of the relationship of the Corporation to the federal
government created by the Charter Act would require legislation. No such legislation has been
introduced to date Alteration or elimination of the Corporation’s current relationship with the
federal government could require the Corporation to change the manner in which it currently
conducts business and could have a material adverse effect on its results of operations,

The Administration’s 1988 fiscal year budget proposals did not include the imposition of user
fees on the Corporation’s activities. The Administration’s prior 1986 and 1987 fiscal year budget
packages included recommendations, which were not enacted, to require the Corporation and
other government-sponsored enterprises to pay user fees to the United States Treasury when
1ssuing debt or MBS,

The Admimstration is seeking Congressional sponsorship for a proposed bill that would limit
permanently the maximum amount of a mortgage loan that the Corporation and the Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation can purchase to the lesser of $153,100 or a dollar amount
determined by the Secretary of HUD in any housing market that 1s equal to, or greater than, the
75th percentile of home sale prices in that housing market. (Higher limits would apply to loans
secured by residences for more than one family.) No such legislation has been introduced to date.
Such a standard could reduce significantly the principal balance of loans that the Corporation

could purchase 1n many areas
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Housing bills approved by the United States Senate on March 31, 1987, and by the House of
Representatives on June 11, 1987 (5 825 and H.R. 4, respectively), both include similar provisions
that would prohibit the imposition of user fees on the Corporation and permanently codify the
authority of the Corporation to purchase second mortgage loans. Both bills would authorize the
Corporation to elimnate, with the approval of the Corporation’s shareholders and Board of
Directors, cumulative voting by shareholders in elections of directors. H.R 4 also would clarify
that the timetable for HUD action on the Corporation’s requests for approvals or other action
under the Charter Act may not exceed 60 days from the date of the Corporation’s submission.

The statutory codification of the Corporation’s second mortgage authority was extended from
September 30 through October 31 by P.L. 100-122, which was signed by the President on
September 30, and through November 15 by P.L. 100-154, which was signed by the President on

November 5, 1987,

On June 28, 1987, the Department of Housing and Urban Development issued its first annual
report to Congress on the Corporation, as required by 1984 legislation. While the report contains
no specific recommendations or legislative proposals, it presents a set of twelve options for the
future, ranging from immediate privatization to indefinite maintenance of the status quo.

Three federal banking regulators, the Federal Reserve Board, the Comptroller of the
Currency, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, have published requests for public
comments on proposed risk-based capital guidelines that would apply to banks and bank holding
companies. The proposed guidehnes would, for purposes of capital requirements, piace obligations
of issuers, including those of the Corporation, in one of five different risk categories. The
proposals place debt issued by the Corporation and other federal government sponsored entities in
the same risk category as debt 1ssued by state and local governments. The Corporation has
submitted comments to the three federal banking regulators objecting to the risk categorization
proposed for its obligations and recommending that they be placed in a lower risk category that is
closer to the risk category for obligations that the United States Treasury issues. The Corporation
also noted that the proposed guidelines are ambiguous regarding the status of obligations
guaranteed by federal government sponsored entities, such as the Corporation’s MBS, and
recommended that the final guidelines recognize that they should be in the same risk category as
such entities’ debt obhigations. The proposed guidelines are not expected to be finalized until the
three federal banking regulators have received and evaluated the comments submitted by the

public

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Tax Reform Act”), which became law in October 1986,
made major changes to the federal tax law that will affect the taxation of the Corporation and of
financial stitutions 1n general. Although the greatest impact of the changes will affect the
Corporation’s taxable years beginning after December 31, 1986, the Tax Reform Act also contains
retroactine provisions applicable to the Corporation’s federal income taxes for 1986. The Tax
Reform Act contains the following changes, among others, from prior law:

1 The Tax Reform Act reduces the maximum corporate income tax rate from 46 to 34
percent beginning July 1, 1987 For 1987, transitional rules provide a maximum rate of 40

percent for the Corporation

2 The bad debt reserve method is no longer available to the Corporation. Instead, losses
may be deducted only as incurred. In addition, the Corporation must recapture its existing
bad debt reserve into income on a straight-line basis over the next four years.

3 The Corporation may no longer carry its net operating losses back ten and forward
five years Instead, the normal three-year carryback/fifteen-year carryforward rule applies
to the Corporation beginning with its 1987 tax year
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4. The pre-1987 corporate add-on minimum tax is replaced with an alternative minimum
tax {("AMT"”) equal to 20 percent of a tax base consisting generally of taxable income plus
preference items, computed with special adjustments. Among the items of preference and
adjustments taken into account in computing the AMT tax base are: the difference between
accelerated depreciation on real property and straight-line depreciation over a 40-year hfe;
one-half of the excess (if any) of the pre-tax book income (generally, that reflected on
financial reports) over the AMT tax base (subject to certain adjustments), except that, for
taxable years beginning after 1989, this adjustment is replaced with an adjustment
determined by reference to 75 percent of the difference between adjusted current earnings
(as defined in the Tax Reform Act) and the AMT tax base (subject to certain adjustments);
and tax-exempt interest earned on most nongovernmental purpose bonds issued after
August 7, 1986.

It currently is not possible to determine the aggregate effect of the changes described above
(together with the other changes in the federal income tax law as a result of the Tax Reform Act)
on the Corporation.

In addition, the Tax Reform Act permits the issuance of muitiple-class mortgage-backed
securities, The new law contains no limitations on Fannie Mae securities collateralizing such
1ssuances, or on the Corporation’s ability to issue them. On April 21, 1987, the Secretary of HUD
approved the Corporation’s 1ssuance, until July 20, 1988 and subject to several conditions to which
the Corporation has agreed, of such securities backed by conventional mortgage loans. These
conditions include: (1) a $15 billion limit on the aggregate principal amount of such securities; (2)
a minimum certificate size of $100,000; and (3) a restriction against the Corporation’s direct or
indirect sale of such securities to mutual funds. In his letter of approval to the Corporation, the
Secretary aiso stated that he plans to recommend legislation that would move the Corporation
toward privatization and, as a further condition of his approval, required that the Corporation
engage with HUD 1n a serious study of appropriate privatization legislation. HUD has notified
the Corporation that the study will focus, in part, on the potential impact on the Corporation and
the housing market of modifying or removing one or more of the attributes of the Corporation's
agency status. It is impossible to predict what legislative proposals, if any, the Secretary might
make as a result of the study. Management will oppose ahy legislative proposal that does not fully
protect the rights of the Corporation’s debtholders, shareholders and MBS holders and the
interests of the housing and home finance industries and homebuyers. Any proposed legislation
would have to be enacted by both houses of Congress and signed by the President to become
effective. However, management does not believe that the current Congress will enact any such
legislation.

In his letter approving the Corporation’s issuance of multiple-class securities backed by
conventional mortgage loans, the Secretary of HUD also stated that he would reduce the
Corporation's authorized debt-to-capital ratio. The reductions he mentioned are in line with
management'’s objective of lowering the Corporation’s leverage, and management believes that
the Corporation will not experience difficulty in meeting the reduced ratios. See "Business—
Corporate Indebtedness.”

The Federal Home Loan Bank Board ("FHLBB”) requested industry comments at a
conference held in May 1987 on investment by FSLIC-insured savings institutions in various
types of derivative mortgage-backed securities, including SMBS consisting of interest-only
("10”) and principal-only (“PO”) classes that are issued by the Corporation. In its release
requesting comments, the FHLBB said that it recognizes that use of derivative securities must be
viewed in a total portfolio context, but the risk inherent in them, as well as potential lack of
controls, excessive concentration, and inadequate hedging strategies, may pose risks to FSLIC-
insured institutions It also said that it is seeking to identify the types of risks stemming from
investment in and issuance of the instruments, rather than to impede development of the
market In addition, at least two state regulators have adopted regulations designed to prohibit
regulated institutions subject to their jurisdiction from holding 10 mortgage-backed securities,
mnmcluding mortgage-backed securities previously purchased.,
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Directors

The age and background, as of November 2, 1987, of each of the members of the Board of

MANAGEMENT

Directors of the Corporation are as follows:

Name and Age

James A Aliber, 62

Samuel W Bartholo-
mew, Jr{2), 43

Felix M Beck, 61

Roger E Birk, 57

El Broad, 54

Alberto R.
Cardenas(2), 39

Henry C Cashen
11(2), 48

Principal Occupaticn,
Business Experience, and Residence

Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, First Federal of Michigan, a
savings and loan association, 1978 to
present; Birmingham, Michigan

Chairman, Stokes & Bartholomew, P A, a
law firm practicing in Tennessee, 1977 to
present: Nashville, Tennessee

Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, Margaretten & Co, Ine, a
mortgage banking company, 1969 to
present; Livingston, New Jersey

President and Chief Operating Officer of
the Corporation, November 1987 to present;
Chairman Emeritus, April 1985 to precent,
Chairman of the Board, 1951 to Apnl 1985,
Chief Executive Officer, 19¥1 1o 1984 and
President, 1976 to 1982, Mernll Lynch &
Co, Inc, a financial services company;
Chairman of the Board, International
Securities Clearing Corporation, November
1986 to October 1987; Rumson, New Jersey

Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, Kaufman and Broad, Inc, a
housing and financial services corporation,
1976 to present; President and Chief Exec-
utive Officer, Sun Life Insurance Company
of America, 1983 to present, Chairman of
the Board, Sun Life Group of Ameriea, Inc.,
a Iife 1nsurance company, 1978 to present;
Los Angeles, California

Senior Partner, Greenberg, Traurig, Ask-
ew, Hoffman, Lipoff, Rosen & Quentel, P A.,
a law firm practicing in Florida, July 1987
to present, Partner, Broad and Cassel, a law
firm practicing in Florida and Georgia,
1983 to July 1987: Partner, Barrow, Leh-
man, Cardenas & Picken, a law firm prac-
tietng in Florida, 1981 to 1983; Miami,
Florida

Partner, Dickstein, Shapiro & Morin, a law
firm practicing in the District of Columbia
and New York, 1973 to present; Washing-
ton, D C
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1985
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Other
Directorships (1)

Hertz Penske Truck Leas-
ing, Inc; Mutuwal of
America; New Jersey Re-
sources Corp

ey b w

oA




Name and Age

Joseph P. Hayden, 58

Carla A Hills, 53

David 0. Maxwell, 57

Vance C Miller (2}, 54

John M O'Mara, 60

Samuel J.
Simmons, 60

Christopher J.
Semner, 41

Richard C Van
Dusen, 62

Mallory Walker, 48

Principal Occupation,
Business Experience, and Residence

Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, 1980 to present, and President
and Chief Executive Officer, 1961 to 1980,
The Midland Company and its subsidiaries,
a company engaged 1n financing and 1n-
suring of manufactured housing; Cinecin-
nati, Ohio

Co-Managing Partner, Weil, Gotshal &
Manges, a law firm practicing in the Dis-
trict of Columbia, New York, Texas, and
Florida, November 1986 to present, Part-
ner, Latham, Watluns & Hills, a law firm
practicing in the District of Columbia, Ii-
linms and Cahfornia, 1978 to November
1986, Washington, D.C.

Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation,
1981 to present, President and Chief Oper-
ating Officer of the Corporation, 1981:
Chairman of the Board and Chief Execu-
tive Officer, Ticor Mortgage Insurance
Company (now known as TMIC Insurance
Company), a private mortgage 1nsurance
company, 1973 to 1981, Washington, D C.

Chairman, Executive Committee, Henry S.
Mlier Co., a real estate development com-
pany, 1980 to present; Dallas, Texas

Managing Director, Chase Investment
Bank, a financial services corporgtion,
September 1985 to present: Senior Viee
President, Wertheim & Co., investment
bankers, 1981 to Septemhber 1985: Green-
wich, Connecticut

President, The National Caucus and Center
on Biack Aged, Inc., a non-profit organiza-
tion, 1982 to present; housing and real
estate consultant, 1981 to present,

Washington, D.C.

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director, Crossland Savings FSB, a finan-
cial nstitution, 1980 to present:; Salt Lake
City, Utah

Chairman, Dickinson, Wright, Moon, Van
Dusen & Freeman, a law firm practicing 1n
Michigan and the District of Columbia,
1977 to present; Birmingham, Michigan

President, Walker & Dunlop, Inc, a mort-
gage banking and real estate company,
1976 to present; Washington, D.C .
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1969

1982

1981

1986

1970

1978

1985

1981

1981

Other
Directorships(1)

First National Cincinnati
Corporation; First Na-
tional Bank of Cincinnata

AMR Corporation; Corn-
ing Glass Works, Inter-
national Business Ma-
chines Corporation; The
Signal Companies, Inc.
Chevron Corporation

Kaufman and Broad, Inc.

BaneTexas Group, Inc.

Baldwin & Lyons, Inec,
The Midiand Company

Financial American Net-
work

Pennwalt Corporation:
Primark Corporation

(footnotes on the following page)



{1} Companies with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of
that Act or any company registered as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940 Certain directorships of other companies are also noted in the
occupation column,

(2) Appointed by the President of the United States, who has authority to appoint five
directors. The President currently has appointed four directors only and may appoint

one additional director.

Executive Officers

The age and business experience, as of November 2, 1987, of each of the executive officers of
the Corporation, are as follows:

David O Maxwell, 57, has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer since 1981 He also served briefly as the Corporation’s President and Chief Operating
Officer 1n 1981 until his election to his present position

Roger E. Birk, 57, has been President and Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation since
November 1987 and a director of the Corporation since 1985, Mr. Birk was Chairman of the Board
of International Securities Clearing Corporation from November 1986 to Qctober 1987. He is
Chairman Emeritus of Merrill Lynch & Co. and served from 1981 to 1985 as Chairman of the
Board of Merriil Lynch Mr Birk also served as Chief Executive Officer from 1981 to 1984 and
President from 1976 to 1982 of Merrill Lynch.

Samuel A Alward, 56, has been Executive Vice President—Technology since April 1987. Mr.
Alward was President and Chief Executive Officer of the National Mortgage Exchange Interim
Corporation from November 1986 to April 1987 Prior to his assoclation with the Corporation, Mr.
Alward was Executive Vice President of Finance and Administration with the New York Stock

Exchange.

Caryl S. Bernstein, 53, has been Executive Vice President since 1982 and General Counsel and
Secretary since 1981 Mrs Bernstein was Senior Vice President from 1981 until her election as
Executive Vice President

J Timothy Howard, 39, has been Executive Vice President— Economics, Strategic Planning,
and Financial Analysis since September 1987. Mr Howard was Senior Vice President—
Economics and Corporate Planning from November 1985 to September 1987, Senior Vice
President and Chief Economist from October 1983 to November 1985, and Vice President and
Chief Economist from March 1982 to October 1983 Prior to his employment with the Corporation,
Mr. Howard was Vice President and Senior Financial Economist for Wells Fargo Bank from April
1978 to March 1982.

Bruce C McMitlen, 44, has been Executive Vice President and Chief Finanaal Officer since
September 1985 Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr McMillen was Executive Vice
president and Chief Finanaal Officer of BarclaysAmericanCorporation, a diversified financial

services company

Edward J Pinto, 38, has been Executive Vice President and Chairman—Credit Policy
Committee since April 1987 Mr Pinto was Senior Vice President—Marketing and Product
Management from April 1985 to Apnil 1957, and Vice President for Negotiated Transactions from
September 1984 to April 1985 Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Pinto was with
Mortgage Guaranty Investment Corporation where he was Capital Markets Program Manager
and Sentor Legal Counsel and with the Michigan State Housing and Development Authority as
Deputy Executise Director of Legal Affairs

Dale P Riordan, 39, has been Executive Vice President— Administration and Corporate
Relations since February 1986. Mr. Riordan was Senior Vice President—Government Relations
from December 1983 to May 1986, Vice President of Government Relations from January 1983 to
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December 1983, Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board from June 1982 to
January 1983 and Vice President for Strategic Planning from July 1981 to June 1982.

Michael A. Smilow, 50, has been Executive Vice President—Mortgage Operations since July
1984. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Smilow was Executive Vice President of
Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Corporation, a mortgage insurance company. He was also an
officer and director of MGIC Investment Corporation and related companies.

Glenn T. Austin, Jr., 39, has been Senior Vice President—Southeastern Regional Office since
May 1985. Mr. Austin was Regional Vice President from April 1982 until his election as Senior
Vice President. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Austin was Senior Vice
President in charge of field operations at PMI Mortgage Insurance Company.

Douglas M. Bibby, 41, has been Senior Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the
Board since March 1987 Mr. Bibby was Senior Vice President—Corporate Affairs from October
1983 to March 1987. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr Bibby was Vice President
of Russell Reynolds Associates, Inc., an executive recruiting firm, from September 1982 to October
1983 and was employed for 12 years by J. Walter Thompson Company, where his most recent title

was Senior Vice President.

Dennis G. Campbell, 38, has been Senior Vice President—Marketing and Product Manage-
ment since April 1987. Mr. Campbell was Vice President—Marketing from May 1985 to April
1987, and Senior Assistant Regional Vice President—Northeastern Regional Office—Marketing
from 1983 to May 1985. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Campbell was Vice
President for Residential Mortgage Lending with the Philadelphia Savings Fund Society during

1982 and 1983.

Larry H. Dale, 41, has been Senior Vice President-—Multifamily Activities since June 1987,
Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Dale was Vice President of Newman and
Associates from 1984 to June 1987. From 1983 to 1984, he was the managing general partner of
Octogon Financial Services and from 1981 to 1983 he was President of Mid-City Financial

Corporation.

Judith Dedmon, 36, has been Senior Vice President—Southwestern Regional Office since July
1987. Ms. Dedmon was Senior Vice President—Quality Standards from April 1987 to July 1987,
Vice President for Quality Standards from July 1985 to April 1987, and Assistant Regional Vice
President—Counsel in the Southeastern Regional Office from September 1982 to July 1985.

Hugh E. Flaherty, 56, has been Senior Vice President—Corporate Affairs since April 1987.
Mr. Flaherty was Vice President—Public Relations from August 1984 to April 1987. Prior to his
employment with the Corporation, Mr. Flaherty was Director of Public Affairs for The Pittston

Company.

John H Fulford, III, 38, has been Senior Vice President—Western Regional Office since
November 1985 Mr. Fulford was Regional Vice President—Western Regional Office from May
1985 to November 1985 and Senior Assistant Regional Viee President—Marketing from February
1983 to May 1985. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Fulford was employed by
Ticor Mortgage Insurance Company (now known as TMIC Insurance Company) where his most
recent title was Vice President— Director of Marketing Services.

Charles W. Harvey, Jr., 55, has been Senior Vice President—Northeastern Regional Office
since May 1985 Mr. Harvey was Regional Vice President—Northeastern Regional Office from
1973 to May 1985.

John R. Hayes, 48, has been Senior Vice President—Midwestern Regional Office since
November 1985, Mr. Hayes was Regional Vice President—Midwestern Regional Office from 1972
to November 1985.
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G. William Knight, 47, has been Senior Vice President of the Corporation since J uly 1987 and
President and General Manager—Fannie Mae Software Systems since June 1987. Prior to his
employment with the Corporation, Mr. Knight was with IBM Corporation in a number of
positions. His most recent position was Branch Manager, National Distribution Division.

Robert J. Levin, 32, has been Senior Vice President—Mortgage-Backed Securities since
February 1987. Mr. Levin was Senior Vice President and Assistant to the Chairman of the Board
from May 1986 to February 1987, Senior Vice President—Corporate Finance from November 1985
to May 1986, Vice President for Corporate Finance from July 1984 to November 1985, Director of
Corporate Finance from November 1983 to July 1984, Senior Financial Analyst from March 1982
to November 1983, and Financial Analyst from May 1981 to March 1982 ‘

Robert J. Mahn, 59, has been Senior Vice President and Controller since June 1985 Mr. Mahn
was Senior Vice President—Mortgage Operations from February 1982 to June 1985, and Vice
President— Mortgage Operations from June 1981 to February 1982.

‘William R. Maloni, 42, has been Senior Vice President for Government Relations since April
1987. Mr. Maloni was Vice President for Government Relations from February 1986 to April 1987,
Vice President for Congressional Relations from March 1984 to February 1986, and Director for
Congressional Relations from August 1983 to March 1984. Prior to his employment with the
Corporation, Mr. Maloni was Director of Congressional Relations with the Federal Home Loan
Bank Board.

~"Anthony F. Marra, 46, has been Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
Apnl 1987. Mr. Marra held the position of Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from
November 1985 to April 1987. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Marra was
Deputy General Counsel with the Overseas Private Investment Corporation.

James P. McMann, 49, has been Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel since
April 1987 and was Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from 1982 to April 1987.

Gary L. Perlin, 36, has been Senior Vice President—Finance and Treasurer since November
1985. Mr. Perlin was Vice President for Risk Management from October 1983 to November 1985,
and Director of Hedge Management from February 1982 to October 1983.

David E. Roberts, 46, has been Senior Vice President—Corporate Information Services since
November 1985. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Roberts was Vice President,
Information. Management Systems, at Acacia Mutual Life Insurance Company from January
1983 to September 1985 and Vice President, Information Services Department, at Great Southern
Life Insurance Company from September 1981 to December 1982.

" William A. Schainker, 44, has been Senior Vice President for Regional Actlvxtles since
November 1986 and was Acting Senior Vice President for Regional Activities from September
1986 to November 1986. Prior to his employment with the Corporation, Mr. Schainker was Vice
President of Kaufman and Broad, Inc. from 1981 to September 1986.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Federal National Mortgage Association:

We have examined the balance sheets of Federal National Mortgage Association as of
December 31, 1986 and 1985, and the related statements of operations and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1986. Our examinations were made in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and, accordingly, included such tests of
the accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances.

In our opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly the financial position
of Federal National Mortgage Association at December 31, 1986 and 1985 and the results of its
operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
1986, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.

PEAT, MARWICK, MITCHELL & CO.

Washington, D C.
January 23, 1987
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Interest income:

Mortgage portfolio, net of servicing fees

Investments

Total interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income (loss)

Other income:
Commitment fees
Guaranty fees
Gain on sales of mortgages
Miscellaneous

Total other income

Other expenses:
Provision for losses
Administrative

Total other expenses
Income (loss) before federal income taxes

Provision for federal income taxes:
Current
Deferred

Net income (loss)

Per share:
Earnings (loss):
Primary
Fully diluted
Cash dividends

See Notes to Financial Statements

C-2

Y ear Ended December 31,

1986

1985

1984

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts}

$9,911
116
10,027
9,723

304

279
175
3
56

$ 249
2.46
.20

$9,873
124

9,997
9,926

71

196
112

$8,647
197

8,844
8,996

(152)

114
78
12
36

240

86
112

198
{110)

(112)

)
$ (57)

$ (.87)
(.87)
.16



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
December 31,
1986 1985
(Dollars 1n milliens)
Mortgage portfolio, net $ 94,734 $95,138
Cash and investments 1,862 1,929
Accrued interest receivable 904 949
Receivable from currency swaps 1,054 630
Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net 414 374
Unamortized debenture issue costs 132 103
QOther assets 1,306 594
Total assets $100,406 $99,717

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Liabilities:
Bonds, notes, and debentures, net:
Due within one year $ 31,294 $31,939
Due after one year __GH@)_ EL:;B
93,563 93,985
Accrued interest payable - 2,305 2,283
Payable from currency swaps ) 779 546
Mortgagors’ escrow deposits 1 340 328
Deferred federal income taxes 652 672
Other liabilities 1,174 561
Total liabilities 98,813 98,375
Stockholders’ equity.
Preferred stock, no maximum authorization; series A,
adjustable rate, $100 stated value, 4,500,000 shares
authorized, no shares issued — —
Common stock, $6.25 stated value, no maximum author-
ization—73,764,180 shares issued in 1986 (73,078,937
shares in 1985) 461 457
Additional paid-in capital 452 375
Retained earnings 680 512
1,593 1,344
Less treasury stock, at cost—2,295 shares in 1986 {179,906
in 1985) — 2
Total stockholders’ equity 1,593 1,342
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $100,406 $99,717

See Notes to Financial Statements
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Noncash and nonoperating items included in
income;:

Interest capitalized on graduated payment
mortgages

Provision for deferred federal income taxes

Provision for losses

Purchase discount amortization

Increase in acerued interest payable

Increase (decrease) in accrued interest
receivable

(Gain on sale of mortgages

Net 1ncrease (decrease) in other receivables
and payables
Proceeds from mortgagors’ escrow deposits

Net cash used by operations

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of mortgages
Proceeds from sales of mortgages
Mortgage principal repayments

Proceeds from disposition of foreclosed -
properties

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash proceeds from issuance of debentures

Cash payments to retire debentures net of
debt converted to common stock

Net increase (decrease) in notes and
investment agreements

Cash proceeds from issuance of common stock
and detachable common stock purchase
warrants

Dividends paid
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and investments

Year Ended December 31,

1986

$ 183

(52)

(75)
306

(401)
10

45
(3)

(76)
12

(51)

(30,733)
10,868
19,630

869

634

19,527
(17,068)
(3,162)

68
(15)

(650)
$ (67)

1985

(Dollars 1n millions)

§ 37

(140)
45
206

(427)
39

(52)

181
19

(92)

(21,072)
1,289
8,946

763

(10,074)

25,688
{19,449)
3,870

108
(11)

10,206
$ 40

See Notes to Financial Statements
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1984

$ (57)

(142)
59
86

(361)

229

(203)
(12)

(102)
37

(466)

(15,329)
957
5,328

595
(8,449)

24,822
(16,840)

1,113

(11)
9,084
$ 169



FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Corporation operates in the residential mortgage finance industry. Its accounting
policies conform to generally accepted accounting principles. Certain amounts in prior years’
financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation. The
Statements of Cash Flows are presenied in conformity with a proposed Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards which requires that such statements be provided in place of Statements of
Changes 1n Financial Position. The following is a description of the Corporation’s significant

accounting policies.

Mortgage Portfolio and Purchase Discount

Mortgages acquired for investment are carried at their unpaid principal balances less
unamortized discount. Discount is recognized as income using an amortization method that, in
the aggregate, approximates a level yield over the estimated life of the related mortgages.

Guaranteed Mortgage-Backed Securities

The Corporation guarantees the timely payment of principal and interest on mortgage-
backed securities ("MBS”). These securities represent interests in pools of mortgages held in
trust by the Corporation. The mortgages are not assets of the Corporation, nor are the
outstanding securities liabilities of the Corporation; accordingly, neither is reflected in the
accompanying balance sheets

Foreclosure Losses

The allowance for losses on conventional home mortgages acquired for portfolio is established
by charges to income when mortgages are purchased and is adjusted at other times to maintain
the allowance at an appropriate level. The Corporation reduces the allowance to recognize net
losses on foreclosures. The accrual of interest on conventlonal mortgages is discontinued when the
mortgages become 90 days delinquent.

The Corporation establishes an allowance for losses on U.S. Government insured or guaran-
teed loans when specific loans are determined to be in default. At that time, an allowance is
recorded to provide for estimated unreimbursable foreclosure losses.

A liability for estimated losses is maintained for MBS for which the Corporation has assumed
the primary foreclosure loss risk related to the underlying mortgages. Charges to income are
recorded ratably over several years beginning at the time MBS are issued. Additional provisions
for losses are recorded, when needed, to maintain the liability at an appropriate level. When
mortgages are sold from portfolio into MBS the related allowance is transferred.

Real estate acquired as a result of foreclosure is carried at the lower of the investment in the
property or its estimated net realizable value.

Risk Management

From time to time, the Corporation takes positions in financial markets to hedge against
fluetuations in interest rates that may affect the cost of certain planned borrowings or the yield
on certain mortgage purchases. Results of hedging activities are deferred and amortized against
interest expense or interest income over the lives of the related borrowings or assets. During
1986, the Corporation hedged the sales price of eertain MBS. The gain or loss resulting from the
sales was adjusted to reflect the hedge results
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency denominated borrowings and the related receivables from currency swaps
are translated at the market rates of exchange as of the end of the period. Prior to 1986, the
foreign currency receivable was netted against the related foreign currency obligation. The
change, which was made retroactively to conform with prevalent practice for balance sheet
presentation of currency swaps associated with foreign currency denominated debt, has no effect

on results of operations.

Commitment Fees

Commitment fees are generally recognized as income upon the execution of the commitment
contract. Commitment fees considered to be an adjustment of yield on the related mortgages
purchased are deferred and recognized as Income using an amortization method that approxi-
mates a level yield over the estimated life of the related mortgages.

Income Taxes

Certain income and expense items are recognized in different perieds for financial reporting
and 1ncome tax purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided for such timing differences.
Investment tax credits are recognized as reductions of income tax expense in the year the related
assets are purchased (flow-through method), except for the investment tax credit on an asset
leased in 1986 to another party under a leveraged equipment lease. The investment tax credit on
this asset was deferred and will be amortized over the term of the lease.

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share are computed using the weighted average number of shares ocutstanding,
including dilutive common stock equivalents. Fully diluted earnings per share are computed on
the assumption that all outstanding subordinated convertible capital debentures were converted
at the beginning of the year, after increasing earnings for the related interest expense, net of

federal income taxes.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO, NET

The mortgage portfolio balances consist of the following investments at December 31;

1986 1985

) (Dollars in milliens )
Single-family mortgages:
First mortgages

Government insured or guaranteed $15,968 $27,414
Conventional fixed-rate 58,176 45,065
Conventional adjustable-rate 14,343 16,955
Second mortgages 2,169 2,899
90,656 92,333

Multifamily mortgages:
Government insured 4,852 4,951
Conventional fixed-rate 2,301 1,319
Conventional adjustable-rate 24 46
7,177 6,316
Total unpaid principal balance 97,833 98,649

Less:

Unamortized discount 2,925 3,399
Allowance for losses 174 112
- $94,734 $95,138

The total unpaid principal balance of loans in nonpérforming status (those 90 days or more
delinquent) was $1.5 billion at December 31, 1986 and $1.2 billion at December 31, 1985

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Portfolio

The Corporation had mandatory delivery commitments outstanding to purchase $1.6 billion
of mortgages at an average net yield of 8.95 percent at December 31, 1986, compared with $1.6
bithon at 10.62 percent at December 31, 1985.

The Corporation also issues standby commitments, which must be converted to mandatory
delivery commitments in order for the seller to deliver mortgages. The yield is set on the date of
conversion or at the date of commitment The Corporation had $1.8 billion of such commitments
outstanding at December 31, 1986 and 1985.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

As issuer and guarantor of mortgage-backed securities the Corporation is obligated to
disburse scheduled monthly installments of principal and interest (at the certificate rate),
whether or not such amounts have been received, unscheduled principal payments when received
and the full principal balance upon liquidation of any foreclosed mortgage, whether or not such
principal balance is recovered. Either the Corporation or the participating lender from whom the
mortgages were acquired can assume the primary foreclosure loss risk on the mortgages in a pool.
The Corporation, however, assumes the ultimate foreclosure loss risk on all MBS.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

The total outstanding principal balance of MBS guaranteed by the Corporation was $97.2
billion at December 31, 1986, compared with $55.0 billion at December 81, 1985. These amounts
include $48.6 billion at December 31, 1986 and $16.7 billion at December 31, 1985 of securities (of
which $10.6 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, are backed by government-insured or guaran-
teed mortgages) for which the Corporation had assumed the primary foreclosure loss risk.

At December 31, 1986, the Corporation had commitments outstanding to issue and guarantee
$6.9 billion of MBS, upon delivery of the related mortgages by participating lenders at their
option, compared with $3.9 billion at December 31, 1985. At December 31, 1986, the Corporation
also had outstanding $11.1 billion of mandatory delivery commitments to issue and guarantee
MBS, compared with $6.1 billion at December 31, 1985. The mandatory delivery commitments
include $1.3 billion at December 31, 1986 and $2.0 billion at December 31, 1985 related to the credit
enhancement of housing finance bond issues. :

In addition, at December 31, 1986, the Corporation had commitments to sell from portfolio
mortgages with an unpaid principal balance of $1.1 billion. The outstanding commitments
include $500 million of FHA and VA mortgages that are being sold in the form of a stripped
mortgage-backed security under the real estate mortgage investment conduit tax election
permitted by the Tax Reform Act of 1986. The guaranty of timely payment of principal and
interest to investors under these securities is substantially the same as for other types of MBS.
Settlement of these transactions is expected in January 1987.

ALLOWANCE FOR FORECLOSURE LOSSES

. The total allowance for foreclosure losses consists of an allowance for portfolio loan losses, an
allowance for non-reimbursable foreclosure costs on claims filed with insurers, and a liability for
estimated foreclosure losses on MBS for which the Corporation has assumed primary risk of
default. Changes in the allowance for the years 1984-1986 are summarized below: -

Mortgage Portfolio
Government
Insured or
Guaranteed Conventional MBS Total
(Dollars in millions)

Balance, January 1,1984. ... $ 14 $ 112 $ 16 $ 142
Provision .....ccoooveveeeiineriiriiies s 13 68 5 86
Net foreclosure losses charged-off ............... - (9) (87) (2) (98)
TraNSEELS . ivoveeeiereveeeeereere et —_ (1) 1 —

Balance, December 31, 1984 18 92 20 130
ProOVISION ...oovvivieieeeecciee i 16 161 29 206
Net foreclosure losses charged-off........ - (8) (143) (19) (170)
TrANSTEYS 1ovoviveereveeeieeererceneieeia e —_ (3) 3 —_

Balance, December 81, 1985 ... 26 107 33 166
ProOVISION ..oovovioveneecieecii e 11 249 46 306
Net foreclosure losses charged-off ............. (14) (178) 9) (201)
TranSFErS ..oooveeierie e e — (9 9 —

Balance, December 81, 1986............cocoinnincins - $ 23 169 $ 79 $ 271

e

Il
|
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

The total allowance for foreclosure losses at December 31 is included in the following balance
sheet accounts:

198 1985

(Dollars in millions)

Mortgage portfolio, net $174 $112
Foreclosure claims, net 18 21
Other liabilities _'7_9 __23_’
$271 $166

BoNDS, NOTES, AND DEBENTURES, NET

The average cost of all debt outstanding at December 31, 1986 and 1985 (including the
amortization of issuance costs and hedging results, and the effect of interest rate swaps) was
10.01 percent and 10.79 percent, respectively. The average effective maturity of all debt
outstanding (including the effect of interest rate swaps but excluding certain investment
agreements for which the average maturity is indeterminate) was 46 months at December 31,
1986 and 40 months at December 31, 1985.

Pursuant to the Corporation's Charter Act and related regulations, no debt instrument may
be issued without the approval of the Secretary of the Treasury. Under current regulatory
authority, the maximum amount of the Corporation’s general obligations outstanding that are
not subordinated or secured at any time generally may not exceed 30 times the sum of
stockholders’ equity, subordinated capital debentures, and reserves. At December 31, 1986, the
Corporation could have issued approximately $18.6 billion of additional obligations under this
provision of the Charter Act. )

In addition to debt restrictions under the Chartetr Act, the Corporation is subject to a
restriction set forth in certain subordinated capital debenture agreements, which limits the
amount of subordinated capital debentures outstanding to not more than two times the sum of
the Corporation’s common stock, additional paid-in capital, and retained earnings. At December
31, 1986, the Corporation could have issued an additional $1.4 billion 1n subordinated capital
debentures without viclating this restriction.

The Charter Act authorizes the Secretary of the Treasury to purchase obligations of the
Corporation, as a public debt transaction, up toa maximum of $2.25 billion outstanding at any one
time The interest rate on such obligations would be based upon the average rate on marketable
obligations of the United States outstanding as of the last day of the month preceding the date of
making such purchases. The Corporation has never utilized the Treasury borrowing authority.
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

Borrowings Due Within ‘One Year

Borrowings due within one year consist of the following at December 31:

1986 1985

(Dollars in millions)
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase—mortgage-backed securities
with a recorded value of $273 million and a

market value of $276 million ... $ 271 $ —

Short-term notes—net of $153 million dis-
count in 1986 ($209 million in 1985) .............. 6,697 8,946
MASter TOLES .......cenecveeriiiiieieecse s 1,654 1,783
Investment agreements ... 3,955 4,863
Mortgage-backed bonds ... 12 6
Residential financing securities ... 1,241 1,625
DEDENLUTES .....c.ovveveeirreieierssinns i 17,464 14,346
Capital debentures............cocoominine: — 300
Total due within one year...................... $31,294 $31,939

Short-term notes are general obligations of the Corporation with maturities that range up to
360 days. Master notes have varying maturities and carry a floating interest rate that is adjusted
weekly and is tied to 91-day U.S. Treasury bill rates. Investors have the option to increase or
decrease the principal amount outstanding on master notes on a daily basis, usually within a
range of 80 to 120 percent of the original principal balance.

The Corporation had short-term and master notes outstanding (face amount) of $8.5 billion
at December 31, 1986 and $10.9 billion at December 31, 1985. The largest aggregate amount of
short-term and master notes outstanding at any month-end was $9.6 billion in 1986 and $14.2
billion in 1985. The average cost to the Corporation of notes outstanding at December 31, 1986
and 1985 was 6.04 percent and 8.21 percent, respectively. The average remaining terms were
approximately 165 days and 121 days at December 31, 1986 and 1985, respectively. The average
term and cost of short-term notes includes the effect of short-term interest rate swaps. The
average aggregate amount of notes outstanding during 1986 was $8.8 billion at an average cost of
7.10 percent; during 1985, $12.1 billion at an average cost of 9.30 percent.

Investment agreements are individually negotiated agreements that provide for the in-
vestment of a variable principal amount at a fixed or floating rate of interest. The agreements
remain in effect for various periods of time. The average total outstanding during 1986 was $5.3
billion at an average cost of 8.23 percent, compared with an average total outstanding of $2.5
billion during 1985 at an average cost of 8.98 percent. The average cost to the Corporation of
investment agreements outstanding was 7.65 percent at December 31, 1986 and 8.49 percent at
December 31, 1985. ,

The Corporation has long-term interest rate swap agreements with various parties to extend
the effective maturity of its debt obligations. Under these agreements, the Corporation makes
periodic payments based on fixed rates applied to a notional principal amount and in exchange
receives periodic payments based on short-term variable rates. During 1986, long-term swap
agreements on an aggregate notional amount of $664 million were terminated. The fees paid for
termination were deferred and are being amortized over the remaining original term of the swap
agreement. At December 81, 1986, the Corporation had long-term interest rate swap agreements
outstanding with an average remaining term of 6 years on notional amounts totaling $3.2 billion,
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

compared with an average remaining term of 6 years, 9 months on notional amounts totaling $3.4
billion for swap agreements outstanding at December 31, 1985. The weighted average interest
rate being received under these swaps was 5.96% and the weighted average interest rate being
paid was 11.17% at December 31, 1986, as compared with 7.61% and 11.66%, respectively, at
December 31, 1985. The effect of these agreements is not reflected in the maturity or cost of the

debt obligations reported in the summaries of borrowings.

Borrowings Due After One Year

Borrowings due after one year consist of the following at December 31:

1986
(Dollars i millions) Amount Amount
Average Out- Average Out-
Maturity Cost standing t standing
Mortgage-backed bonds,
1987-2015 9.51% $ 80 8.95% $ 292
Investment agreements,
1988-1990 931 794 9.18 939
Debentures, net of $120 million of discount in
1986, $57 million in 1985:
1987 — — 11.53 17,464
1988 11.04 13,933 11.04 13,933
1989 10.45 10,300 11.31 8,000
1990 9.75 8,550 10.57 6,050
1991 2.47 5,464 10.75 1,364
1992-19986 9.60 - 19,297 10.86 10,594
1997-2001 714 . 154 7.14 154
2002-2016 1055 ' 1,150 11.77 750
10.02 58,848 11.13 58,309
Exchangeable debentures, 1991 12,66 450 12.66 450
Zero coupon debentures, net of $5,723 million
of disecount in 1986 ($5,752 million in 1985),
2014 }}_ﬁ? 277 11.50 248
Zero coupon subordinated capital debentures,
net of $6,492 million of discount 1n 1986
{$6,517 million in 1985), 2019 10.22 258 10.22 233
Subordinated capital debentures, net of $17
million of discount in 1986 ($18 million in
1985)
1989 12.99 635 12.99 635
1990 9.15 400 9.15 400
1997 7.44 250 7.44 250
2002 9.21 264 9.21 263
10.46 1,549 10.46 1,548
Subordinated convertible eapital debentures,
1996 4.43 13 4.43 27
Total 10.05% $62 269 11.08% $62,046
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FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

The average cost includes the amortization of discounts, issuance costs, and hedging results.
Annual maturities of all debt for the years 1988-1992 are $14.1, $11.2, $9.3, $5.9, and $4.0 billion,
respectively.

The mortgage-backed bonds were issued pursuant to authority contained in the Charter Act
to issue bonds secured by mortgages from the Corporation’s portfolio. On October 1, 1986, $200
million of 8.625% mortgage backed bonds due 1990 were called. At December 31, 1986 and 1985,
respectively, $83 million and $359 million of the mortgage-backed bonds outstanding were
guaranteed as to principal and interest by the Government National Mortgage Association
(GNMA). Assets of approximately $439 million at December 31, 1986 and $542 million at
December 31, 1985 were restricted for the payment of principal and interest on mortgage-backed
bonds.

The Corporation has issued debt securities in which principal, interest, or both are denomi-
nated in a foreign currency. Concurrently, the Corporation entered into currency swaps which
converted the proceeds of the borrowings into dollars and that provide for schedules of future
exchanges of the two currencies. At December 31, 1986 and 1985, the U.S. dollar equivalent face
amount of these foreign currency denominated borrowings, translated at then current exchange
rates was $1.0 and $0.6 billion, respectively. The weighted-average cost of total borrowings due
after one year, adjusted for currency swap activities, was 10.09% at December 31, 1986 and 11.10%
at December 381, 1985.

Included in debentures at December 31, 1986 are debt issues, with an aggregate principal
amount of $871 million, which provide for either contingent principal repayment at maturity or
contingent interest payments during the term of the notes based on specified indices. The
Corporation has entered into swap arrangements which offset its exposure to interest rate or
foreign currency exchange risk associated with the contingent payment provisions.

The following debentures are redeemable at par, in whole or in part, at the option of the
Corporation: $154 million due in 1997; $250 million due in 2018 (beginning in 1993); and $250
million due in 2014 (beginning in 1994).

In February 1986, the Corporation issued 500,000 units aggregating $500 million principal
amount of debentures due 1996 and detachable warrants to purchase 11.5 million common shares.
Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at $44.25, from February
1986 to February 1991. A portion of the proceeds from the issuance ($67.6 million) was allocated
to the warrants and recorded in additional paid-in capital.

The subordinated capital debentures, due in 1997 and 2002, are redeemable at par, in whole or
in part, at the option of the Corporation, on any interest payment date commencing October 1,
1982 and July 10, 1988, respectively.

The Corporation may call for the conversion of the exchangeable debentures at any time on or
prior to March 15, 1991, in which case the debenture holders have two options. They may accept
the conversion and receive 10 shares of adjustable-rate preferred stock, series A for each $1,000
principal amount of exchangeable debentures. Alternatively, they may reject the call for
conversion by extending the maturity date of those debentures to March 15, 1994. The
Corporation may call for the conversion only once and only on the entire issue.

The subordinated convertible capital debentures are convertible into 0.7 million shares of
common stock at a price of $19.63 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. These
debentures are redeemable at par, at the option of the Corporation. .
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Transactions in common stock, additional paid-in capital, retained earnings, and treasury
stock for the years 1984, 1985, and 1986 are summarized as follows: '

Additional : ' Total

Common Paid-in Retained  Treasury Stockholders’
Stock Capital Earnings ~ Stock ~ Equity
(Dollars in thousands)

Balance, January 1, 1984 ... $412,742  $310,918 $554,151 '$(1,895) $1,275,911
Conversions of convertible debentures................ 43 93 —_ - 136
NELIOBE ..ot ereboreseasenesnansenes - — (57,374) —_ (57,874)

DIVIAENAS .....eovveeereeererrere et — —_ (10,584) —_ (10,584)

Balance, December 81,1984 ... 412,785 311,006 486,248 = (1,895) 1,208,189
New shares issued, May 8,1985................... 43,750 63,465 - C - 107,215
Conversions of convertible debentures... 208 450 - - 658
Treasury stock issued for stock options and

benefit Plans ... - 102 - 264 . 366
Accrual for stock appreciation rights ................ — 145 — - 145
Net iNCOME........oovviinrieiriei s - v - 86,889 - 36,889
Dividends......... eeriereneviereagense e e ete st ene et ean et —-— - (11,096) -— ~ (11,096)

Balance, December 81, 1985 ............ccccocnnriciuinrninenne 456,743 875,168 512,036 (1,631) 1,342,816
Issuance of detachable common stock purchase o

WAPTANLS....c.cvoviircineneitinear st bss e sensees - 67,565 — - 67,565
Conversions of convertible debentures................ 4,283 9,187 - —_ 18,470
Treasury stock issued for stock options and

benefit Plans ..........cccvvvinceiinieircrce e _ (746) - 1,610 864
Accrual for stock appreciation rights . 471 - —_ 471
Net INCOME.....ooovvvevevveveeereeenre e ssssseensnsssess - - - 183,058 ° - 188,058
DiVIGENAS ...t — - (14,663) -_ (14,663)

Balance, December 81,1986 ............c.cc.ccoovrvmrniinninnnnn. $461,026 = $451,651 $680,481 $ (21) $1,593,087

Pursuant to the Corporation’s Charter Act and related regulations, approval of the Secretary
of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) is required prior to the issuance of any stock of the
Corporation or a change in the stockholding requirements for lenders. The Corporation is
authorized by the Charter Act to have preferred stock on such terms and conditions as the Board
of Directors of the Corporation may prescribe. - To date, the Board of Directors has authorized, and
the Secretary of HUD has approved, a maximum-of 4,500,000 shares of adjustable-rate preferred
stock, series A, $100 stated value. These shares may be issued only in exchange for the 12.50
percent exchangeable debentures due 1991. No shares have been issued.

In 1982, the Corporation adopted a performance share plan, under which awards were made
to officers for three separate four-year periods starting in 1982, 1983, and 1984. Performance
shares will be issued, generally half in cash and half in stock, provided certain financial goals are
attained. No more than 200,000 shares of common stock can be distributed under the plan. As of
December 81, 1986, 44,700 performance shares were outstanding for the 1983-86 period and
112,000 for the 1984-87 period. None of the 181,000 shares awarded for the 1982-85 period were

issued. . :
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In 1984, the Corporation adopted a stock option plan for key employees. Under the plan, the
Corporation may grant options to purchase up to one million shares of common stock. The number
of shares that can be granted under the plan may be increased by up to 200,000 shares, but enly to
the extent that shares are not issued under the previously described performance share plan. The
options do not become exercisable until at least one year after the date granted and generally
expire ten years from the date of grant. The purchase price of the common stock covered by each
option is equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date that the options are granted.

A summary of stock option activity follows

Number Cption
of Shares Price
Balance, Januvary 1, 1984 —_ —
Granted 1n 1984 323,100 $16.12-%23.75
Less: Terminated in 1984 {18,500) $16.12
Balance, December 31, 1984 304,600 $16.12-$23.75
Granted 1n 1985 94,800 $14.81-$23.94
Less: Exercised 1n 1985 (400) $16.12
Terminated in 1985 (69,400) $16.12-%23.75
Balance, December 31, 1985 329,600 $14.81-$23.94
Granted in 1986 344,300 $30.25-$36.06
Less: Exercised in 1986 (67,305) $16.13-$23.94
Terminated in 1986 (15,610) $16.13-§23.94
Balance, December 31, 1986 590,985 $14.81-336.06

At December 31, 1986, stock options on 143,917 shares were exercisable. Stock options on
100,683 shares were exercisable at December 31, 1985.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 1984 stock option plan for key employees, the Board of
Directors granted stock appreciation rights (SARs) to certain officers of the Corporation.
Officers can exercise the SAR in place of the remaining related stock options, either in whole or in
part. Upon exercise, they receive an amount, half in cash and half in common stock, equivalent to
the difference between the market price of the Corporation’s stock on the date of exercise and the
option price granted. The exercise of the SAR cancels the related stock option and the exercise of
the stock option cancels the SAR. Additional SARs on 22,101 shares were granted in 1986 to non-
officers, but are subject to stockholder approval. All outstanding SARs are exercisable upon
attainment of certain vesting requirements and expire either when the related option expires or

is exercised.

A summary of SARs activity follows:

Balance, January 1, 1985 —

Granted in 1985 42,049
Ralance, December 31, 1985 42,049
Granted in 1986 398,920
Less: Exercised in 1986 (38,784)
Balance, December 31, 1986 402,185
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During 1986, the Corporation adopted a Restricted Stock Plan whereby shares of common
stock have been awarded to certain officers and members of the Board of Directors. The shares
have been 1ssued to an escrow agent until vesting requirements have been met and the plan has
been approved by stockholders In 1986, 132,312 shares of stock were awarded and issued under
the plan. Compensation expense is being recorded over the vesting period of the stock as services

are performed

The Board of Directors established the 1986 annual offering under the 1985 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. The 1986 offering is similar to the 1985 offering. The Plan permits the
Corporation to issue up to 500,000 shares of commeon stock to qualified employees at a price equal to
85 percent of the fair market value of the stock on the first day of the period in which employees
can elect to purchase the stock. The Corporation granted each employee the right to purchase up
to 200 shares of stock during the purchase period. Fannie Mae employees purchased 93,580 shares
under the Plan’s 1986 offering. Under the 1985 offering, employees purchased 28,620 shares. The
Board of Directors has granted a similar offering in 1987 to Fannie Mae employees.

CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The composition of cash and investment securities at December 31 is summarized below.
Investments are recorded at cost, which approximates market,

1986 1985
(Dollars in millions)
Cash and certificates of deposit § 87 $ 463
U.S Treasury and federal agency securities 30 47
Federal funds . 1,530 1,391
Obligations of states and political subdivisions _ 201 —_
Other ' 14 28
Total $1,862 $1,929

IncOME TAXES
Deferred federal income tax expense relating to timing differences consists of the following:

1986 ge e
¢ Dollars 1n millions)
Amortization of purchase discount $(116) $(4) $32
Losses on dispositions of mortgages (93) 5 (3)
Provision for losses 7 16 —
Risk management activities 48 39 27
Tax benefit of loss carryforward 62 — —
Accrued interest expense deductible when
paid 18 (7) —
Tax benefits from leveraged lease activities 9 — —_
Systems development costs (1) 2 6
Qther 1items, net (9) ﬁ) _(§)
Total deferred federal income
tax expense $ (75) $45 $59
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The Internal Revenue Service has completed its examinations of the Corporation’s federal
income tax returns through the year 1982 and is now conducting an audit of tax years 1983
through 1985. Based on their examination of tax years 1979 through 1982, the Internal Revenue
Service has issued a formal deficiency notice. The Corporation has filed suit in the United States
Tax Court as a result of the deficiency notice. All of the issues in dispute relate to losses on sales or
exchanges of mortgages or amounts added to the allowance for loan losses. The Corporation has
paid all amounts assessed and the associated accrued interest on these deficiencies. It is
management’s opinion that any unfavorable determinations by the Tax Court would have no
material adverse impact on the results of operations.

The Corporétion is exempt from state and local taxes, with the exception of real estate taxes.

RETIREMENT PLANS

All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are covered by the non-contributory
Federal National Mortgage Association Retirement Plan or by the contributory Civil Service
Retirement Law. Benefits payable under the Federal National Mortgage Association Retirement -
Plan are based on years of service and the employee’s compensation using the average of the
highest three consecutive years of employment. The Corporation’s funding poliey is to fund the
pension expense accrued each year, up to the contribution which would be tax deductible for the
year. Contributions by the Corporation are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to
service to date, but also for those expected to be earned in the future.

The Corporation adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS No. 87) effective January 1, 1986. As a result,
pension expense was reduced by approximately $1.6 million which effectively eliminated the
expense for the year ended December 31, 1986, compared with pension expense of $1.1 million in
1985 and $0.7 million in 1984. Pension expense under the Civil Service Retirement Law was $0.2

million in 1986, 1985, and 1984.

For 1985 and 1984, pension cost was determined by the “entry age” actuarial method which
produces annual pension costs that are a level percentage of each participant’s expected pay over
the expected service life of the participants. In contrast, 1986 pension expense was determined
using the “projected unit credit” method which is required by SFAS No. 87. This method
recognizes pension costs as benefits accrue to the participant and results in a pension cost that isa
lower percentage of pay in the early years of a participant’s service and a higher percentage in
later years.
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The following table sets forth the Federal National Mortgage Association Retirement Plan’s
funded status and amounts recognized in the Corporation’s financial statements at December 31,

1986:
1986

(Dollars in
milhions)

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations:
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested benefits of $15.0 million in 1986  $(17.5)

Projected benefit obligation for service rendered to date ) $(334)
Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks, fixed income securities, cash and

other liquid assets 54.8
Excess of plan assets over the projected benefit obligation 21.4
Unrecognized net gain from past experience different from that assumed and

effects of changes in assumptions (2.3)
Unrecognized net asset at January 1, 1986 being recognized over 18.25 years (20.7)
Pension liability included 1n other liabilities $ (1.6)

Net pension cost for 1986 included the following components:

Service cost-benefits earned during the period $§ 39
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 21
Actual return on plan assets (7.2)
Net amortization and deferral 1.2
Net periodic pension cost $ 0

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used
in determining the actuarial present value of the proje¢ted benefit obligation were 7.5 percent
and 7 percent, respectively. The expected long-term rate of return on assets was 10 percent.

Effective October 1, 1986, Fannie Mae amended the Thrift and Savings Plan to include a
401(k) option All regular, full-time employees of the Corporation are eligible to participate in
this plan. Under the amended plan, employees may contribute up to 12% of their salary (not to
exceed $7 thousand annually in the aggregate beginning in 1987), with the Corporation
matching such contributions dollar for dollar up to 3 percent. For 1986, the Corporation
contributed $2 4 million to this plan.

The Corporation also has an Executive Pension Plan, which supplements for key senior
officers the benefits payable under the Federal National Mortgage Association Retirement Plan,
Participants are granted pension goals generally ranging from 30 to 60 percent of the average
highest three consecutive years of total compensation as defined in the Plan, reduced by any
benefits payable under the Federal National Mortgage Association Retirement Plan. Estimated
benefits under the Plan are recorded as expenses over the period of employment.

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Corporation provides certain health care and
life insurance beneits for retired employees. All employees who retire from the Corporation are
eligible for these benefits. The cost of retiree health care and fife insurance benefits is recognized
as an expense as premiums are paid These costs totaled $0.6 million in 1986 and $0.5 million in

1985.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 20, 1987, the Board of Directors authorized the Corporation to proceed with the
public offerings of up to 10 million shares of common stock. The offerings are subject to the
execution of underwriting and subscription agreements. The net proceeds anticipated from these
offerings will be added to the working capital of the Corporation and used for general corporate
purposes.

UNAUDITED INTERIM PERIOD RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following u_naudited results of operations include, in the opinion of management, all

adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation of the
results of operations for such periods. SRRy :

1986 Quarter Ended - - -

December September June .

March

. (Dollars in millions, except per share amourits)

I tEreBt IACOME i $2450 $2,472 $2,581  $2,674
Interest eXPense .........cococveruniienens reeeeerresenrneaes 2,362 2,414 2,456 2,491 _
Net interest iNCOMe ..........coowermmmmsssrssssmenseee 88 58 B B
Commitment £Ees ... 51 102 81 45
Guaranty £8e8 ... 53 46 40 36
Other income (D) ..o 29 14 T 9
Provision for losses ....... evreererecarnessaeiase e essrsesnnats (75) (84) (76) (1)
Administrative eXpenses ... (52) (44) - (41) (88)
Income before federal income taxes ............. 94 92 86 . 64
Provision for 'fe_deral income taxes ....c...cociveeess - (48) (42) “(89) - (29)
Net iNCOME. .vvveererrecrssemsrmersiesrssssss S $ 51. $ 50 § 47 $ 35
Per share: = : e . o St

- Earnings (fully diluted) (a) ..o ‘$ 69 § .68 “$ .63 $ 47

' 04 04 .04

Cash dividends ............ e et : .08
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1985 Quarter Ended
December September June March
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
Interest income $2,586 $2,545 $2,476 $2,390
Interest expense 2,519 2,495 2,475 2,437
Net interest income (loss) 67 50 1 (47)
Commitment fees 50 52 52 42
Guaranty fees 32 29 26 25
Other income 9 11 10 T
Provision for losses (80) (61) (36) (29)
Administrative expenses (40} (39) (33) (30)
Income (loss) before federal income taxes 38 42 20 (32)
Provision for federal income taxes {17) (20) {(9) 15
Net income (loss) $ 21 $ 22 § 11 & (1)
Per share:
Earnings (loss) (fully diluted)(a) 2 .28 $ .31 $ .16 $ (.26)
Cash dividends 04 .04 .04 04

(a) The total of the four quarters does not equal the amount for the year, because the amount for
each period 1s calculated independently based on the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during that period.

b} Includes 2 $25 million fee received in December 1986 when certain multifamily loans prepaid.
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